

West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership

A Scoping study on Maternal Mental Health Services: Loss, Tokophobia, Birth trauma and Assisted Reproductive Technology

> Alan White PhD RN Emeritus Professor, Leeds Beckett University

Acknowledgements

With many thanks to the members on the West Yorkshire & Harrogate Health & Care Partnership Perinatal Mental Health Steering Group for their helpful comments on the drafts of this report.

With specific thanks to:

Jo Butterworth – Programme Manager Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism Janine Grayson – Perinatal Mental Health Strategic Transformation Lead Sarah Bennett – Senior Midwife WY&H LMS

Duncan Cooper – Programme Analyst, WY&H H&CP

To reference this report: White, A (2020) A Scoping study on Maternal Mental Health Services: Loss, Tokophobia, Birth trauma and Assisted Reproductive Technology. Wakefield, West Yorkshire & Harrogate Health & Care Partnership

Contents

Table of Contents

1.	Intro	oduction	5
	1.1	Economic case for action	7
	1.2	Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic	7
	1.3	Methodology	7
	1.4	Local demographic profile	8
2.	Sun	nmaries of the sections	11
	2.1	Loss - Bereavement	11
	2.2	Loss - Child removal	12
	2.3	Tokophobia / Fear of childbirth	13
	2.4	Birth trauma	14
	2.5	Assisted conception	15
3.	Los	s - Bereavement	17
	3.1	Introduction	17
	3.2	Prevalence	
	3.2.	MiscarriageTermination of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly, medical or social reaso	
		19	
	3.2.	3 Stillbirth and Neonatal death	
	3.3	Risk factors for perinatal loss	
	3.4	Mental health problems following perinatal loss	
	3.1	Assessment tools	26
	3.2	Interventions and approaches to care	
	3.2. 3.2.	1 Stillbirth memento photography2 Holding the baby	
		3 Cold cot	
		4 Counselling support	
		5 Support groups and social media	
	3.3	Women's experiences	
	3.4	Father / co-mother & family	
	3.5	Midwives experience	
	3.6	Summary	
4.		s - Child removal into care	
	4.1	Introduction	
	4.2	Prevalence	
	4.3	Mental health impact of child removal	38

4.4	Interventions	39
4.5	Mothers experiences	40
4.6	Fathers experiences	40
4.7	Midwives experiences	40
4.8	Summary	41
5. To	kophobia / Fear of Childbirth	43
5.1	Introduction	43
5.2	Prevalence	44
5.3	Risk factors for tokophobia	44
5.4	Mental health problems with tokophobia	45
5.5	Assessment tools	46
5.6	Interventions	48
5.6	3	
5.6 5.6		
5.6 5.6	• •	
5.6		
5.6	G	
5.6		
5.6	3	
5.6		
	S.10 Doula support	
	3 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	
5.7	Women's experiences	
5.8	Fathers / co-mothers and family	
5.9	Midwives experiences of tokophobia	
5.10	Summary	54
6. Bir	th trauma	56
6.1	Introduction	
	.1 Post-traumatic stress disorder	
6.2	Prevalence	58
6.3	Assessment tools	59
6.4	Interventions	
6.4	3	
6.4	I.2 Trauma Focused psychotherapy	63
6.5	On-line and mobile support	
6.1	Women's experiences	
6.2	Fathers / co-mothers and other birthing partners	66
6.3	Impact on midwives of a traumatic birth	66

6.4	Summary	. 66
7. Ass	sisted conception	. 68
7.1	Introduction	. 68
7.2	Prevalence	. 69
7.3	Mental health and Assisted Reproductive Conception	. 70
7.4	ART and transition to parenthood	. 72
7.1	Interventions and assessment	. 73
7.2	Mothers experiences	. 73
7.3	Fathers / co-mothers experiences	. 74
7.4	Midwives experiences	
7.5	Summary	. 74
8. Rei	ferences	
T.11.		
Tables		
	Female population, by age, West Yorkshire & Harrogate, 2018	
	Female population by age, 1st deprivation decile, 2018 Proportion of mothers giving birth in population characteristic groups by	8
	017	9
	Bookings across West Yorkshire & Harrogate, 2019	
	Live births at 37 weeks or more weeks gestation, 2018	9
	Estimated numbers of women with Mental health illness in the perinatal	40
	2017/2018Proposed referrals to perinatal mental health services, increment 2019/20	
	2, 2022/23, and 2023/24 (based on 2016 births)	•
	Conception number, conception rate, abortions, first trimester miscarriage	
West Yo	orkshire, 2018	. 18
	Estimated number of second trimester miscarriages, 2018	
Table 1	0 Estimated number of Stillbirths and Neonatal deaths across WY&H, 2017	
Table 1		
	city, England & Wales 2017	
Table 12	2 Stillbirths, by mother's smoking behaviour, 2017	. 22
	3 Mothers with children taken into care as a newborn	
Table 1	4: Estimates of Tokophobia based on estimated 6% and 14% prevalence	
	5 Estimated risk of developing PTSD as a result of birth trauma across	
WY&H.	C Diaba ayar 2 yang 2045 2047 Landa Fastility Olivia	. 59
rable 10	6 Births over 3 years 2015-2017, Leeds Fertility Clinic	. 69

1. Introduction

The Chief Medical Officer in her 2014 annual report "The Health of the 51%: Women" (1) highlighted the missed opportunities to support women who had severe

mental health problems as a consequence of their pregnancy and early parenthood. This was picked up in the 2016 Better Births report (2), which was based on a national review of maternity services, as they identified a key area that needed attention was perinatal mental health provision (see Box 1). How this was to be achieved was outlined in the 2019 NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) (3), where it was proposed by 2023/24:

- Extending community services from preconception to 24 months after birth.
- Expanding access to evidence-based psychological therapies within specialist perinatal mental health services so that they also include parent-infant, couple, co-parenting and family interventions.
- Ensuring partners of women accessing specialist perinatal mental health services and maternity outreach clinics receive evidence-based assessment of their mental health and are signposted to support as required.
- o Implementing 'maternity outreach clinics'.

Box 1

Better postnatal and perinatal mental health care, to address the historic underfunding and provision in these two vital areas, which can have a significant impact on the life chances and wellbeing of the woman, baby and family.

- There should be significant investment in perinatal mental health services in the community and in specialist care, as recommended by NHS England's independent Mental Health Taskforce.
- Postnatal care must be resourced appropriately. Women should have access to their midwife (and where appropriate obstetrician) as they require after having had their baby. Those requiring longer care should have appropriate provision and follow up in designated clinics.
- Maternity services should ensure smooth transition between midwife, obstetric and neonatal care, and ongoing care in the community from their GP and health visitor.

There is a conservative estimate that there are one in four women who experience mental health problems through their pregnancy (3). Within this number there are women who face particularly challenging and complex mental health difficulties as a result of their pregnancy or birth experience and yet may not be covered by current services. These include those women who have experienced perinatal loss (including miscarriage, termination of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly / or for medical or social reasons, stillbirth, neonatal death, and child removal at birth), severe fear of childbirth (tokophobia) birth trauma. The NHS LTP proposed that these women will be supported through a separate service to be known as Maternal Mental Health Services (formally called Maternity Outreach Clinics).

The purpose of this service is to:

- Integrate maternity, reproductive health and psychological therapy.
- Provide support (or additional support) for women not meeting the threshold for current specialist provision.
- Support women with moderate / complex mental health difficulties arising from, or related to, their maternity experience.

The service would also aim to inclusive of parent-infant, couple, co-parenting and family interventions where necessary. In addition it would recognise the negative

mental health experienced by 5-10% of fathers and that 'families' affected by mental health problems in the perinatal period will include lesbian / bisexual couples (4–7), gay men (8–12), and trans men (13–16)¹. This new service is not meant to replace existing perinatal mental health services (including bereavement services), but to work alongside them. It is also important to note that assessment and signposting to onward support for partners of those accessing services should be equitable with the offer made by specialist Perinatal Mental Health (PMH) teams to minimise variation of service provision.

With the advent of an Integrative Care Systems² approach it opens up the possibility of having a more coordinated means of supporting women and their partners through their maternity and early parenting experience. This could create a new model whereby provision extends to involve a wider range of support services and helps link midwifery services, mental health services and social services with the wider third sector to provide a more holistic and joined up provision.

1.1 Economic case for action

The cost of perinatal depression, anxiety and psychosis was estimated as a total long-term cost to society nearly £8.1 billion for each one-year cohort of births in the UK (17). They further estimated that perinatal mental illnesses carry a cost to the NHS around £1.2 billion for each annual cohort of births, which they compared to the extra £280 million a year to bring the whole pathway of perinatal mental health care up to the level and standards recommended in national guidance. Taken at a perbirth level they suggest that the estimated cost of extra provision is equivalent to about £400 per average birth but left unmanaged perinatal mental health problems can lead to a cost of £10,000 per birth for society as a whole, with costs of around £2,100 per birth being picked up by the public sector.

1.2 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

During the writing of this literature review the world has been experiencing the most significant pandemic of the last 100 years. Currently (mid August 2020), there have been globally nearly 20m confirmed cases and nearly 730,000 deaths (18) as a result of the SARS-CoV2 coronavirus. It is too early to know all the ramifications of the virus on pregnancy and childbirth, but its effect will extend beyond the risk of infection into the psycho-social impact of the lockdown and disease impacting on the mental and emotional health of the mother and family on all aspects of this report.

1.3 Methodology

This report offers a comprehensive review of the academic journals, national reports and other desk-based available sources. The report is separated out into the four main areas of concern: Loss, Tokophobia, Birth trauma and Assisted Reproductive

¹ Through the report I will use the term co-mother to represent the experiences of the partner to the birth mother within a lesbian relationship.

² https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/integrated-care-systems/

Technology³. The area of Loss has been separated out into two separate sections, one dealing with loss through bereavement and another focused onto loss as a result of child removal.

Local demographic data is provided to give context and an indication of prevalence, but more detailed analysis of the West Yorkshire footprint is provided elsewhere.

1.4 Local demographic profile

Across West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership (WY&H H&CP) there are currently 606,728 girls and women aged 13 to 44 years (Table 1), of which 133,720 live in the lowest decile of deprivation (Table 2). There is a large variation in the demographic profile of mothers across WY&H H&CP. With areas of high deprivation across the footprint, with Bradford, Kirklees and Leeds having the highest levels of population from ethnic minority backgrounds (Table 3).

Table 1 Female population, by age, West Yorkshire & Harrogate, 2018

	13-19 years	20-25 years	26-44 years
Bradford ⁴	26,490	20,133	72,952
Calderdale	8,051	6,367	25,048
Harrogate	5,943	3,536	16,529
Kirklees	18,066	15,731	53,282
Leeds	32,376	47,891	101,042
Wakefield	12,212	11,133	42,867
Total	103,138	104,791	311,720

Source of data: ONS Mid-2018 population estimates (19)

Table 2 Female population by age, 1st deprivation decile, 2018

	13-19 years	20-25 years	26-44 years
Bradford	10,240	7,751	26,891
Calderdale	1,435	1,245	4,135
Harrogate	29	14	124
Kirklees	2,799	2,505	7,712
Leeds	8,699	8,847	26,856
Wakefield	2,101	2,005	7,316
Total	25,303	22,367	73,034

Source of data: ONS Mid-2018 population estimates (19)

³ This report includes a section on those women who have conceived through assisted reproductive technology (ART), although not mentioned specifically within the national guidelines for this service it was included as part of the specifications for this study to explore if gaps existed in existing provision.

⁴ Bradford data includes Airedale, Wharfedale, Craven

Table 3 Proportion of mothers giving birth in population characteristic groups by CCG, 2017

	Asian or Asian British ¹	Black or Black British ¹	Mother's Age <20 years ¹	Mother's age	Top quintile of child poverty ¹	Multiple births ¹	Born at 24 to 31 weeks ¹
Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven	19.1	0.4	2.1	3.6	16.2	2.9	1.3
Bradford City	66.8	3.6	3.5	2.8	60.1	1.90	2.1
Bradford Districts	36.1	1.8	3.3	3.3	32.9	3.2	2
Calderdale	17.2	0.6	3.4	3.1	26	1.9	1.1
Greater Huddersfield	18.7	3.4	2.9	3.9	22.8	1.8	1.4
Harrogate and Rural District	1.1	0.6	1.6	4.9	0	3.1	0.7
Leeds	11.4	7.2	3.4	3.9	35.8	3.1	1.2
North Kirklees	35.6	0.7	4.2	2.7	18.1	2.7	1.6
Wakefield	5	1.5	4.4	2.7	18.1	2.5	1.1

¹Percentage of all births in each commissioning organisation which fall within this category Source of data: MBRRACE 2019

Across West Yorkshire and Harrogate 32,436 women were booked into maternity services in 2019 (Table 4).

Table 4 Bookings across West Yorkshire & Harrogate, 2019

	Jan-Mar	Apr-Jun	Jul-Sep	Oct-Dec	Total
Airedale	626	572	574	551	2,323
Bradford	1478	1455	1371	1427	5,731
Calderdale & Huddersfield	1509	1437	1391	1309	5,646
Harrogate	497	421	450	426	1,794
Leeds	2891	2505	2441	2523	10,360
Mid Yorks	1626	1510	1604	1842	6,582
WY&H	8627	7900	7831	8078	32,436

Source of data WY&H dashboard

In 2018, there were 28,020 live births at 37 weeks or more, of which 938 were of low birth weight (Table 5)

Table 5 Live births at 37 weeks or more weeks gestation, 2018

	Live births with known birthweight	Live births with low birthweight (less than 2500g)
Bradford	6,659	277
Calderdale	2,104	66
Kirklees	4,499	153
Harrogate	1,276	29
Leeds	8,946	324
Wakefield	3,598	89
Total	27,082	938

There are a substantial number of women requiring specialist support through their pregnancy as a result of existing or emerging mental health problems (Table 6).

Table 6 Estimated numbers of women with Mental health illness in the perinatal period, 2017/2018

	Bradford	Calderdale	Kirklees	Leeds	Wakefield	Total
Chronic Serious Mental Illness in perinatal period	12	4	8	15	6	44
Severe depressive illness in perinatal period	174	55	120	227	91	666
Adjustment disorders and distress in perinatal period (lower estimate)	870	275	599	1,134	453	3,331
Adjustment disorders and distress in perinatal period (upper estimate)	1,740	550	1,199	2,267	906	6,661
Mild-moderate depressive illness and anxiety in perinatal period (lower estimate)	580	183	400	756	302	2,220
Mild-moderate depressive illness and anxiety in perinatal period (upper estimate)	870	275	599	1,134	453	3,331
PTSD in perinatal period	174	55	120	227	91	666

Source of data PHE Public Health Profiles (20)

It was proposed in the Five Year Forward plan that there should be an incremental rise in those accessing perinatal mental health services (PNMH), for WY&H [based on the 2016 ONS Birth rates] this equates to 3,159 women by 2023/24 (Table 7).

Table 7 Proposed referrals to perinatal mental health services, increment 2019/20, 2021/22, 2022/23, and 2023/24 (based on 2016 births)

	Bradford	Calderdale	Kirklees	Harrogate	Leeds	Wakefield	Total
Births (2016)	7,930	2,470	5,408	1,475	10,250	4,061	31,594
2019/20 (Target 4.5% of births)	357	111	243	66	461	183	1,422
2021/22 (Target 7.10% of births)	563	175	384	105	728	288	2,243
2022/23 (Target 8.6%% of births)	682	212	465	127	882	349	2,717
2023/24 (Target 10% of births)	793	247	541	148	1,025	406	3,159

2. Summaries of the sections

2.1 Loss - Bereavement

- Pregnancy loss can be a consequence of miscarriage; termination for fetal anomaly, medical or social reasons; stillbirth; or neonatal death.
- 43% of women will have had one or more 1st trimester miscarriages. Across West Yorkshire⁵ it is estimated that there were 5,616 first trimester miscarriages and 221 second trimester miscarriages in 2018.
- One in three females in the UK under the age of 45 years will have had a termination of pregnancy, which equates to 173,216 females in the West Yorkshire and Harrogate area, with 8,063 terminations in 2018.
- There are an estimated 165 terminations of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly / or for medical reasons across WY&H, with an estimated prevalence of 27 mothers at risk of PTSD at 14 days and 12 mothers at risk at 12 months.
- Across West Yorkshire there were an estimated 119 stillbirths and 54 neonatal deaths in 2017.
- Risk increases with deprivation, with a 72% higher risk of stillbirth and a 57% higher risk of neonatal death in the most deprived areas compared to the least deprived.
- The risk of stillbirth is over twice as high in Black and Black British babies as compared to White babies with a 73% great risk of neonatal mortality in Asian and Asian British babies.
- Smoking is associated with a higher risk of stillbirths, with an estimate 22 stillbirths across West Yorkshire in women who smoke through their pregnancies.
- Risk of miscarriage and stillbirth increases with age, a previous history of loss, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and conception through assisted reproductive technology (ART).
- The risk of miscarriage and stillbirth is higher in lesbian and bisexual women, those women who have been in abusive relationships, consanguineous couples.
- Loss can also be associated with deficiencies in care surrounding the birth.
- The emotional impact on the woman and partner vary greatly depending on the circumstances of the loss, with the risk of complex grieving, PTSD and depression that can still be present at subsequent pregnancies.

-

⁵ Harrogate data not available at the time of writing

- Careful advanced planning is required by the maternity services to ensure all staff are trained to offer support and to help with decision making. In addition, there should be specialist support available.
- There should be an early referral on to the Bereavement midwife for those women who are post 16 weeks at the time of loss.
- Support upon discharge from hospital should include the opportunity to have a counselling session with a psychologist, with support for both the mother and the father/co-mother.
- Mindfulness intervention support should also be available.
- For those parents with more intense and protracted grief an assessment using the Perinatal Grief Intensity Scale (PGIS) should be considered, with referral on to a clinical psychologist for a more formal assessment and support.
- Continuity of care is important to ensure transition to the bereavement services does not leave the bereaved parents missing their named midwife.
- All women should have the option of a consultation with a senior obstetrician to discuss the possible causes of their loss and the implications for future pregnancies.
- There should be signposting to on-line support services, including SANDS.
- It is important to recognise that how women and men deal with the loss may differ, with each needing support to meet their needs if longer term negative effects (such as relationship breakdown) are to be avoided.
- For those women booked for a subsequent pregnancy early assessment of mental health status should be undertake and on-going support provided.

2.2 Loss - Child removal

- A child removal at birth is a very rare occurrence, based on a fear for the safety of the child and requires a court order.
- Based on Broadhurst et al estimate of 36 mothers per 10,000 births there would be 107 mothers facing a child removal, local data suggests this is more like 150.
- As with other forms of baby loss a mother who has a child removed at birth needs considerable support, both in its aftermath and in prevention of reoccurrence.
- The women who have their child removed are living very difficult, chaotic lives.

- Planning for a child removal should begin early and involve the mother as much as possible, with the removal seen as palliative.
- There are considerable emotional consequences following the child removal.
- What appears central to success for the women is early, consistent and empathic help coupled with concrete guidance on birth control to help break the cycle.
- The postnatal mental health team should be working closely with the woman in collaboration with social services, the Futures / Pause / Positive choices programmes, drug and substance abuse programmes, and other community support networks.
- A caseload approach would help the midwife form a stronger bond with vulnerable mothers.

2.3 Tokophobia / Fear of childbirth

- Many women have a fear of childbirth (FOC), which is different from tokophobia, which has been defined as a severe anxiety disorder characterized by an extreme, irrational fear of childbirth, which provokes a physiological response(21).
- Tokophobia is either primary when it occurs before or during the first pregnancy (primiparous women) or secondary in women who are pregnant again (multiparous women).
- Based the 2018 birth numbers and using O'Connell et al's prevalence estimate of 14%, 3,923 women are at risk of tokophobia across West Yorkshire and Harrogate.
- Tokophobia can be caused by previous negative experiences of childbirth, having heard of others experiences or through a deep feeling of loss of control and anxieties over the potential outcomes of the pregnancy.
- Women with a history of mental health difficulties and those women who have experienced sexual violence, previous loss and previous surgeries are also found to be at greater risk.
- Tokophobia can lead to perinatal depression, anxiety and an increased risk of developing PTSD, it can also lead to difficulties with mother-child bonding.
- Key support mechanisms for women include an early assessment of risk in the pregnancy initially through the Whooley questions (for depression) and the two-question GAD-2 questionnaire (for anxiety).

- In women deemed to be at risk the assessment guidance offered by the new Wakefield Tokophobia Pathway or the Pan-London tokophobia toolkit reflects best practice and includes general detection questions coupled with the risk the Fear of Birth Scale (FOBS) scale or the Wijma Delivery Expectancy/Experience Questionnaire [WDEQ] for primary tokophobia and the Impact of Events Scale-Revised [IES-R] for secondary tokophobia.
- Forming a strong and therapeutic bond with a known midwife is very important, with most papers preferring a continuity of carer / caseload management approach.
- Face to face interventions appear to be most beneficial.
- Formal counselling, whether by the midwife (as seen in some countries) or a psychologist have been found to be effective.
- Educational support to normalise the pregnancy and birth planning to address fears has also been found to be beneficial.
- For those without good partner support the use of a doula should be considered.
- Guidance on external support, such as internet support groups or local organisations should be given early in the pregnancy.
- For those women who report (or appear) distressed by having a birth contrary to their expectations they should be supported as per the guidance in the traumatic birth and other sections of the report to help prevent tokophobia in subsequent births.

2.4 Birth trauma

- Having a traumatic birth can increase the risk of postnatal depression, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and have implications for parent-infant relationships.
- It has been estimated that about 4% of women will develop PTSD, which amounts to 1,121 across West Yorkshire & Harrogate, rising to between 18 and 19% in high risk mothers (for example, having had a previous traumatic birth).
- Much of the PTSD women experience is iatrogenic, in-so-much that it has
 occurred as a result of negatively received medical interventions or poor
 communication, such that by changes in the way the woman and her partner
 are supported through the pregnancy and birth could prevent the onset of
 PTSD in many.

- Prevention should be a key goal over the pregnancy with pelvic floor exercises and a more proactive approach to protecting the pelvic floor during the birth.
- Women often prefer to see their own midwife when they are experiencing difficulties, so it is important that all the staff in the maternity services should have at least minimum training in supporting women with birth trauma with a referral system onto more specialist services – the continuity of carer approach would be of benefit here.
- Women who are pregnant again following a previous traumatic birth or had adverse childhood events / other trauma should be picked up at initial screening and assessed for existing PTSD and offered a care pathway to help manage emerging issues through their current pregnancy.
- Partners who are present at a traumatic birth (including, but not limited to, eclampsia, post-partum haemorrhage, maternal admission to ICU, NICU, stillbirth) should be offered support.
- Services should be advertised sensitively to ensure stigma and fear of consequences of usage are minimised. This should include information relating to the Birth Trauma Association.
- All women should be allowed to re-visit their experience of birth, with the opportunity to make an appointment with midwife or obstetrician.
- Formal psychological debriefing should not happen whilst an in-patient but if required be offered in the 4-6 weeks post birth and again at 6 months to allow for normal adjustment to occur.
- Women identified as having signs of PTSD (sub-clinical or clinical) should be referred through to specialist services for a clinical interview to assess the best way forward in terms of support and / or treatment.

2.5 Assisted conception

- The road to pregnancy may be stressful and very challenging for women and their partners seeking conception through assisted reproductive technology.
- Once pregnant, according to the literature, there are contradictory findings related to perinatal mental health problems, with the majority suggesting there is not a greater risk of perinatal mental health problems as compared to spontaneous conception.
- There may be other mothers and partners experiencing complex emotional and mental health challenges.
- There is the possibility that the woman and her partner need greater preparation for parenthood.

- Support for both partners is needed if there are relationship issues, to help keep the family unit together and able to function as a supportive unit.
- Links could be made with Assisted Reproductive Technology counselling service providers such that there is a more seamless move into pregnancy care.

3. Loss - Bereavement

3.1 Introduction

Across England and Wales there were an estimated 839,043 conceptions in 2018, with 656,925 births (22,23). The impact of losing a baby through miscarriage⁶, stillbirth, neonatal death, or through the need to have a termination for fetal anomaly / or for medical or social reasons can be both physically and emotionally traumatic and is a time of great need for the mother and her partner (24–26). The loss of a child can also have a wider effect on the women's family that is not always recognised (27,28). It is a special kind of loss, with any other death being accompanied by social grieving, support and the opportunity to say a final public goodbye through a funeral. The loss of one baby within a multiple birth can bring very complicated psychological difficulties for the women and her family due to both the loss of a child and a surviving sibling (29,30). For a perinatal death there is often feelings of blame, or of the death being inconsequential and that the women should 'move on' and it remain hidden (31). This form of sudden death also means little time to prepare and on leaving the hospital with no child can leave a lifetime of lost parenthood and grief. For some, however, a pregnancy carries a significant burden and a miscarriage (32) or the option of a termination brings great relief (33).

Often a miscarriage occurs early in the pregnancy with no problems in subsequent pregnancies, however for other women there can be repeated miscarriages, which can have a very negative effect on the emotional and mental health of the women and her partner. Even the threat of a miscarriage can result in an increased risk of antenatal depression (34), which can have an impact through into subsequent pregnancies (35). Stillbirth and neonatal deaths are an extremely traumatic event, and there has been a concerted effort to help support a healthy pregnancy from preconception (36) through to better perinatal maternal health and enhanced surveillance and support for women through their pregnancy to try and minimise the risk of loss (37). There have also been both national and international guidance on the management of stillbirth, including the American consensus on stillbirth care (38) and in the UK (39).

There is a significant financial cost of stillbirth in the UK (40), estimated to be £694m across the UK through the NHS care required to support the women through her experience and also the personal cost due to loss of earnings, funeral costs, and clinical negligence claims. There is also the loss to society of a child, who would have grown to be a productive adult. A stillbirth has been estimated to require more cost than a livebirth, due to the wide range of personal implications of losing a child and the care needs both following the loss and increased support for subsequent pregnancies (26).

3.2 Prevalence

_

⁶ Miscarriage is classed as a death before 24 weeks, after this time a death is classed as a stillbirth (delivered after 24 weeks, but showing no signs of life) or a neonatal death (NND) (born alive, but died before 28 completed days after birth) (52).

3.2.1 Miscarriage

Early pregnancy loss is a common occurrence, with an estimated 43% of women having had one or more first trimester spontaneous miscarriages (41). There were 35,987 conceptions reported across West Yorkshire in 2018⁷, with a reported abortion rate of 23.6% (22) (Table 8). Early pregnancy loss (prior to 12 weeks) has been estimated at 13.5% - 15% (41,42), taking the lower figure of 13.5% would give approximately 5,616 spontaneous miscarriages across West Yorkshire.

Table 8 Conception number, conception rate, abortions, first trimester miscarriages West Yorkshire, 2018

	Conceptions ¹	Conception rate per 1,000 women in age-group	Percentage of conceptions leading to abortion	First trimester miscarriages ²
West Yorkshire	35,987	78.4	23.6	5,616
Bradford	9,326	89.2	21.1	1,456
Calderdale	2,837	76.7	24.8	443
Kirklees	6,302	77.0	23.3	984
Leeds	12,575	72.6	26.1	1,963
Wakefield	4,947	79.1	22.0	772

Data from ONS Conceptions Workbook

Harrogate conception data is not separated out from North Yorkshire - data requested from ONS

The rate is higher in women over the age of 45 years, estimated at 56.9%, with the lowest risk in women aged 25-29 years (9.8%) (43). The rate also varies by previous pregnancy, with age adjusted odds ratios of 1.54 (95% confidence interval 1.48 to 1.60) after one miscarriage, 2.21 (2.03 to 2.41) after two, and 3.97 (3.29 to 4.78) after three consecutive miscarriages (43).

For second trimester miscarriages, numbers have been calculated using data from the estimates created by Tong et al. (44) and Cullen et al. (45). In 697 asymptomatic Australian women with a singleton birth presenting for their first antenatal visit between 6 and 11 weeks had a risk of miscarriage of 1.58%, with the risk decreasing over the length of pregnancy - 9.4% at 6 (completed) weeks of gestation, 4.2% at 7 weeks, 1.5% at 8 weeks, 0.5% at 9 weeks and 0.7% at 10 weeks (44). Cullen et al (45) in an Irish prevalence study of second trimester miscarriage estimated a risk of 0.8% of all deliveries. With the first booking for women in England & Wales at 10 weeks applying the 0.7% estimate to those women booked across WY&H LMS there would be 221 mid trimester miscarriages (Table 9).

Table 9 Estimated number of second trimester miscarriages, 2018

	Number of Bookings	Estimated number of miscarriages (0.7%)
Leeds	10,020	70

⁷ Data for Harrogate are included in 'North Yorkshire' and cannot be extracted.

¹Conception statistics are estimates derived by combining numbers of maternities and abortions.

²Calculated from conceptions and estimate of 13.5% miscarriages

Bradford	5,820	41
Airedale	2,258	16
MidYorks	6,040	42
CHFT	5748	40
Harrogate	1684	12
Total	31,600	221

3.2.2 Termination of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly, medical or social reasons

It has been estimated that one-in-three women in the UK will have had a termination of pregnancy by the age of 45 years (46). Across West Yorkshire & Harrogate there are 519,649 females aged between 13 and 44 years, which would equate to 173,216 that might have had a termination of pregnancy. For England and Wales there were 3,269 terminations of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly / or for medical reasons in 2018, which equates to 2% of all terminations of pregnancy (47). Across West Yorkshire & Harrogate (48) there were 8,228 legal terminations performed and applying the 2% equals 165 terminations of pregnancy that were due to fetal anomaly / or for medical reasons, with 8,063 for social reasons. In a recent literature review of studies exploring PTSD following termination due to fetal anomaly found prevalence varied from between 45% at 14 days post termination up to 67% at six weeks, falling to 50% at six months, with 20.5 to 41% still with pathological levels of PTSD at 12-16 months post termination (49). Using the lower prevalence estimate this would mean that 27 mothers at risk of PTSD at 14 days and 12 mothers at risk of PTSD at 12 months.

3.2.3 Stillbirth and Neonatal death

Stillbirth prevalence has been estimated at between less than 1% in developed countries through to 3% in less developed regions (50). Across England and Wales there were 2,520 stillbirths in 2018 (51), this equates to a rate of 4 stillbirths per 1,000 births (4%). Although this rate is falling it is still above international comparable countries. There is an ambition to get the rate below 2.6 per 1,000 births by 2025⁸. Across West Yorkshire there were 3.94 stillbirths per 1,000 births in 2017 (52). Based on the MBRRACE estimates there were 119 stillbirths (>24 weeks gestation) and 54 neonatal deaths in 2017 (Table 10). The male child has a greater risk of major congenital anomalies, miscarriage and stillbirth (53). In a 2014 review (54) of global data from over 30 million births the crude mean rate (stillbirths per 1,000 total births) was 6.23 for males and 5.74 for females, with a 10% higher risk of male stillbirth.

Table 10 Estimated number of Stillbirths and Neonatal deaths across WY&H, 2017

	Stillbirths			Neonatal deaths		
Total births§	Crude rate ¹	Stabilised rate (95% CI)	Number ²	Crude rate ¹	Stabilised rate (95% CI)	Number ²

 $^{^{8}\ \}text{https:} \underline{//www.gov.uk/government/news/new-maternity-strategy-to-reduce-the-number-of-stillbirths}$

Airedale Wharfedale			3.61			1.70	
and Craven	1,569	2.55	(2.69 to 4.94)	6	1.92	(1.15 to 2.60)	3
			4.13			2	
Bradford City	1,618	6.8	(3.08 to 5.60)	7	4.36	(1.29 to 3.18)	3
Bradford			3.98			1.91	
Districts	4,907	4.48	(3.13 to 5.09)	20	2.46	(1.32 to 2.85)	9
			3.75			1.96	
Calderdale	2,413	3.73	(2.83 to 4.98)	9	3.33	(1.32 to 2.99)	5
Harrogate and			3.58			1.65	
rural district	1,401	*	(2.68 to 4.85)	7	*	(1.10 to 2.47)	2
Greater			3.73			2	
Huddersfield	2,653	3.77	(2.88 to 4.97)	10	3.41	(1.40 to 3.10)	5
			3.69			1.53	
Leeds	10,052	3.58	(2.95 to 4.59)	36	1.3	(1.10 to 2.13)	15
			4.38			1.73	
North Kirklees	2,556	7.04	(3.28 to 6)	11	1.97	(1.21 to 2.59)	4
			3.44			1.70	
Wakefield	4,013	2.49	(2.62 to 4.47)	14	1.75	(1.18 to 2.48)	7
Total	31,182			119			54

Data from MBRRACE, 2019(52)

§Excluding terminations of pregnancy and births <24+0 weeks gestational age

3.3 Risk factors for perinatal loss

For those women who have had a previous stillbirth there is nearly a five-fold increased risk of a subsequent perinatal loss (55). If there was no explanation for the death Lamont et al. suggests there is a minimal risk in subsequent pregnancies, however the evidence for this is weak. Women who face a higher risk of recurrent fetal loss are those with diabetes or hypertension and those women who have had previous obstetric complications such as placenta abruption (55).

Neighbourhood deprivation is directly linked to perinatal loss (52,56), with the rate of stillbirth increasing from 2.81 per 1,000 births in the least deprived areas to 4.84 per 1,000 in the most deprived (72% higher risk) and neonatal death increasing from a rate of 1.32 in the least deprived areas to 2.07 in the most deprived (57% higher risk) in 2017 (52).

Ethnicity also raises the risk of stillbirth and neonatal death (Table 11). In 2017, there was a 108% increased risk of stillbirth for Black and Black British babies as compared to White babies, 73% greater risk of neonatal mortality for babies of Asian or Asian British Ethnicity as compared to White ethnicity, and a 67% higher risk of neonatal mortality for babies of Black or Black British ethnicity (52).

Table 11 Stillbirth and neonatal mortality rates (per 1,000 births) and ratio of deaths, by ethnicity, England & Wales 2017

	Stilll	oirth	Neonatal death		
	Rate per 1,000 births	Ratio	Rate per 1,000 births	Ratio	
White	3.59	Reference	1.66	Reference	
Mixed	4.56	1.27 (1.1 to 1.47)	1.34	0.81 (0.62 to 1.06)	

^{*} entry suppressed because of small number of deaths

¹ Rate per 1,000 births

²Calculated from the stabilised rate (stabilisation of the mortality rates is a statistical method which allows for the effect of random variation and produces estimated mortality rates which are closer to the underlying mortality rate)

Asian, Asian British	5.7	1.59 (1.44 to 1.75)	2.86	1.73 (1.50 to 1.98)
Black, Black British	7.46	2.08 (1.83 to 2.36)	2.77	1.67 (1.35 to 2.06)
Other	3.68	1.02 (0.81 to 1.29)	1.62	0.98 (0.69 to 1.36)

Data source - MBRRACE, 2019 (52)

There has been more work on the impact of race and ethnicity on stillbirth in America. Sharma et al. found a three-fold increase in the risk of a recurrent stillbirth in African Americans as compared with Caucasian women (57). In part, this increased risk has been attributed to other known risks, such as socio-economic deprivation impacting on access to health services, or the increased incidence of obesity and hypertension. The Gypsy and Traveller community have also been found to have higher incidence of loss. To support women as this community we need to be innovative and employ different methods of reach and recognise that their lifestyle can result in them accessing services later and in a multitude of locations (58).

In an Australian study (59) of migrant women and stillbirth using registry data from 260,997 births found an increased risk of stillbirth, but this was reduced in those women who had access to an interpreter and early booking. They suggest the need for a culture-oriented educational programme or campaign to help get migrant women into midwifery care earlier in their pregnancies.

A higher rate of intrauterine death in seen in consanguineous couples, which was estimated at 8.62% from a study in Pakistan (60), an Australian study had the rate lower at 2.4% vs 1%, with a higher rate of threatened premature labour (5.6% vs 4.7%) as compared to non-consanguineous parents (61).

Women who are pregnant through after IVF or intracytoplasmic sperm injection, are at two to three times heightened risk of miscarriage and stillbirth (62) – this is also addressed later in the report in Section 5.

Obesity is linked to a higher rate of stillbirth and with the number of women who are obese or morbidly obese growing across society this may become more of an issue (63–65). A Swedish register-based cohort study (66) found a rate of 1.6/1000 stillbirths in normal weight women and 2.6/1000 in obese women. In the UK, where the stillbirth rate is higher in the overall population, an analysis of 44,600 births between 1994 and 2013 showed that being overweight increased the odds ratio of a stillbirth by 1.37, rising to 5.04 in obese women with a BMI over 50 (67). Jacob et al. do note that it is still a rare occurrence, but management of weight may help those women who are vulnerable to stillbirth – which has added mental health issues as weight loss is an emotional issue for many women, especially those with mental health difficulties.

Women who smoke also have a higher risk of stillbirth (68), which can also add to the mental health challenges facing pregnant women. The stigma associated with smoking during pregnancy is already recognised (69) as well as the increased psychological challenges women face when trying to quit smoking (70). According to the prevalence data supplied by the 2019 MBRACCE-UK report of the number of stillbirths by mother's smoking behaviour calculated against the 119 estimated

stillbirths in West Yorkshire and Harrogate there will be 22 stillbirths in mothers who smoke (Table 12).

Table 12 Stillbirths, by mother's smoking behaviour, 2017

	%	Number of stillbirths
Never smoked	62.2	74.0
Non-smoker at booking (history unknown)	3.5	4.2
Gave up before pregnancy	9	10.7
Gave up during pregnancy	4.5	5.4
Smoker	18.5	22.0
Not known	2.3	2.7

Women who have a twin pregnancy have also been found to be at an increased risk of miscarriage and stillbirth, with a 276% increased risk of stillbirth for teenage mothers as compared to a singleton pregnancy (dropping to a 38% increased loss in mothers over 40 years). There is a reversal of risk by deprivation, with women in the wealthiest decile having an increased risk of 168% as compared to a 29% risk in the poorest. This is presumed to be due to the cost of assisted conception (52). Risk of neonatal death is also greater in younger mothers (311% increased risk), with the lowest risk in mothers from the most deprived quintile of deprivation (155%), with the highest risk in the second least deprived quintile (351%) (52).

Women who have a second pregnancy soon after birth are also at greater risk of perinatal loss as the body has not had time to recover (71). Guidance on birth spacing now suggests a two year gap is optimal (72). The most vulnerable women are also those who are most likely to have short birth-to-pregnancy intervals (73).

Lesbian and bisexual women have been found to be at greater risk of miscarriage and stillbirth. In an American study (4) of 19,955 pregnancies from 2006 to 2015 reported in the National Survey of Family Growth, 5% of which were in bisexual women and 1% in lesbian women. Bisexual and lesbian women reported 30% of pregnancies ended in miscarriage as compared to 19% of the heterosexual women. Further, 0.8% of pregnancies reported by heterosexual women who have sex with men ended in stillbirth, compared to 1.6% of heterosexual women who also have sex with women, 2.6% of bisexual women, and 4.1% of lesbian women. There is also a higher risk of preterm birth in both bisexual and lesbian women. They suggest this may be due to discrimination or increased stress during the pregnancy, but no definitive reasons were presented.

Women who have been the victims of intimate personal violence may have a higher risk of miscarriage, leading to additional likelihood of traumatic stress, especially those who have an existing post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) diagnosis (74).

There are also incidences of perinatal death where a healthy child is lost through complications during the labour, which can add additional stress especially where there have been service failings. Serious failings such as seen in the Morecambe Bay and the Furness Hospital in the Barrow maternity services may make bereaved

parents more likely to look at the quality of the service they have received more closely. In 2015 there were ~ 500-800 babies that died or were left severely disabled during labour nationally (52). There will also be significant mental health implications for parents with a child living with disabilities as a result of intrapartum harm.

3.4 Mental health problems following perinatal loss

Termination of a pregnancy can be for social or medical reasons or due to the identification of a fetal anomaly. The majority of terminations have to occur before the 24th week of the pregnancy, unless there are significant medical reasons that put the life of the mother at risk or because there is a substantial risk the child would suffer from serious fetal anomalies (75).

Studies that have explored the emotional impact of deciding to have a termination recognise that it is a very personal matter and that for some it is a choice that they do not regret, for others it can be a more profound experience. An American study that explored the evidence for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) or post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) found that in the majority of cases those that exhibit difficulties the cause was not related to their pregnancy decision, but due to the surrounding life events, such as violence, abuse of unlawful activity (44%) or non-violent relationship issues (17%). In 14% of cases it was related to the pregnancy or the abortion experience or decision (76). A Swedish study found that pre-existing mental health difficulties were the most likely to experience PTSD or PTSS (77).

In a longitudinal study over 5-years, which followed 667 women who had an abortion with no known fetal anomaly, found that there was about an equal split between those that found the decision difficult and those that did not. Those that found the decision difficult were more likely to report sadness but the intensity declined significantly over the first and second year before stabilising. At five years relief was the most common emotional response, but for some it remained a difficult decision (33). A Finnish study investigating the mental wellbeing of women during the first year after a first trimester termination of pregnancy found that for the majority of women their quality of life score increased and anxiety levels fell by 3 months post termination (78). Forty percent of the women showed no increase in anxiety throughout the study period, suggesting the decision to have a termination was a rational choice. For those with pre-existing mental health problems, or for some with high base-line anxiety there was a more persistent impact both on anxiety and quality of life. Smoking was also predictive of a poorer outcome.

Felt community level stigma and fear of social judgement is an important source of distress in women who have had a pregnancy terminated, (33,79,80). When it is internalised, it can have a lasting impact on the longer term recovery following a termination (81).

In a study exploring the differences in reported grief, post-traumatic stress and depression in 158 mothers and 109 fathers following a diagnosis of anencephaly leading to either termination of pregnancy or carrying the child to full term. There were marked individual differences in psychological outcome, but overall 24% of women and 11% of men scored in the pathological range for grief, and 20% of

women and 13% of men scored in the pathological range for PTSD. Thirty four percent of women and 19% of men were in the range for depression. Of note, the study also showed that those that had a termination had a higher level of distress than those that carried their child through to term (82).

Mental health problems following perinatal loss have been widely studied (28,79,83–98). The most frequently identified are focused onto grief, guilt, blame, difficulty in coping and death attribution (79,84,92). Bereavement during pregnancy has also been found to have a negative effect on maternal self-esteem (99). These emotional responses are compounded by wider societal difficulties in knowing how to respond to the loss, with parents feeling isolated and hurt by other's responses to grief as they come to terms with being a parent without a child. There are also issues with regard to women facing stigma as a result of their perinatal loss (92,100).

There can also be difficulties with how both parents may respond to the death, with fathers being found to suppress their grief leading to longer term difficulties. Relationships can be strengthened, but also there is an increased risk of breakdown, with a stillbirth having a longer term impact. For women with a stillbirth the risk persisted up to 10 years, whereas for miscarriage there was still an effect, but over the shorter term (1.5-3 year period) (101).

For those women who do not already have children, have fertility difficulties, or have experienced dissatisfaction with the health care they received experience a greater grief response over the longer term (84,90,95). In a study of 311 mothers in Michigan, USA, nearly half of the respondents blamed their medical team for their loss (84). This study also found that depression persisting at either 9 months or 15 months was a strong predictor of greater guilt over the loss, with 17% of the mothers reporting that other people blamed them for the death.

In a longitudinal survey (83) of mothers in Michigan who had either a stillbirth (above 20 weeks of gestational age and at least 400 g) or an early infant death in the first 28 days of life 609 mothers responded to the questionnaire. At 9 months bereaved mothers were found to have twice the odds for general anxiety disorder and social phobia.

The impact of a miscarriage or stillbirth can follow through to after the birth of a subsequent live-born child. A Norwegian study (85) of 901 pregnant women, 172 of which having had a previous stillbirth, found that women with a previous stillbirth more often experienced anxiety (22.5%) and depression (19.7%) compared with women with previous live births (4.4% and 10.3% respectively) and previously nulliparous women (5.5% and 9.9% respectively). Post birth the prevalence of anxiety and depression fell significantly and was similar to those who had not had a previous stillbirth, however at 36 months the prevalence of anxiety and depression had again risen and was above that seen in women with previous live births, but not above that seen in the nulliparous women. Suggesting that there is a residual psychiatric morbidity from the stillbirth that is only temporarily relieved by a subsequent live birth. This is contra to the findings of an earlier study in Australia, which found that although women with a previous stillbirth were more likely to carry sadness or low mood, and excessive worry through to a subsequent pregnancy, this was not evident postpartum (93).

A meta-analysis conducted in 2017 of studies from 1995 through to 2016 on mental health difficulties in mothers and fathers who had experienced a previous pregnancy loss on their subsequent pregnancies found that there was a significant increase in anxiety and depression, but no effect on stress (86). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the psychosocial impact of stillbirth (92) found that many parents found themselves unable to relax and enjoy their new pregnancy or to engage in antenatal classes due to fear of what others might think of them. The parents reported a range of emotions from hopeful optimism to panic attacks, isolation and a lack of normality.

There are other studies that focus onto the risk of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as a result of the bereavement (97,102–106). The recent prospective cohort study (97) conducted across 3 Early Pregnancy Assessment Units in London found that of the 737 women who had an early pregnancy loss (537 women with miscarriage and 116 ectopic pregnancies) 29% met the criteria for PTSD at 1 month, with 24% meeting the criteria for moderate-to-severe anxiety and 11% meeting the criteria for moderate-to-severe depression. At the 3rd month, 86 of 418 women (21%) met criteria for posttraumatic stress; 96 of 426 women (23%) reported moderate/severe depression. At the 9th month, 59 of 336 women (18%) met the criteria for posttraumatic stress; 58 of 338 women (17%) reported moderate/severe anxiety, and 21 of 338 women (6%) reported moderate/severe depression. There was a drop off in responses over the time period, such that the percentages may not reflect all the women's experiences.

In an earlier study (98) by the same authors similar findings on prevalence were found, with re-experiencing the most commonly found symptom, followed by avoidance, and then hyperarousal. Importantly for subsequent care needs, 41% of those who were trying to conceive again at 3 months still met the criteria for probable PTSD, with 23% meeting the criteria for moderate to severe PTSD. In this same study 20% of the women experienced moderate-to-severe anxiety following the loss at 1 month compared to 10% in the control group, but this dropped between 1 to 3 months, as compared to the PTSD symptoms, which persisted.

Both living with the threat of a miscarriage and the actual loss can have serious effects on the mental health of the woman and her family (34). With a high level of anxiety seen in women who have experienced perinatal loss during previous pregnancies in their current pregnancy which requires on-going support from the clinical team (35,86,107,108).

Farren et al's (96) narrative review of research relating to early pregnancy loss found between 25% and 39% of women reached the threshold for a diagnosis of PTSD at 1 month and between 18% and 20% of women experiencing symptoms of depression, which can persist for up to a year. Those women with a previous history of mental health morbidity and those with low marital satisfaction or support were most at risk, with those women with no previous children, a history of infertility or have had previous miscarriages also vulnerable to mental health difficulties post miscarriage. Fathers were found to have a lower intensity of depressive and anxiety reactions, but these too were evident for up to a year.

3.1 Assessment tools

In addition to the more standard measurement scales, such as the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) there are some that have been used more exclusively with this cohort of mothers. Hutti et al,(87) have developed the Perinatal Grief Intensity Scale (PGIS) (87), which is a 14-item questionnaire created for clinical use to screen for grief intensity and predict future grief intensity and need for follow up after miscarriage, stillbirth, or neonatal death⁹.

In their prospective cohort study of early pregnancy loss, Farren et al. used the Post Traumatic Diagnostic Scale and HADS (97). The Revised Impact of Miscarriage Scale was used in the study undertaken by O'Kane & Cassidy (109). This comprises 16 items on a 4-point Likert scale in the O'Kane & Cassidy study, with the original being a 24 item scale by Swanson (110).

3.2 Interventions and approaches to care

Although termination due to fetal anomaly, miscarriage and stillbirth has been found to have an overall very negative effect there have been studies that have shown that with the right support women and their families can come through the experience with personal growth (92,111). Unlike many of the mental health challenges facing women through a miscarriage or stillbirth is nearly always unexpected, so there can be no anticipatory preparation. Care of the women and her family starts at the time of death, with most of the research into the longer term effects showing that the support and management in those first few hours can be crucial. However, for those women with a high risk of another stillbirth or miscarriage earlier preparatory support may be warranted to help set up a solid relationship in case the worst outcome is realised. Guidance in this section therefore covers both support in the labour ward as well as the care needs as time progresses. However, it should be noted that there is a still a lack of intervention research on this difficult area of practice (112).

Nationally there is an agreed pathway of support available for women and their partner who have experienced a miscarriage, stillbirth, neonatal death, or sudden infant death (113). The NICE guidelines (39) recommend that following a perinatal death the women, her partner and family should be given the option of 1 or more of the following:

- Having a photograph of the baby
- Having mementos of the baby footprint, handprint, hair lock
- seeing the baby
- holding the baby.

They also recommend that this should be facilitated by an experienced practitioner and the woman and her partner and family should be offered a follow-up appointment in primary or secondary care. They state that it is important that if it is known that the child has died pre-birth that support should be available before delivery and be continued after discharge.

⁹ available from http://uoflnursingpgis.org/pgis/

This need for very well managed care over the perinatal period has been reiterated in other guidance, as how the family are managed at this time can have a lasting impact on the psychological adaption to the loss (28,114). Practitioners who are trained in confirming the loss and in skilfully managing the communication needs of the woman and her family need to be always available.

In a recent global consensus Delphi Study (114) to determine best practice for bereavement care after a stillbirth the RESPECT study identified 8 guiding principles:

- Reduce stigma experienced by bereaved women and families by increasing awareness of stillbirth within communities.
- Provide respectful maternity care to bereaved women, their families, and their babies.
- Support women and families to make shared, informed, and supported decisions about birth options.
- Make every effort to investigate and identify contributory factors to provide an acceptable explanation to women and families for the death of their baby.
- Acknowledge the depth and variety of normal grief responses associated with stillbirth and offer appropriate emotional support in a supportive environment.
- Offer appropriate information and postnatal care to address physical, practical, and psychologic needs, including a point of contact for ongoing support.
- Provide information for women and their families about future pregnancy planning and reproductive health at appropriate time points throughout their care and follow-up.
- Enable the highest quality bereavement care by providing comprehensive and ongoing training and support to all members of the healthcare team.

The American consensus on the management of stillbirth acknowledges that support is needed, but that it should be tailored to the parents personal, cultural and religious needs (38). They go on to re-iterate the importance of good communication and that a referral onto a counsellor, peer support group or mental health professional may be needed. They also recognise that the psychological burden extends from the grief of the loss of their child onto the possible consequences for future pregnancies and this may require the mental health team working in partnership with the medical team advising on the causes of the current loss and implications for the future (38). If no definitive reason for the loss can be found this may give more reassurance than if a genetic or other factor has been identified, which will moderate the intervention plan for the women and her partner. Women who have a pre-existing medical condition that increased the risk of stillbirth and miscarriage such as diabetes or hypertension or in those with obstetric problems such as placental abruption will need additional support (38,108).

There may be difficulties for the women to discuss previous stillbirths or miscarriages if they are holding feelings of guilt (84), With sensitive questioning and counselling for those with maladaptive grief they may be helped come to terms with their loss and be able to move on.

Different hospitals have varying levels of support available for managing perinatal loss. At the hospital in Cork they have a bereavement team comprising representatives from obstetrics, midwifery, medical social work, chaplaincy,

sonography, management and perinatal pathology, they also have a dedicated postnatal bereavement ward, where midwives are trained and experienced in perinatal bereavement (115). If the women are able to access this service they have the highest levels of satisfaction in their care, showing how important it is to have the right staff in the right environment.

3.2.1 Stillbirth memento photography

The use of stillbirth memento photography is one of the recommendations laid out in the NICE guidelines. With studies now looking at best practice (116) and whether it is better to be done professionally or informally by the staff or parents as it is important that this is done sensitively.

3.2.2 Holding the baby

Decisions made over the perinatal period need to be carefully managed, such as method of delivery, analgesia and whether a postmortem is required. in relation memory making, there is some still uncertainty over whether holding the baby is wise. Partners have been found to have greater mental health difficulties if they held their stillborn child, with the suggestion that this might create more tactile experiential memories that can lead to longer term distressing memories (117). A similar finding was also found for mothers holding their stillborn child, with increased risk of depression (118). However, other studies have found no difference (28,119)

3.2.3 Cold cot

The use of the cold cot has been found to be useful way of enabling a longer time for the parents and family to spend with their lost child, by delaying the onset of body deterioration, along with colour and olfactory change (120). In an interview based study based in Bath, 33 midwives who had used the cold cot gave positive reactions to their use. It needed careful management with regard to how the technology was introduced to the parents and it was most useful when parents wanted to stay with the baby in the hospital or wanted to take the baby home with them. It was also useful when the mother was unwell and needed more time to recover before they could start the grieving process. They also reported the need to warn the parents that their child would be cold. The use of the technology was found to be straightforward and overall a very positive development.

3.2.4 Counselling support

In a London based prospective study (121) women who had miscarried in early pregnancy were allocated to one of three groups, a bereavement group (n=33), [which included discussions concerning the role of factors such as fetal abnormality, stress, personal, and other people's behaviours and characteristics in causing the miscarriage, and clarification of women's misconceptions], this bereavement group with additional psychological counselling (n=33) and a control group that had no specific post-miscarriage support (N=66). The counselling comprised a 50 minute consultation with a psychologist. Anxiety, depression and grief decreased

significantly with time in all three study groups. The intervention groups both saw a decrease in self-blame, with the intervention group coupled with the psychological counselling also seeing a greater decrease in grief. The biggest decrease in worry about future pregnancy was seen in the counselling group.

Mindfulness interventions have been found to be beneficial to those who have suffered a traumatic bereavement (122), but overall there is little in the way of research that has explored its use with parents bereaved through perinatal loss. A preliminary study of an internet-based Mindfulness intervention that was linked to online yoga is underway in the USA (123). This study is focused onto women who had experienced a stillbirth over the previous 24 months. Following a baseline assessment via self-report the 74 consented women have been asked to participate in 60 minutes of online streamed yoga videos per week following a week-by-week prescription with videos selected by the research team. In addition The Mindful Health study is also underway to assess the effectiveness of a 12 week home-based yoga intervention for mothers after stillbirth (124). The use of Mindfulness may have benefit for women due to its effectiveness elsewhere in managing difficult emotions. Local groups or online interventions may be beneficial.

The use of Interpersonal psycho-therapy (IPT) to help women who have experienced loss was explored in a pilot randomized controlled trial (125). Fifty women who had experienced loss were allocated to either the intervention group or a normal practice control group. The intervention comprised a pre-group individual session,12 group sessions, and a 1-month individual booster session (a total of 14 sessions). The women enrolled in the study had a mean of 10 weeks from their loss (range 2-49 weeks) with 54% with a diagnosed PTSD (19 related to the recent perinatal loss, 3 from another trauma only, and 5 from both traumas). Some of the women had generalized anxiety disorder (12%) and others panic disorder (12%). The control was a Coping with Depression (CWD) group based on a cognitive behavioural treatment which did not focus on perinatal loss nor social support. The focused IPT group was found to be more effective at supporting the women to recovery with reduced symptoms, more improvement in social support, social functioning and grief symptoms. It also enabled a faster recovery (11 weeks compared to 24 weeks in the CWD group). The key element here might be that it was focused onto the specific needs of bereaved parents and not just a general bereavement therapy.

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) has been advocated for women who have had a termination of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly (111). In a study of 178 women who had experienced a termination between 11 and 34 weeks of gestation (88.2% before 24 weeks), 65.84% (n = 106) of the women scored above 34 for "active grief," 44.72% (n = 72) above 30 for "difficulty coping," 52.17% (n = 84) above 27 for "despair" and 55.28% (n = 89) above 91 for "overall grief. The majority of the women demonstrated adaptive coping, but the high level of grief suggests that CBT may help the women in re-framing their experience and managing their distress.

3.2.5 Support groups and social media

Having the opportunity to meet with other bereaved parents through face-to-face or internet support groups should be offered to the parents. In a study exploring mothers use of these approaches Gold et al. (106) used an online anonymous

survey posted on message boards and a paper version for in-person pregnancy or infant loss support groups in Michigan USA. There were 416 usable internet survey questionnaires and 60 face-to-face usable questionnaires returned, of which 64% of the women in the face-to-face groups had an EPDS score of 10 or higher compared to 60% of the online support group users. Both groups found benefits from reaching out to other affected mothers. Nearly all (95%) the mothers who attended the face-to-face group had also used online groups, suggesting that they needed face-to-face support as there were perhaps issues they did not want to share online, or that they found additional benefit from the personal contact. The survey did reveal that it was mostly white and well educated women that responded, which may reveal an issue that needs addressing about how a more diverse range of women can be helped to use these kinds of services.

With the rise in social media there has been a growth in on-line support for women who have experienced perinatal loss. One study from America undertook a qualitative study of how Instagram was used to share and receive support (126). They assessed 200 Instagram messages under #ihadamiscarriage in 2019. They found that there were a wide range of emotions expressed and that the problems many of the women experienced showed the effects had gone on for years. It is a resource that many women will turn to and the authors of the paper recommend that health care providers should see this as part of the parent's support mechanisms following their loss as part of their overall care.

The Stillbirth and Neonatal Death (SANDS) charity has a well-developed set of support mechanisms in place to help bereaved parents. Parents should be directed to their webpage (https://www.sands.org.uk/) for access to their information and helpline.

3.3 Women's experiences

Cullen et al. undertook a qualitative study in Dublin, interviewing 14 bereaved parents (9 mothers, 5 fathers) to explore their experiences of a second trimester miscarriage (24). The policy at the hospital was that they would be administered mifepristone and allowed home for 48 hours, which some found difficult, but most valued the time to come to terms with their loss. Some form of contact by a midwife during that time would have been welcome. Both the mothers and fathers found it very difficult if they were treated on the antenatal ward, with seeing other pregnant women or hearing babies very distressing. Both mothers and fathers noted a lack of facilities for the father, such as a male toilet or the ability to stay overnight. There was a need for clear information and good communication and if possible a reason for the miscarriage so they can move to further pregnancies. There was also an issue as to what constitutes good pain relief.

An Irish study (109) undertook a postal survey of 232 women who had experienced a miscarriage between 5-30 months previously to explore their experiences of loss and the care they received. They found that there was a definite link between the care the women received at the time of their loss and their subsequent recovery. They note however, that if they have had a previous miscarriage or if they have had another child since the miscarriage it leads to a more positive view of care had received. Whilst the recency of the miscarriage as well as a longer gestation before

the time of miscarriage are associated with a more negative view of care experienced.

In a Swedish longitudinal study 103 women and 78 men completed a postal questionnaire at one week and four months after miscarriage (90). The women reported felt more guilt over the loss than their partner and that this was still present at 4 months. Previous children made the miscarriage easier to endure while a previous miscarriage or a history of infertility had the opposite effect.

A systematic review of parent's experiences of stillbirth was undertaken by Ellis et al. (127) covering all studies from 1996 up to 2014. Which was condensed down to 40 articles relating to parent's experiences. The key findings were that:

- Behaviours and actions of staff can have a memorable impact on parents.
- Clear, easily understandable and structured information given sensitively at appropriate times, helps parents through their experience.
- Parents want privacy not abandonment.
- Research and multi-professional training are important for all staff to improve standards of bereavement care.
- Parents wish for increased awareness and acknowledgement of stillbirth.
- Fathers may have different needs to mothers; they want to be involved in decision making and often focus on practical tasks.
- Continuity of care and carer is important to parents.
- Parents with a baby who died in-utero may feel that their care is not appropriately prioritised by staff.

Using a postal survey to 21 mothers and 15 fathers an Irish study (115) explored experiences following a stillbirth. One of the most durable memories for both the mother and the father was the way they were cared for over the loss. From the way the news was given and the subsequent labour through to discussions over the autopsy and support post-discharge were remembered in detail. The most important aspects for the parents were the importance of being kept informed of what was happening, having choice and control, medical management, investigation of the stillbirth, time with the baby, creation of mementos, support with the funeral. With the one area where every respondent agreed was with regard to the kindness and sensitivity of the staff. Half of the respondents were very affected if they were not visited by the consultant obstetrician at the birth or afterwards.

3.4 Father / co-mother & family

Persistent anxiety & depression has been found in fathers following perinatal loss (86,90,128,129). Many of the studies that have explored men's reaction to perinatal loss highlight that there are difficulties in expressing their grief or avoidance (31,92). This can be misinterpreted as not caring but has been found elsewhere to be a defence mechanism against extreme emotions in men (130) and needs to be handled with care. Often the men are confused over how they should react and try to deny their own feelings to support their partner (131). The review by Ellis et al. (127) also found that fathers wanted to be involved in decision making and have a need for information they can base decisions on. They also noted that the men wanted to protect and support their partner but can feel frustrated and helpless. Relationship

breakdown, employment difficulties and increased substance abuse have been seen in bereaved fathers as a longer term impact of the loss (92).

There were no studies found that directly addressed the experiences of co-mothers following a bereavement.

Grandparents are also very much affected by perinatal loss (27), great emotions are built in the anticipation of the birth and the happiness of the parents, with the potential for physical and emotional health problems as they try to support their children and come to terms with their own grief.

The emotional support needed by other children in the family should also be considered. Depending on how old they are there will be many complex issues for them to face, which can impact on both their short and long term emotional health (132). Difficulties can focus around their mixed emotions about another child coming into the family (and now not), parental relationships, and complex grieving for a child they have never met.

3.5 Midwives experience

There is little in the way of research on the midwife's experiences of caring for a mother who suffers a perinatal death. Ellis et al. (127) undertook a systematic review of parents and healthcare professionals experiences. They found that there were anxieties over their confidence to provide the care the women needed. They also reported issues with regards to hospital policies and protocols in being able to meet the women's needs. Although experience helped the staff in managing perinatal loss it did not diminish the emotional burden. There was a call for more training in bereavement care and for specific communication skills guidance so as to avoid fears over making matters worse for the parents.

A more recent qualitative study interviewing 7 midwives in Australia (133) on supporting women with a miscarriage found that the midwives were educated with regard to the practical management of the miscarriage, but not the emotional support needs of the mother and father. They also reported little or no follow up care. Pressures to providing good quality care included time issues, language barriers and limited availability of resources. They noted that some health professionals may choose not to provide comprehensive emotional support as a form of self-protection.

3.6 Summary

• Pregnancy loss can be a consequence of miscarriage; termination for fetal anomaly, medical or social reasons; stillbirth; or neonatal death.

• 43% of women will have had one or more 1st trimester miscarriages. Across West Yorkshire¹⁰ it is estimated that there were 5,616 first trimester miscarriages and 221 second trimester miscarriages in 2018.

32

¹⁰ Harrogate data not available at the time of writing

- One in three females in the UK under the age of 45 years will have had a termination of pregnancy, which equates to 173,216 females in the West Yorkshire and Harrogate area, with 8,063 terminations in 2018.
- There are an estimated 165 terminations of pregnancy due to fetal anomaly / or for medical reasons across WY&H, with an estimated prevalence of 27 mothers at risk of PTSD at 14 days and 12 mothers at risk at 12 months.
- Across West Yorkshire there were an estimated 119 stillbirths and 54 neonatal deaths in 2017.
- Risk increases with deprivation, with a 72% higher risk of stillbirth and a 57% higher risk of neonatal death in the most deprived areas compared to the least deprived.
- The risk of stillbirth is over twice as high in Black and Black British babies as compared to White babies with a 73% great risk of neonatal mortality in Asian and Asian British babies.
- Smoking is associated with a higher risk of stillbirths, with an estimate 22 stillbirths across West Yorkshire in women who smoke through their pregnancies.
- Risk of miscarriage and stillbirth increases with age, a previous history of loss, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and conception through assisted reproductive technology (ART).
- The risk of miscarriage and stillbirth is higher in lesbian and bisexual women, those women who have been in abusive relationships, consanguineous couples.
- Loss can also be associated with deficiencies in care surrounding the birth.
- The emotional impact on the woman and partner vary greatly depending on the circumstances of the loss, with the risk of complex grieving, PTSD and depression that can still be present at subsequent pregnancies.
- Careful advanced planning is required by the maternity services to ensure all staff are trained to offer support and to help with decision making. In addition, there should be specialist support available.
- There should be an early referral on to the Bereavement midwife for those women who are post 16 weeks at the time of loss.
- Support upon discharge from hospital should include the opportunity to have a counselling session with a psychologist, with support for both the mother and the father/co-mother.
- Mindfulness intervention support should also be available.

- For those parents with more intense and protracted grief an assessment using the Perinatal Grief Intensity Scale (PGIS) should be considered, with referral on to a clinical psychologist for a more formal assessment and support.
- Continuity of care is important to ensure transition to the bereavement services does not leave the bereaved parents missing their named midwife.
- All women should have the option of a consultation with a senior obstetrician to discuss the possible causes of their loss and the implications for future pregnancies.
- There should be signposting to on-line support services, including SANDS.
- It is important to recognise that how women and men deal with the loss may differ, with each needing support to meet their needs if longer term negative effects (such as relationship breakdown) are to be avoided.
- For those women booked for a subsequent pregnancy early assessment of mental health status should be undertake and on-going support provided.

4. Loss - Child removal into care

4.1 Introduction

Having a child removed is a deeply traumatic event for all involved, with often complex decisions made that will have a life-long impact on the child and the parents within weeks of a birth. There can be very good reasons why a baby has to be removed from a mother at birth. According to the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass) a local authority applies for an order to take a child into care when they are at risk of neglect or abuse (Box 2).

Box 2 Reasons for child removal

Neglect

When the local authority believes a child is being neglected. Neglect involves ongoing, serious failure to meet a child's basic needs and can include:

- not taking the child to see a doctor when they need to go
- not giving the child enough to eat or drink
- not ensuring the child receives an education
- not keeping the child clean.

Abuse

When the local authority is worried that a child has been, or is likely to be, abused either by their parents or carers, or other people they know. Abuse includes:

- physical abuse, which is inflicting pain or injury to a child and also includes giving a child harmful substances, such as drugs, alcohol or poison
- sexual abuse, when a child is pressured, forced or tricked into taking part in any kind of sexual activity
- emotional abuse, when a parent or carer behaves in a way that is likely to seriously affect the child's emotional development. This can include constant rejection, continual and/or severe criticism and witnessing domestic abuse.

For a pregnant mother to be considered at risk there must be grounds for concern based on her suitability to care for the child. It can be the consequence of previous convictions of child abuse, where the child is at immediate risk or it can be as a result of a chaotic lifestyle that is often a consequence of drugs, abuse, poor living conditions and young age. There is also a high proportion of mothers with learning difficulties whose child is taken into care at birth, due to concerns over their parenting capacity (134).

Children's early development is very important and it is imperative that they are safe and cared for in the very early life, such that key growth milestones can be met and the child has a chance both of survival and a healthy life. Difficult decisions therefore have to be made and they have to be justifiable. They also have to be the most limited action needed to ensure protection and based on a legal case YC v United Kingdom in 2012 [see (135)]:

'[F]irst, it is in the child's best interests that his ties with his family be maintained except in cases where the family has proved particularly unfit; and second, it is in the child's best interests to ensure his development in a safe and secure environment. ...

[F]amily ties may only be severed in very exceptional circumstances and that everything must be done to preserve personal relations and, where appropriate, to 'rebuild' the family.' (para 134)

A study conducted at Lancaster University (73) conducted by Karen Broadhurst into 72 vulnerable birth mothers found that there was a pattern of repeated care proceedings for some women, with the average age in 64% of the cases under 20 years of age, with 40% of the women having been in statutory care with half having multiple placement moves. For the majority, the pregnancies were also unplanned.

According to Masson & Dicken's socio-legal research study into care proceedings the risk of physical neglect and emotional abuse are the most common concerns (135). In first time removals a higher proportion had learning difficulties, a smaller proportion had mental health difficulties or drug addiction but alcohol abuse was much more common.

In a recent review of the literature relating to supporting mothers who have experienced a child removal Tantawi-Basra & Pezaro (136) identified a 'cycle of maltreatment'. This cycle incorporates:

- Adverse childhood experiences
- Diminished attachment
- Diminished self esteem
- Diminished parenting capacity
- Reinforcement through social stigma

This cycle reflects the traumatic lives many of the women had experienced and the difficulties they encounter in trying to get to a position where they can overcome their plight. The study also considers the distrust the women have of formal services and how important it is to be able to develop a trusting relationship.

In an Australian study (137) of the 171 mothers on an opioid treatment programme 56 women (32.7%) had a child in care, with nearly half (n=46) removed at birth. None of the 32 mothers who had their child removed at birth and gave birth subsequently retained the care of their new baby. Of this cohort, two-thirds (64.5%) had been physically or sexually abused as a child, 54% had recent psychiatric illness, 18% were currently the victims of domestic violence and most (87.1%) were receiving government benefits.

There are women who may not have had previous babies removed at birth, but still have experienced the loss of a child due to court proceedings or inability to cope. These women have also got a heightened risk of anxiety and mental health problems as a consequence and will be fearful if pregnant again of similar loss (138,139). The studies that have been done with women who have lost their children into care talk of the deep loss they experience, with the grief coupled with a sense of failure as a mother. The studies also reveal the chaotic and challenging lives these women lead and the need for intensive support (136).

A further consequence of not supporting vulnerable mothers is that those who have lost a child through court proceedings also have this as a legal record against their name, which can have significant implications for their life chances.

Despite the gravity of having a child taken at birth there are no statutory requirements in place in England to support the mother and so they are mostly left to fend for themselves (73,136,140). Morriss (140) in a review based on analysis of court proceedings relating to the Family Court notes the questions posed by a QC in relation to a young birth mother had a second child removed – a five-month baby girl – within a six-month period and placed for adoption, having experienced extreme abuse and deprivation herself but had never been offered therapeutic support.

- i) Is it right that this mother should not yet have been offered therapy, particularly bearing in mind that her first child was born three years ago and was himself the subject of lengthy proceedings?
- ii) If she had been offered therapy at an early stage, is there not at least a possibility that the outcome of these proceedings might have been different? iii) Even if the outcome would not have been different, would not an attempt at therapy make these proceedings more satisfactory?
- iv) Has the money that has been spent on issuing proceedings [£2055 is the cost of issuing a care application] and on psychological evidence [over £2000] well spent when the expenditure is incurred before attempts at therapeutic support have been made in cases of this nature. (A Local Authority v. The Mother & Anor [2017] EWFC B59)

Despite there being a legal requirement for a pre-birth plan, a review by Broadhurst et al found that for women whose child was taken into care as a neonate, or within 1-3 weeks pre-birth proceedings took place less than 4 weeks prior to birth in 50% of cases (141).

4.2 Prevalence

Broadhurst's study (73) showed that there were than 46,000 mothers with one or more children in care proceedings, 7,060 were repeat cases: 44% of the repeats involved mothers who first had babies as teenagers. They estimate that the probability of recurrence within 1-2 years of initial child removal proceedings is 13.2%,. Based on Broadhurst et al's Born into Care review in 2017 (141), prevalence estimates for Yorkshire & the Humber of 36 mothers with children taking into care per 10,000 births would mean there were 107 mothers affected (Table 13).

Table 13 Mothers with children taken into care as a newborn

	Total births§	Mothers - Child into care
Bradford	8,094	29
Calderdale	2,413	9
Greater Huddersfield	2,653	10
Leeds	10,052	36
North Kirklees	2,556	9
Wakefield	4,013	14
Total	29,781	107

Actual data seems higher. Data from Leeds suggests that in 2018 there were 50 mothers with a newborn child taken into care, with about 58 children under 7 days of age being taken into care in Bradford in 2018 and 2019 involving 51 mothers¹¹. There may be more than one child with a mother, but this approximates to about 50 mothers. If a similar rate went across the other areas this would amount to about 150 affected mothers.

Mothers with learning disabilities are more likely to have their child taken into care at birth. This is a difficult and complicated issue, with many women not declaring their learning disability status or not booking till later in their pregnancy (134,142–144). In 2012, across Leeds 13 of the 38 mothers who had a child removed had a confirmed learning difficulty, with another 7 suspected but not diagnosed (145).

4.3 Mental health impact of child removal

The impact of having your child taken has a profound effect on the women. For many the grief can lead to mental health difficulties and a greater likelihood of further negative life events. As part of Broadhurst's study she interviewed 72 women across 7 local authorities, she found that many of the women were already very vulnerable, leading the most complex and challenging lives; the study found that that 66% of recurrent mothers had experienced neglect in their childhood, 67% emotional abuse, 52% physical abuse, and 53% sexual abuse, with an ACE¹² score of 4 or more.

They found the women were consistently describing an acute sense of grief, loss and isolation following the removal of their child. Suicidal thoughts were common and, in the majority of cases, women described 'self-harming' behaviour such as excessive drinking, drug-taking and negative intimate relationships. Cases in which women had babies removed very close to birth (60% of repeat cases) were reported to be particularly traumatic. The study revealed a lack of preparation for the mothers during the latter stages of the pregnancy, with no shared plan of what was to happen.

¹¹ This may include more mothers as the ones with another child in care proceedings are not included in this figure.

¹² ACE - Adverse childhood experiences score is based on (a) physical abuse, (b) sexual abuse, (c) removal from a single-parent household, (d) exposure to community violence, (e) number of caregiver transitions, and (f) number of school transitions.

Chapman's study on mothers' experiences of child removal suggests that the grief, coupled with the acknowledgement and understanding from others can mothers to resort to coping strategies such as repeat pregnancies, suppression of feelings and searching behaviours. The desire to have a repeat baby may also be kept hidden from the health and social authorities, especially in young mothers aged 16-19 years—further reducing the opportunities to give adequate support.

4.4 Interventions

Prevention of child removal must be seen as a key goal for services. This can be done at the legal level, with a 'Pre-proceedings process' being found to reduce the number of babies being taken into care (135). By working early with the parents by both the clinical and legal teams gave the parents more time to demonstrate they could work with the professionals in preparing for the child and the health team had more time to assess their needs and to offer support.

Taplin & Mattick's study (137) exploring the experiences of Australian women who were heroin users found that those who were supported through an opioid treatment programme three-quarters (73.5%) reported that their parenting ability had improved, that most of their difficulties had reduced and that they had significantly reduced their substance use. However, many reported a reluctance to enter into rehabilitation as it made them more visible and they were frightened that it would impact on the risk of losing their child.

Following the child's removal many of the women Broadhurst interviewed were unable to access psychological support and were mostly left to their own devices to come to terms with their loss. For those who were able to form a more stable and supportive relationships with the father and had time to mature were able to turn their lives around for the good. They also suggest that working with the mother who has lost her child may enable the child to be returned, seeing the removal as an 'interim palliative' measure (146) that can give time for intensive intervention.

There have been successful programmes established to help support women who are at risk of child removal at birth. Pause¹³ an organisation that works with vulnerable women at risk of having their children removed at birth has been independently evaluated by The Department of Education (147). They found good results, but the initiative has strict criteria to follow for women and families to be accepted onto the programme, including mandatory use of long-acting reversible contraception. This has been criticised as it suggests the sole criteria for success in supporting women at risk of recurrent child removal is contraception (140).

In Suffolk there are two services, Positive Choices and M Power, for at risk mothers, both of which were evaluated by a team at the University of Essex. Positive Choices is run by the Suffolk County Council's safeguarding team and comprises one part-time manager and two full-time support workers and M Power is a voluntary organisation run by Oriminston Families, which specialises in working with families in challenging circumstances. Neither service works to a particular model, but offer a pragmatic, client-led approach, based on one-to-one support, self-care and trust-

¹³ https://www.pause.org.uk

building (148). Assisting them through encouragement and offering opportunities to participate in community based initiatives alongside supporting them to access long-term contraception. What was notable was that none of the mothers had a repeat pregnancy since in the following year from their child removal (based on Broadhurst et al's. 13.2% recurrence, this should have been 9 women of the 65 in their study). Another mother and her partner with their support were also able to keep their child born of a planned pregnancy.

4.5 Mothers experiences

The interviews conducted as part of Broadhurst's (149), Cox's (148) and Marsh & Leamon's (150) studies with women who have lost their child reveal the complexity of the lives the women were leading and the negative impact of losing their child. This was also shown in Morriss's court case papers analysis, where she describes the mothers being 'haunted' by the process and being deeply stigmatised by being judged as a flawed mother.

All the studies show the importance of the mother's relationship with the practitioners and wider social services. Having a caring service that was working for the women and her child was recognised as being a significant factor in coming through the experience. However there was also such vulnerability that they were not always truthful to the health care team for fear of repercussions and further stigma (150).

Claire Mason, a Senior Research Associate working with Broadhurst, has produced 'Turning Points'¹⁴, a film in which women share their stories of positive change. The film provides hope for other women in similar difficulties, who have also had children removed from their care.

4.6 Fathers experiences

No studies have been found as yet that have explored the father's experiences of child removal at birth. In many cases the fathers are absent, but not all. It's important to recognise that many fathers are affected by the experience, with anecdotal evidence of fathers sharing the complex grief and having difficulties accessing appropriate support services.

In a study of girls experiences of adolescent pregnancy the presence of a supportive father was important (151) and the greater the man's engagement in the pregnancy the greater the possibility of turning both lives around to the benefit of the child.

4.7 Midwives experiences

Having to take a child away from their mother at birth is a most distressing event for the midwife and has been likened to being present at a stillbirth (152). In an Australian study of 9 midwives who have been involved in an 'assumption of care' child removal due to fears for its health and wellbeing reported a need to mentally separate from the emotions of the event to be able to do justice to the complexity of

¹⁴ Turning Points video http://wp.lancs.ac.uk/recurrent-care/turning-points-documentary/

all that assumption of care entails. They also reported, however, the emotional or the 'heart space' where they were faced with the emotional impact of what was happening and having to deal with the range of responses from anger through to deep grief and despair by the mothers. In a similar way to coping with a stillbirth the midwives created mementos of the child, through photos, hair locks and foot and handprints. The midwives reported a need for greater organisational support to help them through the process both so they can give the most appropriate care but also to help the midwives deal with the emotional impact.

A UK PhD study (153,154) exploring 8 midwives experiences of child removal identified 'moral distress' as the core theme as the midwives from moving from 'baby catcher' to 'baby snatcher'. Working against the ethos of 'mother-centred' care to 'child-centred' care and having to comply with a decision that they may not agree with the decision. There were also dilemmas as the midwives know they were not being open and transparent with the mothers in relation to sharing information with the authorities. They were also in conflict as they were not aware of any research that shows what benefit it accrues the baby to be taken away at birth or what damage it does to the mother. The midwives were aware they were delivering fragmented care and not meeting the women's needs for consistency. They felt that a caseload approach would have helped them form a stronger more therapeutic bond.

4.8 Summary

As a way forward Broadhurst (149) has argued:

- It is imperative that we provide a safety net for women in the immediate aftermath of child removal because crisis can lead to further difficulties with profound longer-term consequences.
- Grief is enduring and intersects with issues of socio-economic disadvantage and stigma. The scale of the difficulties women face needs to be recognized in services that aim to promote recovery.
- Given women's profound sense of isolation and social stigma, preventative projects should create opportunities for the collective sharing of experience and help women to gain a clearer sense of the multiple factors implicated in the loss of their children, including vulnerability which results from socioeconomic disadvantage.
- A number of professional services can potentially aid or undermine women's recovery, at present the plight of birth mothers within the welfare system and housing is insufficiently understood and requires urgent attention.
- Children's services, the courts and allied agencies must be attuned to women's deep mistrust of professional help and the impact of this on women's subsequent engagement with services.

In addition:

• A child removal at birth is a very rare occurrence, based on a fear for the safety of the child and requires a court order.

- Based on Broadhurst et al estimate of 36 mothers per 10,000 births there would be 107 mothers facing a child removal, local data suggests this is more like 150.
- As with other forms of baby loss a mother who has a child removed at birth needs considerable support, both in its aftermath and in prevention of reoccurrence.
- The women who have their child removed are living very difficult, chaotic lives.
- Planning for a child removal should begin early and involve the mother as much as possible, with the removal seen as palliative.
- There are considerable emotional consequences following the child removal.
- What appears central to success for the women is early, consistent and empathic help coupled with concrete guidance on birth control to help break the cycle.
- The postnatal mental health team should be working closely with the woman in collaboration with social services, the Futures / Pause / Positive choices programmes, drug and substance abuse programmes, and other community support networks.
- A caseload approach would help the midwife form a stronger bond with vulnerable mothers.

5. Tokophobia / Fear of Childbirth

5.1 Introduction

Pregnancy is one of the most physically and psychologically demanding periods of a woman's life and brings with it its own anxieties and fears of what being pregnant, giving birth and being a parent will mean. These are normal and demonstrate a healthy regard for their own and their expectant child's health and wellbeing. There can be times when these fears become overwhelming and damaging to the mother, the child and to the family.

These pregnancy-specific anxieties (PSA) can relate to many different aspects of the pregnancy experience for the woman, including anxieties over adverse pregnancy and infant outcomes (such as losing their babies), congenital abnormalities, premature delivery, low birthweight, pain, neonatal morbidity, problems with motherinfant bonding, and infant cognitive, behavioural, emotional, and psychomotor deficits (155,156). There are other anxiety disorders that may be present during pregnancy, such as needle phobia (trypanophobia) and fear of vomiting (emetophobia) (157). There is also a specific issue with regard to the actual birth that has now received specific recognition.

Fear and anxiety relating to childbirth has long been recognised as a significant issue affecting women's mental health during pregnancy, with references back into the 18th Century (21). The use of the term 'Fear of Childbirth' (FOC) as a specific concern emerged in the 1980's, with the term tokophobia¹⁵ first being used by Hofberg & Brockington in 2000 (158). The name tokophobia (or tocophobia) comes from the Ancient Greek 'τόκος (tókos) which translates to "birth" and φοβία (phobia). which means "fear" 16. This is characterised by a morbid and irrational fear, which results in panic attacks, nightmares, insomnia, shortness of breath, tachycardia, trembling and a strong desire to get away (21). Tokophobia is either primary when it occurs before or during the first pregnancy (primiparous women) or secondary in women who are pregnant again (multiparous women) (159).

Women who are experiencing tokophobia can have marked physical and emotional difficulties, including panic attacks, trembling, insomnia, nightmares, stomach aches (160,161). They may also be experiencing co-morbid problems, such as agoraphobia, PTSD, perinatal anxiety or depression. There are many behavioural consequences of tokophobia that impact on the women's health and wellbeing 17. For many women with tokophobia they will avoid pregnancy altogether through scrupulous contraception, those with secondary tokophobia may also have no wish for a further child and opt for contraception or sterilisation (158,162). There are others who might opt for adoption or have long delays between births as tokophobia does not mean that they do not wish to be a mother, just the thought of pregnancy and childbirth is more than they can cope with.

¹⁵ This condition is also known as maieusiophobia, which is a morbid dread of childbirth; parturiphobia and also lockiophobia (fear of pregnancy and childbirth)

¹⁶ https://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/tokophobia

¹⁷ Interestingly, tokophobia is not covered by the NHS Health A to Z (https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/)

For women who become pregnant some will have a termination (158) [or have a history of previous terminations (160,163)]. They may book late and being poor attenders at clinics (both infrequent or frequent at the clinic or with the GP), and are more likely to request an early epidural, a caesarean section (CS) or attempt to birth alone at home (21,163–166). There has been an association found between FOC and dystocia / protracted labour, but no evidence of fetal distress (167).

5.2 Prevalence

An attempt at identifying the prevalence of women affected was undertaken by O'Connell et al. (159) through a systematic review of 33 studies and a meta-analysis of 29 studies and was estimated at 14%. They add a note of caution as to its accuracy as many of the studies exploring the prevalence of tokophobia have been hampered by inconsistencies in the way the condition has been reported and measured. In a more recent study, which used researchers trained in undertaking a gold-standard diagnostic clinical interview found a reduced prevalence of 0.032%. with an overall prevalence for pregnancy related phobias at 1.5% (the majority being needle phobias). It is important to note, however, that the sample for this study was taken from those women who were identified at initial booking as having a positive Whooley response (see below for more details on this measure), but of those 882 were eligible, but 624 (71%) did not take part in the study (168). The nature of tokophobia may have been a factor in the low response rate. It is also worth noting that in Nath's study (169) of the use of the Generalised Anxiety Disorder scale in pregnancy 8 of the women who refused to take part had already disclosed severe trauma earlier during the research interview which were related to being physically abused, sexual abuse/rape and witnessing violence – all of which are contributory factors for tokophobia.

The best estimate of those affected by tokophobia therefore comes from the work of O'Connell et al, which put the figure at 14% of total births – accounting for 3,923 women in West Yorkshire and Harrogate (Table 14).

Table 14: Estimates of Tokophobia based on estimated 6% and 14% prevalence

	Bradford	Calderdale	Kirklees	Harrogate	Leeds	Wakefield	Total
Total births (2018)	6,936	2,170	4,652	1,305	9,270	3,687	28,020
Tokophobia risk (14%)	971	304	651	183	1,298	516	3,923

5.3 Risk factors for tokophobia

Studies that have explored who is at greatest risk of FOC have suggested that women who are a first time mother (although some studies suggestion multiparous women are more at risk (160)], prior history of anxiety or depression, women who are lonely or with poor social support, low perceived informational support, history of abuse, and those with low self-esteem (170–175). Women with a history of obsessive-compulsive behaviour have also been found to be more at risk, due to the fear of cleanliness and contamination (21,169). The most common cause relates to previous mental health problems and lack of social support (171,176).

The issue of abuse by healthcare professionals has been found to be a contributory factor in developing a FOC (175,177,178). Elsewhere in the world there have been reports of more significant abuse and violence against women by health professionals during their pregnancy and through their childbirth, which has also contributed to a fear factor – this may be an issue for women who are new migrants or asylum seekers (179–185).

O'Connell et al. (21) identified the following as being key characteristics of women with tokophobia:

- Young maternal age
- Advanced maternal Age (>40 years old)
- High socioeconomic status
- Low level of education
- Unemployment
- Smoking
- Anxiety before or during pregnancy
- Depression before or during pregnancy
- Single marital status
- High risk pregnancy factors such as: IVF pregnancy, gestational diabetes or congenital anomalies
- A previous C-section
- More common in nulliparous women
- In nulliparous women, tokophobia is associated with smoking
- Witnessing birth at a young age with no explanation

Women who have experienced female genital mutilation may also be at greater risk of fearing childbirth (186).

Women's fears were also driven by stories they have heard from friends and relatives, TV and media and through their searching of the internet (163). The most common concerns that drive the women's fear of childbirth are pain (174–176,187), the possibility of the episiotomy, and having no control over the event (175,176). Younger mothers in a study of 201 adolescent girls found over 75% had a fear of childbirth, with one-in-three appraising their birth experience as 'awful' or traumatic (151).

In parous women the risk of FOC was found to be increased after birth, suggesting that moderate to severe fear of childbirth may occur as a reaction to traumatic birth experience (164,188).

Interestingly a Dutch study found that those women who had elected to have a home birth were found to have a lower rate of FOC as compared to those who wished to have a hospital birth (189). In the 2 month follow-up questionnaire, even those women who were not able to have their preferred home birth were still less likely to show FOC.

5.4 Mental health problems with tokophobia

Experiencing tokophobia may lead to longer term mental health problems for the mother as it has been associated with an increased risk of developing PTSD or perinatal depression or with worsening pre-existing mental health problems (169,170). The long term nature of FOC was seen in a Swedish study (190) that returned to mothers 7 to 14 years after their first childbirth. Of the 63 women who had been identified as having FOC during their first pregnancy they were less likely to have a subsequent child, where more likely to have a CS in both their first and any subsequent pregnancies, more often had a less positive birth, received more counselling in subsequent pregnancies and still had FOC 7-14 years after their first child as compared to the 172 in the reference group.

Tokophobia may impact on the mother-child bonding (160), but there are no specific studies that have explored a direct link with FOC [most references refer back to the original article by Hofberg & Brockington (158)], however there is evidence that mothers with perinatal depression or PTSD may have issues with bonding and this may be co-occurring with the tokophobia. There may also be issues for women with tokophobia who avoid antenatal classes and be less prepared for managing their new baby.

The possibility also exists of low birth weight in mothers who have opted for an earlier birth. Stress during pregnancy has been associated with developmental outcomes for the child, with some studies also making a link with FOC (191,192).

5.5 Assessment tools

Women at first booking are not formally assessed for signs of tokophobia. With tokophobia having a strong link with previous trauma and mental health difficulties, which many may not wish to divulge, it is important that all women should be carefully assessed for signs of mental health difficulties at first booking and throughout their pregnancy. The NICE guidelines (39) for antenatal mental health advise that the two-question Generalised Anxiety Disorder (GAD-2) questionnaire be used:

- Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by feeling nervous, anxious or on edge?
- Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by not being able to stop or control worrying?

They also advocate the use of the Whooley questions:

- During the last month, have you often been bothered by feeling down, depressed or hopeless?
- During the last month have you often been bothered by having little interest or pleasure in doing things?

These questions have been used in a number of research studies to identify women at risk of mental health problems (157,168,193–195). In many cases, however, the first clear sign of FOC is when the women requests a caesarean section (196).

If a woman is identified as having either depression or anxiety disorder NICE advise the use of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) or the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) and the GAD-7 scale (197). In addition, they advocate the women should be referred on to their GP or to a mental health professional. They are not tools that will formally identify tokophobia.

The most common tool used to assess severity of FOC is the 33-item Wijma Delivery Expectancy/Experience Questionnaire (W-DEQ in the original paper, shortened subsequently to WDEQ)(198). This has two forms, WDEQ A for use during pregnancy and WDEQ B to be used after childbirth. WDEQ is scored from 0-165 item with the recognised score for severe fear of childbirth at cut-off scores that varied between 66, 85, and 100 according to studies that aimed to measure high/severe FOC. A score below 37 shows low fear, with a score of ≥85 usually used to denote high fear (162) and it has been suggested that it is also important to identify women scoring ≥66 as they may also need specific support (199).

Although this is widely recognised as the most reliable and valid tool for identifying FOB it is also long and not very practicable in everyday practice (200,201). Alternatives include the Fear of Birth Scale (FOBS). The FOBS is a two-item scale, which assesses both fear of birth and worry over the pregnancy. This asks, 'How do you feel right now about the approaching birth?' by marking two crosses on two 100mm visual analogue scales, anchored by the words: worried/calm and strong fear/no fear. These two scores were averaged to give a FOBS overall total score (201). This measure has been used in a number of studies to explore fear and has been found that those women who score over 60 are highly predictive of scoring over 85 on the WDEQ scale and should be followed up (201–204). A Swedish interview based study on 31 women's views of completing the measure found it to be mostly acceptable (205).

The Pan London Tokophobia best practice toolkit (206) offers the following key questions to ask the mother:

- How do you feel about the pregnancy? (look for ambivalent or negative emotions, anxiety symptoms)
- What are your thoughts and plans for childbirth? (if she requests a caesarean section but there is no medical indication for it, explore the reasons why)
- What are your feelings towards the baby? (ask during pregnancy as well as
 postnatally; tokophobia and/or birth trauma are likely to make it more difficult
 to form a bond with the baby)
- What was your previous experience of childbirth like? (where applicable; look for symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder such as frequent thoughts/images of the birth, flashbacks, nightmares, avoiding reminders of the birth)

They also advocate the use of the Wijma Delivery Expectancy Questionnaire and the Fear of Birth scale. For secondary tokophobia they advise the use of the Impact of Events Scale-Revised [IES-R] (207).

The Perinatal Anxiety Screening Scale (PASS), has been found to be a useful tool for identifying women at risk of pregnancy related anxiety, but it is not yet shown to be sensitive to specific phobias (208).

At the time of writing a Tokophobia pathway is being developed, which will be a welcome development.

5.6 Interventions

Supporting women to come to terms with their fears and anxieties can reduce the number of CSs and helping the women to have a more relaxed birth. This can help shorten the labour and to reduce the risk of a vacuum extraction (209). It can also reduce the possibility of going on to develop perinatal depression or PTSD.

A key feature from the literature is that the women have a deep sense of uncertainty over what is happening to them and their baby and they need for a safe, secure and consistent service which is focused onto their needs. Having good communication with the practitioners enables the woman to face her fears and have confidence in themselves and the service. For this to occur there needs to be a willingness on behalf of the clinical team to acknowledge the woman's concerns and to provide the women with a sense of control over the process. This empowerment of the women enables her to birth on her own terms and helps the women to both acknowledge her fears and to build her confidence in overcoming them.

NHS London tokophobia best practice toolkit¹⁸ offers a very comprehensive set of guidelines on how to support the women with tokophobia. It would be worth considering adopting their approach. All women identified as being at risk are referred through to a specialist mental health midwife / consultant midwife for assessment and put onto a tokophobia care pathway.

5.6.1 Caseload management

Having continuity with a known midwife has been found to be an important factor in helping women overcome FOC and go on to have a normal birth. In a small Swedish feasibility study (210) 10 women with a score of 60 or more on the FOBS received standard care with the addition of a known midwife through the pregnancy and an invite onto a psycho-prophylaxis course, all but one had their fears alleviated or disappear, with 8 having a vaginal birth with a positive or very positive birth experience. The benefit of a caseload model was also found in another small Swedish study (211), which found the creation of a 'trustful woman-midwife relationship' a key factor in helping the woman overcome her fears.

Women with severe FOC (WDEQ ≥90), but not those with levels ≥66, were found to benefit from heart rate variability (HRV) biofeedback (StressEraser) programme at home in a Japanese study of 97 low risk women (212). This intervention was carried out each evening and was based on relaxation and deep breathing exercises linked to their heart rate via a finger monitor. It is suggested that severe FOC is associated with greater parasymphathetic activity, which can be reduced through this intervention. For all the women who took part in the study there was a subjective improvement in their fear of childbirth, with a reduction in WDEQ scores and improved sleep.

5.6.2 Complementary therapy

¹⁸ https://www.healthylondon.org/resource/tokophobia-best-practice-toolkit/

An analysis (213) of the effectiveness of Haptotherapy, which is based on increasing self-awareness and helping to normalise the childbirth through series of 8 sessions with a certified healthcare haptotherapist who is specialized in the treatment of pregnant women with severe fear of childbirth. The study found that recruitment and retention was problematic, with 11 switching themselves to the haptotherapy group of their own volition. The comparator groups were psycho-education via the internet and care as usual. The study found that the intervention group showed a significant decrease of fear of childbirth. As the partner is also invited to the haptotherapy groups they suggest that there is an additional benefit in increasing their feelings of social support.

5.6.3 Interventions that have been structured around group work

A Finnish study (214) focused onto group work with 105 women identified as having severe FOC, which were run by a psychologist using the Nyytti intervention¹⁹. This comprises a 6 week programme and a follow-up session 6-8 weeks postpartum. They found a decrease in FOC over the duration of the sessions. There were some women who refused to take part in the groups due to not wanting to share their emotions, there were also some women who were not helped by the initiative.

5.6.4 Internet-based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (ICBT)

In a study (215) exploring the differences between internet-based ICBT and standard care (face-to-face counselling) in Sweden, the ICBT comprised 8 treatment modules specifically designed to address fear in pregnancy, with written feedback from a psychologist. Of the 127 women recruited onto the ICBT there was a decrease from 34% wanting a caesarean section (CS) to 12% by the time of birth and from 24% to 20 % in the face-to-face counselling group. In the postpartum 2 months' follow up, the preference for a CS had again risen to 20% in the ICBT group and 29% in the counselling group. The actual mode of delivery did not alter between the two groups, but the majority (65%) had a vaginal birth and 10 a planned CS. What was important to note from the study was that the women preferred the face-to-face counselling, with a high drop out from the ICBT intervention. The challenging nature of ICBT and the greater requirement for commitment may be a factor, or the preference for a more 'supportive' personal contact through face-to-face counselling.

The use of an internet based CBT self-help manual for women with FOC was evaluated by the authors of the report in a Swedish study (216) of 28 primiparous women. The women completed exercises over an 8 week period, with submitted homework and a mapping of their fear levels. At the start of the intervention the 28 women had a mean WDEQ score of 125. Of the 15 who completed the 8 weeks the WDEQ mean had dropped to 81.6. All women's score fell, but some more than others with 3 still having a mean score of 109, 8 women had dropped to below 65. Post-birth follow up interviews with the women suggested that the women found it a positive intervention, appreciating the home based work (although they were surprised by the volume of work involved), the feedback, and that it had helped with their fears. However, they did voice a preference to have seen their therapist face-to-

¹⁹ This comprises a group intervention and integrates psycho-education, the lifespan model of motivation and practices to support mentalisation and mind-body connection.

face. For those who did not complete the programme the researchers suggest they may have been put off by the exposure of what was to come too difficult and they advocate greater preparation of the women at the start of the programme as to what to expect.

The same authors undertook an narrative based study (217) of 15 nulliparous women with severe FOC (WDEQ ≥85) before and after an ICBT intervention. Each woman was asked to describe in writing their thoughts on five different scenarios pertaining to their pregnancy and birth during the first week and at the end of the 8 week programme. Between these two time points all the women had improved their attitude towards their birth with it now seeming more manageable.

In a ICBT randomised controlled trial in Sweden (218) 276 women who scored over 60 on the FOBS were recruited into either an intervention group receiving or standard care group. The intervention comprised a guided 8-session self-help programme based on CBT over the internet. The psychologist running the project made contact with the women both through a portal and via calls. There was a decrease in fear of birth in both the intervention and control groups – which they surmise is due to a natural reduction in FOC over time from when the initial screening took place. There was a larger reduction in fear of birth 1 year postpartum in the ICBT intervention group, which they could not explain. What was noticeable in the study was the high drop out from the ICBT group (over 50% drop out), which lead them to suggest it was not a feasible or well-accepted approach for treating FOC.

5.6.5 Counselling

Midwifery-led counselling for women with FOC has been found to have a positive effect. The key features found in a Swedish interview study of 27 women with a FOBS score above 60 at recruitment appear to be the building of a trusting relationship with the midwife and instilling a 'sense of calm and preparedness', which helps build confidence and empowerment in the woman (219). However not all the women found the counselling helpful and in an earlier study women who did not receive counselling tended to fair better (220).

A study into the effectiveness of crisis-orientated counselling to reduce the number of women requesting CS for FOC was undertaken in Norway (221). Eighty-Six women who had been identified as having a fear of childbirth received an individual crisis-orientated intervention with the team midwife, with 2 hours for the first session and then individual plans for follow up meetings. After the intervention 74 (86%) had changed their thinking about the birth. Of those with low obstetric risk 96% gave birth vaginally, of those with high obstetric risk 54% gave birth vaginally and 22 (46%) were delivered by CS for medical reasons. Twelve women (14%) with severe fear (2 of which were nulliparous) kept their request for a planned CS. A follow up questionnaire showed 98% were satisfied with the counselling service, with 46 who had a CS wanting a vaginal delivery in the future.

5.6.6 Psycho-educative group therapy

Group therapy has been used to help women with FOC. In a trial of psychoeducative group intervention in Finland (209) 90 women with a WDEQ score over 100 and their partners were recruited to take part in the groups, whilst the 240 women in the control group had usual care. This usual care included 106 requiring specialist support and the remaining 134 being cared for by the community midwife and GP. The intervention groups comprised 6 women, with 6 sessions each lasting 2 hours and run by the same psychologist. An additional session was run with the mums and their newborn's 6 weeks after delivery (details of the sessions are included in the paper). More women in the intervention group went on to have a vaginal delivery as compared to the control group (87.7% vs 77.4%), however this was not statistically significant. They note that women having the opportunity to share different and often contradictory feelings towards delivery and parenthood in the group helps normalise and diminish feelings of inferiority and indignity.

In a systematic review and metanalysis for reducing FOC, the majority [8] of the studies they focused on were educational, with two that had focused onto the use of hypnosis (222). They found that antenatal class education was more effective than psycho-educational approaches, with both more than twice as effective as self-hypnosis. Nevertheless, all approaches to tackling FOC were found to significantly reduce FOC.

5.6.7 Childbirth Education

A 2-hour enhanced childbirth education session held at the maternity hospital was found to be effective in reducing childbirth related fear than a control group who received normal care (223). There were 338 in the intervention group and 321 in the control group. They found the intervention was most effective for tackling fears over specific labour issues, such as how to push or what's involved in an episiotomy, though normalisation and discussion.

5.6.8 Yoga

Yoga has a long standing reputation for being good for both physical and emotional health. A single session of yoga was found to reduce both subjective and physiological effects of anxiety, with a course of yoga showing further significant improvements in 31 nulliparous low risk women as compared to the 28 women were recruited onto a treatment as usual group (224).

5.6.9 Art therapy

In an art based therapy study (225) aimed at women with severe FOC 39 women were recruited onto an art therapy intervention, with 43 in the control group who received normal care. The art therapy comprised 5 sessions of 1½ hours duration. Women from both the intervention and the control group reduced their WDEQ score, with no significant difference shown. The study was small scale and found recruitment difficult, with the length of the sessions being seen as a hinderance.

5.6.10 Doula support

Having continuous support through the childbirth has been shown to reduce the number of women needing a caesarean section. A Cochrane review (226) of continuous support suggests that having a person who is not part of the mother's own family, has experience of supporting women through labour and has had some training appears to be beneficial.

An evaluation of the benefit of having doula²⁰ support for disadvantaged women was undertaken by Spiby and colleagues (227). One hundred and sixty seven women completed a questionnaire and 13 women took part in focus group discussions with the findings suggesting that the service was highly valued and had a positive effect on the women's psycho-social wellbeing over the labour and was particularly welcomed by women from a disadvantaged background. This was evident even when the support was during the pregnancy, but not actually at the birth. Their ongoing support also helped increase the number of mothers breastfeeding and helped the women access statutory services. One aspect of the service that was problematic was in relation to the ending of the relationship, which some women found upsetting and a loss, as they had valued their support, with the suggestion that the service should be extended beyond the six-week period to help get the women over the time of peak incidence for post-natal depression (228).

5.6.11 Internet support groups / information

There are a number of internet support options available for women who are struggling with tokophobia including:

- Tommy's website: which has a section on "Fear of childbirth"²¹
- NCT: Tokophobia: how to get over extreme fear of giving birth ²²
- Netmums: 6 ways to ease your fear of childbirth ²³
- VeryWellMind Tokophobia: Fear of Childbirth and Pregnancy²⁴
- Tokophobia Support Network²⁵

5.7 Women's experiences

A recent meta synthesis (229) of qualitative studies on women with FOC found the common narrative running through the papers included was that the women were 'at a point of no return'. Having become pregnant, they were forced to confront their situation, with their anxieties fuelled by their own previous experiences or from hearing of other women who had traumatic childbirth. They also found the women felt they had lost control and were fearful of a painful birth or a pregnancy with no guarantee of a success, either for them or their child.

²⁰ The role of a doula (Greek for 'handmaiden') is regulated; to become a mentored Doula they have to complete a Doula UK approved Preparation Course and be involved in Doula UK's Recognition Process.

^{21 &}lt;a href="https://www.tommys.org/pregnancy-information/im-pregnant/mental-wellbeing/specific-mental-health-conditions/tokophobia-fear-qiving-birth">https://www.tommys.org/pregnancy-information/im-pregnant/mental-wellbeing/specific-mental-health-conditions/tokophobia-fear-qiving-birth

https://www.nct.org.uk/pregnancy/how-you-might-be-feeling/tokophobia-how-get-over-extreme-fear-giving-birth

 $^{23 \ {\}rm https://w\underline{www.netmums.com/pregnancy/fear-of-giving-birth}$

²⁴ https://www.verywellmind.com/tokophobia-overview-4684507

²⁵ https://www.facebook.com/groups/tokophobiasupportnetwork/

In a UK based interview study (230) with 10 women who were identified as having FOC through standard care and referred through to a consultant midwife. Three of the sample were primiparous and 7 were multiparous. Six themes were identified from the primiparous women: 1. Fear of inability to cope with the pain, 2. Fear of my body's inability to give birth, 3. Fear of harm or stress to the baby, 4. Fear of the unpredictability of childbirth, 5. Fear of my lack of ability to plan and 6. Fear of harm to self, 7. Fear of long-term implications of damage from labour and childbirth, and 8. Not being 'heard' during labour or having an ability to influence what happens. The interviews with the multiparous women also found these same themes, with the addition of three additional themes: 9. Fear of being abandoned/alone in labour and childbirth, 10. Fear of length of labour and 11. Fear of intervention (including any processes that made them feel 'done to'). This study included interviews with experienced midwives on what they thought were the women's main concerns. Fear of the unknown was a key feature from the two sets of interviews alongside the role of uncertainty and unpredictability in the birth process eliciting fear.

An interview based study with mothers and fathers in Northern Ireland found that fear of the pain and not being able to have a normal birth were the main fears (231).

How women saw midwives was the focus of a Norwegian study (232) of 13 mothers identified as having a fear of childbirth, with the key finding being the importance of creating a trusting and caring relationship. This was achieved through having a continuity of care.

5.8 Fathers / co-mothers and family

There is a growing literature on the impact of pregnancy and childbirth on fathers, with men experiencing PTSD, perinatal depression and other emotional difficulties (233–237). There are also fathers that are affected by fear of birth, both through their partner's difficulties with tokophobia and also their own fears (238,239). In an Irish study, fathers were anxious that their wives mental health would be affected by a traumatic birth (231), this was also a significant factor in a Swedish study of men who had portrayed intense fear over the pregnancy (238).

The experiences of lesbian co-mothers on fear of childbirth is under-researched. One team from Sweden that has explored this issue has found that tokophobia may influence the choice as to which partner will give birth and also both partners experiences both during the pregnancy, labour and postnatally (240,241).

5.9 Midwives experiences of tokophobia

With apprehension and a general anxiety about being pregnant and facing childbirth being a very common phenomena it is part of the midwife's everyday experiences with women. Facing a more morbid fear is less common.

From the Netherlands a study of 217 midwives on midwives knowledge and practice relating to FOC and PTSD found that their knowledge and awareness was greater for FOC than for PTSD (242). In part this was seen as a greater exposure of women with a FOC (most had seen more than 5 per year) as compared to PTSD (1-5 per

year). Also, midwives will have had more conversations with the women about their anxieties approaching this current birth than dwelling on previous traumatic births.

In a similar study from Sweden, 726 midwives completed a questionnaire on FOC, over 2/3rds thought that the prevalence had increased over the last 10 years, which they felt was both a greater awareness in both the public and the profession (243). The sample reported that they saw FOC as more of an issue for parous women, as a consequence of previous traumatic births, which might suggest they are not looking at nulliparous women as being at risk. The midwives working in antenatal care clinics mostly reported that the women did not need psychotherapy but should be referred through to their FOC team. Those working in labour wards were mostly (95.2%) of the opinion that women with FOC should have a vaginal delivery and not a CS. Both sets of midwives felt that they intuitively recognised when a woman has FOC.

A deeper view of how midwives see women with FOC was given in a Swedish qualitative study comprising 4 focus group with 13 midwives (244). The study was based on the experiences of the midwives running counselling sessions with the women. The common theme that emerged was that the midwives were trying to create a safe space where the women could explore their previous and present fears of childbirth. This involved creating a reliable and trusting relationship and showing a dedication to the women. The midwives had to work at regaining the confidence in the women, especially when previous labours had not gone well. They did acknowledge that the sessions could be difficult and emotionally challenging and there was a need for good supervision. They also note there were no guidelines on how the counselling should be provided and a lack of women focused care models sometimes created conflicts in supporting the women through their labour.

5.10 Summary

- Many women have a fear of childbirth (FOC), which is different from tokophobia, which has been defined as a severe anxiety disorder characterized by an extreme, irrational fear of childbirth, which provokes a physiological response(21).
- Tokophobia is either primary when it occurs before or during the first pregnancy (primiparous women) or secondary in women who are pregnant again (multiparous women).
- Based the 2018 birth numbers and using O'Connell et al's prevalence estimate of 14%, 3,923 women are at risk of tokophobia across West Yorkshire and Harrogate.
- Tokophobia can be caused by previous negative experiences of childbirth, having heard of others experiences or through a deep feeling of loss of control and anxieties over the potential outcomes of the pregnancy.
- Women with a history of mental health difficulties and those women who have experienced sexual violence, previous loss and previous surgeries are also found to be at greater risk.

- Tokophobia can lead to perinatal depression, anxiety and an increased risk of developing PTSD, it can also lead to difficulties with mother-child bonding.
- Key support mechanisms for women include an early assessment of risk in the pregnancy initially through the Whooley questions (for depression) and the two-question GAD-2 questionnaire (for anxiety).
- In women deemed to be at risk the assessment guidance offered by the new Wakefield Tokophobia Pathway or the Pan-London tokophobia toolkit reflects best practice and includes general detection questions coupled with the risk the Fear of Birth Scale (FOBS) scale or the Wijma Delivery Expectancy/Experience Questionnaire [WDEQ] for primary tokophobia and the Impact of Events Scale-Revised [IES-R] for secondary tokophobia.
- Forming a strong and therapeutic bond with a known midwife is very important, with most papers preferring a continuity of carer / caseload management approach.
- Face to face interventions appear to be most beneficial.
- Formal counselling, whether by the midwife (as seen in some countries) or a psychologist have been found to be effective.
- Educational support to normalise the pregnancy and birth planning to address fears has also been found to be beneficial.
- For those without good partner support the use of a doula should be considered.
- Guidance on external support, such as internet support groups or local organisations should be given early in the pregnancy.
- For those women who report (or appear) distressed by having a birth contrary to their expectations they should be supported as per the guidance in the traumatic birth and other sections of the report to help prevent tokophobia in subsequent births.

6. Birth trauma

6.1 Introduction

The risk of postpartum post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) has become recognised as a separate and significant cause of depression in women over the last 20 years. Those women who experience 'the perfect storm of trauma' of physical or emotional trauma prior to their pregnancy, along with difficulties through their pregnancy, a traumatic birth and then parenting difficulties were found to be at the greatest risk (245).

A traumatic birth has been defined as "The emergence of a baby from its mother in a way that involves events or care that cause deep distress or psychological disturbance, which may or may not involve physical injury, but results in psychological distress of an enduring nature" (246). An alternative definition of birth trauma has been provided by the Prevention and Treatment of Traumatic Birth (PATTCh) organisation "A birth is said to be traumatic when the individual (mother, father, or other witness believes the mother's or her baby's life was in danger, or that a serious threat to the mother's or her baby's physical or emotional integrity existed."

Having an instrumental or assisted birth, caesarean section, employing general anaesthesia, performing the Kristeller manoeuvre (fundal pressure, third/fourth degree perineal tears, postpartum haemorrhage, and manual removal of the placenta have been identified as risk factors for PTSD at 4-6 weeks both for preterm or full term delivery even when the delivery is obstetrically straightforward (197,247,248).

There is also another definition of trauma, which recognises that it is not just the physical trauma of the birth that requires careful management. Experiencing adversity, whether it be a single event or multiple negative experiences, can have a significant impact on the emotional health of the woman during their pregnancy and into parenthood (248–252). Those who are most at risk include:

- Women who have had adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), whether it be sexual abuse, physical or emotional maltreatment
- Refugees / asylum seekers
- Women from Black, Asian and Minority ethnic communities
- Women who have had genital mutilation (FGM)
- o Intimate partner physical or emotional abuse
- Women in prison
- Homeless women and those living in poverty
- Those with chronic ill-health or disability

A traumatic birth may be associated with negative short and long-term impacts for women including PTSD symptoms such as flashbacks, nightmares, hypervigilance, and also reduced self-confidence and self-esteem, mother-infant attachment difficulties, relationship difficulties with partners, breastfeeding discontinuation, social

²⁶ http://pattch.org/resource-guide/traumatic-births-and-ptsd-definition-and-statistics/

isolation, reduced take-up of healthcare and prevention or delay of future conceptions (253). An analysis of symptom presentation in 2009 found that in 1,423 women there were two principle symptom clusters, one on re-experiencing and avoidance (RA) and one on numbing and arousal (NA), with the later strongly associated with general distress, such that it can be difficult to separate out what are normal responses to childbirth and what can be seen as a sign of impending PTSD and warranting intervention.

Studies that have explored the impact of PTSD on mother-child bonding have suggested issues with regard to mother-infant interaction – but many of these studies are difficult to compare and have been seen to have weaknesses that make the findings less robust (254–258). The most recent review of PTSD and mother-baby bonding (257) suggests that it is likely that there may be issues for the mother's interpretation of the babies behaviour which may impact on their relationship. A study (258) conducted in Croatia on 603 mothers of infants aged 1-12 months using the City Birth Trauma Scale (CityBiTS), found that there were bonding issues when the general PTSD symptoms were considered on the CityBiTS scale, but not from the birth symptoms on the scale. The important symptoms where those related to arousal and most symptoms of negative cognitions and mode (such as feeling irritable and tense, having problems concentrating and feeling detached from other people). This led the women to feel detached from their baby and difficulty in bonding. There was also found to be an in-direct effect as a result of co-morbid depression.

There is evidence that women who are experiencing PTSD symptoms, both antenatally and postpartum are less likely to breastfeed (253,257,259,260), however the studies done so far have had low numbers of affected women. It has been suggested that the same mechanism which affects women with perinatal depression and breastfeeding are similar to those seen with PTSD.

6.1.1 Post-traumatic stress disorder

According to the 2018 NICE guidelines on PTSD (261) the symptoms for PTSD include:

- re-experiencing (such as spontaneous thoughts, flashbacks, nightmares of the event)
- avoidance (avoiding memories, thoughts, reminders of the birth)
- hyperarousal (including hypervigilance, self-destructive, anger and irritability)
- negative alterations in mood and thinking (disrupted memories, sense of blame, isolation from others, low affect)
- emotional numbing
- dissociation
- emotional dysregulation
- interpersonal difficulties or problems in relationships
- negative self-perception (including feeling diminished, defeated or worthless

The Guidelines (261) recognise childbirth as a possible cause of PTSD. They recommend when assessing for PTSD that specific questions are asked relating to: re-experiencing, avoidance, hyperarousal, dissociation, negative alterations in mood

and thinking, and associated functional impairment. An individual with PTSD requires an assessment that takes into consideration their physical, psychological and social needs and a risk assessment.

In a 2019 study that undertook a synthesis of research papers on PTSD following traumatic birth they found that there were some predictors of those who might be at risk of PTSD (262). These included those women who had experienced prior trauma, such as childhood sexual abuse or partner violence and those with a history of psychiatric disorders. For PTSD following birth, those most at risk were those women with low levels of support during the birth itself (from partners, family members or from the clinicians), those who needed a caesarean birth (especially emergency CS (263,264)), and those who had a negative birth experience. They also found that there were papers reporting co-morbidity with postpartum depression.

The relationship between PTSD and perinatal depression was explored in a 2019 study of 685 women recruited through postpartum websites in relation to their childbirth experiences and psychological consequences (265). They found the majority of women with PTSD following a traumatic birth also had symptoms of depression, which they argue should be seen as a single posttraumatic stress-depressive response and not just another dimension of perinatal depression.

The majority of women who have a traumatic birth recover without intervention, but there are a high proportion of women who go on to develop longer term problems. In a Turkish study exploring 226 women's longitudinal trajectories at 4-6 weeks and 6 months following a traumatic birth found that 61.9% showed resilience (minimal/mild disruption or absence of elevated symptoms), 18.5% showed recovery (initial significant disruption and elevated PTSD symptoms which resolves after some time), 13.7% had chronic dysfunction (elevated PTSD symptoms that are maintained over time) and 5.8% had delayed-PTSD (worsening of symptoms over time) (188). They also found that resilient women were more likely to have been satisfied with their health professionals, had good social support at all time points as well as less depression, fear of childbirth and fewer traumas since birth. Affective symptoms (depression and anxiety combined) at 4-6 weeks postpartum emerged as strong predictors of birth-related PTSD trajectories. Poor satisfaction with health professionals was associated with chronic-PTSD and delayed-PTSD.

6.2 Prevalence

It has been estimated that up to 30% of women can experience their birth as traumatic, with between 20% and 48% of women who experience a traumatic birth experiencing some PTSD symptoms that can affect their life, but not lead onto a diagnosable PTSD (266).

Nath et al., in their detailed study of the prevalence of anxiety disorders, using a clinical interview in an inner city study in the UK found a prevalence of 0.8% of PTSD. However, the authors noted that there were women who refused to answer the questions relating to PTSD but had previously reported past histories of abuse. When the prevalence calculation was adjusted to make an assumption that they did have PTSD the number affected rose to 4% (169). This study has relevance as it demonstrates the number of women who may not be willing to disclose PTSD to

clinicians. This issue of non-disclosure within a study, despite previous trauma, was also found in the Howard et al., study into the validity of the Whooley questions (168).

A review and meta-analysis of 59 studies (267) into the prevalence of PTSD during pregnancy and postpartum found that there was a 3.3% chance of PTSD during pregnancy and between a 4% and 6% chance of PTSD as a consequence of birth in the normal community. These rose to 18.95% in high risk women who were pregnant (as a consequence of complicated pregnancy or re-triggering of previous trauma) and 18.5% following birth in women who are identified as 'high-risk'. These high risk women were those who had experienced a previous difficult or traumatic birth, had emergency caesarean sections, severe fear of birth, a history of sexual/physical violence or childhood abuse, babies that were born very low birth weight, preterm, or diagnosed with fetal anomaly, or who had severe pregnancy complications such as hyperemesis gravida, pre-eclampsia or HELLP²⁷ syndrome. This study also found that PTSD prevalence increases between one and six months postpartum and that self-reported questionnaire measures had a similar prevalence rates to clinical interviews.

Basing an estimate of prevalence on 4% there were 1,121 women at risk of developing PTSD as a result of birth trauma across West Yorkshire and Harrogate (Table 15) in 2018.

Table 15 Estimated risk of developing PTSD as a result of birth trauma across WY&F	-
--	---

	Bradford	Calderdale	Kirklees	Harrogate	Leeds	Wakefield	Total
Total births	6936	2170	4652	1305	9270	3687	28020
Birth trauma (4% of birth)	277	87	186	52	371	147	1,121

6.3 Assessment tools

There is still not a universally accepted measure of PTSD following childbirth. Ayers and colleagues (268) developed The City Birth Trauma Scale (CityBiTS), which recognises the criteria for PTSD as described in the latest edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-5) (269) and is structured to make it more valid for women during pregnancy and childbirth, as compared to trauma from other causes. The scale was found to be both reliable and valid in identifying women at risk. In two subsequent validation studies the scale was again found to be an effective measure (270,271). It is noted, however that all these studies have been self-completed by the women themselves and not accompanied by a clinical interview or with high-risk women.

An American scale (Structured Trauma-Related Experiences and Symptoms Screener for Adults STRESS-A), which was developed for PTSD in the wider community has been adapted for a perinatal context. It showed promise, but has had limited validation (272).

59

 $^{^{\}rm 27}$ A rare liver and blood clotting disorder that can affect pregnant women (343)

A Dutch evaluation (273) of two instruments (Traumatic Event Scale-B [TES-B] and the PTSD Symptom Scale-Self Report [PSS-SR], which are used within the maternal setting to identify PTSD, found limited agreement between the two scales. The measures also failed to confirm the DSM-IV three symptom categories, as the identified subdimensions distinguished only between childbirth-related factors (reexperiencing/avoidance) and more general symptoms of depression and anxiety (hyperarousal/ numbing). Thomson & Downe in their survey of emotions and support needs following a distressing birth had a narrative component alongside their modified PSS Scale (266). They found that their respondents had elements not covered in the instrument. These included on-going mistrust of professionals, health complications, negative self-internalisations of guilt and failure, and concerns over future conceptions.

It has been suggested that at the time of a traumatic event the brain "switches off" to help deal with the enormity of the stress (261,274,275). This peritraumatic dissociation can be both a protective factor but it can also lead to longer term problems through the interference with processing and memory formation around the event. There may be a need for women who have been through a traumatic birth to be assessed using the Peritraumatic Dissociative Experiences Questionnaire (PDEQ) to help identify those who may be at risk of PTSD (see Thiel & Deker (275) for more details).

There were differences expressed between on-line completion and in-person completion with a practitioner, with the latter preferred by women with a previous history of mental health problems (276). They found women without a known mental health history who struggled with emotional problems were inclined towards less interactive approaches and reported a reluctance to share their concerns. They suggest that having a variety of approaches to screening and better awareness raising of the purpose of the screening and its outcomes is needed.

Self-report measurement of PTSD tends to lead to higher numbers being identified that through structured clinical interview. This might be due to the strict criteria used in the interview missing some women at risk, or that the self-report leads to a greater number of false-positive diagnosis and a label of PTSD that is not warranted and might be more damaging (263).

The timing of the assessment is also important, as many women who may be distressed at the time of birth recover without intervention. It has been suggested that assessment should not occur until 4-6 weeks post birth (277).

6.4 Interventions

There are many women who are suffering from PTSD but are not receiving any support. Some authors suggest this is due to self-blame and being uninformed about the nature of PTSD and how it can affect them (278). There are also issues with regard to women's willingness to engage with mental health screening (169,278). A Canadian qualitative study of new mothers found that there were issues of health literacy and for some an lack of recognition of their own emotional states, but there was also fear of the consequences, such as being stigmatised, or seen as unable to cope or risking losing their child (276). In many cases, however, they were just not

aware that they were able to access support, or had long waits for referrals (245,266). There is a need for more research into how the barriers for many women to disclose trauma and trauma related symptoms can be overcome, with Nath et al. suggesting that more sensitive methods for asking women about trauma need to be found (169).

There may be issues with regard to the midwife's awareness of PTSD and what signs to look out for. In a survey of midwives knowledge and awareness of FOC and PTSD they were much less aware of PTSD and over 18% of the 257 midwives in the sample were unable to answer any of the knowledge questions relating to signs and signals, psychological risk factors or possible consequences (242). In part this was seen as due to their relative lack of exposure to women with PTSD (between 1 and five per year).

When women do access services there is still uncertainty as to what provision should be provided. A 2017 systematic review (279) exploring primary prevention of PTSD found no studies that had explored primary prevention, only secondary prevention. The papers that had explored secondary prevention were deemed to be inconclusive. The only intervention that they reported as having a stronger evidence base for was the use of expressive writing, where the women were asked two days postpartum to note down their thoughts, expectations and emotions related to the delivery.

A review has been undertaken by Thomson & Garrett (280) with 54 respondents representing 54 different NHS hospital trusts from all geographic regions of England of current provision for women post-traumatic/distressing birth. They found that the majority (n=46) had a formal afterbirth/listening service, with 8 having an informal service. Attendance was variable, but as it was not recorded in many of the services provided the estimates were given as between 30 to over 300 per annum. Over 50% received no specific funding or allocated hours. Over 83% reported the service had evolved out of a direct response to women's needs, with others as a Trust decision due to complaints received from women. Only 24.1% had based their delivery on scientific/theoretical best practice.

In the majority (59.3%) of cases it was the midwife who solely provided the care, the rest were in conjunction with doctors and/or psychologists. Over 40% of the services were provided by professionals with no specific training. In only 18.5% of services had all the professionals accessed any related training. For those that had received training it varied considerably, from a day course through to the Birth Trauma Resolution Practitioner Training (accredited by Royal College of Midwives).

The majority of women attending were informed of the service by their health professional as there was a reluctance to widely promote the service due to limited capacity. Some were developing new ways to advertise the service, such as posters, via a Facebook page. There were few referrals as a result of routine screening (11.1%) or for those women who had had a potentially traumatic birth (27.8%). The timeframe for appointments also varied from site to site.

The majority of the services focused their appointment around what the women requested to know, such as details of the birth and why certain decisions were made.

The practitioners sought to normalise the women's reactions and to discuss future pregnancies. Only 55.6% provided women with information on birth trauma. The majority (89%) would refer a woman on to more specialist mental health services as needed, fewer would provide information or encouragement to access wider support from personal networks (63%) or organisations such as the Birth Trauma Association (55.6%). The survey did not include a question relating to support for partners/family members. What was promising was that 83.3% of the afterbirth services provided the women with advice and guidance regarding future pregnancies.

There were more specialised services available in 39 NHS trusts: including perinatal psychiatry, clinical psychology, specialist midwives (i.e. mental health), consultations with other clinicians (i.e. consultant mid- wife, anaesthetist, neonatologist, obstetrician), counselling, perinatal mental health and bereavement services. With one trust having a multi-professional team reviewing each case.

The use of perineal ultrasound and a visual biofeedback for women in the second stage of labour such that they were able to see the impact of their pushing on the babies progress was used with 26 women in Israel (281). This was found to increase the women's feeling of maternal connectedness postpartum and decreased symptoms of acute stress 2 days postpartum as compared to a comparable control group.

6.4.1 Debriefing

In 2000 a randomised controlled trial of midwife led debriefing (282) using an intervention based on a 1 hour discussion prior to discharge where the women were given a structured opportunity to discuss their experiences. They found the intervention did not reduce the risk of depression, and in fact there was signs that it had made it worse for the women. At the time of the debrief the women reported that it was 'helpful', however it has been suggested that it prevents the woman from processing her own experiences, can lead to re-traumatization, and through medicalising the event it prolongs the recovery (283).

Despite these early warnings Ayers and colleagues (284) noted in 2006 that debriefing was commonly practiced, with three models evident:

- Structured psychological debriefing as proposed for use following traumatic events,
- Midwife or obstetrician led debriefing where professionals review the events of a woman's pregnancy and birth experience with her
- 'Birth Afterthoughts' services run by midwives to discuss the events of birth with the woman.

They noted that these approaches lacked an evidence base and was actively discouraged within the then current guidelines (285), which is still the case in the current 2018 guidelines (261). Similarly, a 2015 Cochrane Review (286) of debriefing for women following a traumatic birth found there was insufficient evidence that there was any difference with routine postnatal care. The reviewers did warn, however, that the studies tended to be of a small scale, with deficiencies in the study designs and larger more robust studies were needed.

Nevertheless, studies have shown that women have difficulty processing their birth memories and the trauma they experienced and that they have a need have an opportunity to review and discuss what happened (266,287). A literature review undertaken by Baxter et al. (288) on the current practice of debriefing in 2014 found no evidence that there was a decrease in morbidity, but the women were very positive about having the chance to discuss their experiences with a midwife. This helped prevent the women feeling that their expectations had not been met and a means of reassurance regarding future pregnancies, it was also suggested as a means of reducing the likelihood of complaints. The timing of this opportunity to discuss what happened may be the important factor, with a delay of 4-6 weeks giving time for the mother to have adjusted to the birth.

In an internet blog²⁸, Dr Alison Wright, vice president of the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, suggests that women should first be advised to process their thoughts with family and friends and then if necessary speak to a clinician. She reported that many hospitals now have 'Afterthought clinics' for the women to attend. First established in Winchester in 1992 (289) they are now used across the country and are normally led by a senior midwife and often at a site away from the hospital. For those women who are identified as having more enduring issues they can be directed on to other provision. These clinics can also be attended by women considering another pregnancy, or already pregnant, so may be many years after the first birth (290).

6.4.2 Trauma Focused psychotherapy

There is still little in the way of research that has tried to take treatment approaches developed elsewhere into the maternal setting. Effective approaches that are used with other forms of trauma include trauma focused psychotherapy, which is combined with either exposure therapy, CBT or Eye movement desensitising and reprocessing (291).

The NICE guidelines (261) for PTSD recommend the use of trauma focused CBT for adults with a diagnosis of PTSD or clinically important symptoms of PTSD more than 1 month after the traumatic event (birth). They cited evidence that offering 12 individual sessions was clinically and cost effective. There may also be a benefit in also offering psychoeducation (p56). The use of eye movement desensitisation and reprocessing (EMDR) preferably commencing 3 months after the trauma has also been found to be an effective intervention. The use of trauma-focused computerised CBT, both supported and done unsupported were beneficial with effects lasting up to a year post trauma, with more benefit in supported sessions. Drug management is also warranted in some situations but is not covered in this review. For patients with complex needs the principles outlined above still hold but will need to be adapted to the individual's specific needs. This approach is also supported by the NICE antenatal and postnatal mental health guidance (39). In addition, they suggest offering the opportunity for women who have had a traumatic birth or miscarriage to talk about their experience, but again warn against a formal psychological debrief where they are expected to 're-live' the birth.

-

 $^{{\}color{red}^{28}} \ {\color{red}^{https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kaCh0JuDpiQ\&t=52s}}$

The research on resilience and growth suggests that increasing women's positive emotions, mastery/control, active coping and encouraging a sense of purpose or meaning during pregnancy, birth and postpartum may increase resilience and therein prevent or reduce postpartum stress (292).

A study (293) that explored the experiences of 144 women who had a single perinatal trauma within the previous four years, either with loss of the child (through miscarriage or stillbirth) or with trauma but without loss. Counterintuitively they found that the women with trauma but no loss had greater levels of psychological distress than in those that had suffered a bereavement. This was the case when previous mental health difficulties were taking into consideration. The researchers surmise that this may be due to women without loss receiving less emotional support from their partners and health practitioners. They suggest that it is important for every woman to feel that she is supported post difficult birth.

In a Swiss study women who required an emergency CS were asked to undertake a visuospatial task (playing a tetris game) for 15 mins within the first 6 hours, which resulted in fewer traumatic memories than a control group that had usual care (294).

6.5 On-line and mobile support

The Birth Trauma Association is a UK charity dedicated to supporting those adversely affected by birth trauma. They have an active Facebook page and Twitter account

https://www.birthtraumaassociation.org.uk @birth_trauma_association_uk

The National Childbirth Trust (NCT) has guidance and a support service for mothers affected by trauma https://www.nct.org.uk/labour-birth/you-after-birth/traumatic-birth-and-post-traumatic-stress-disorder

MIND offers guidance and links to other support services https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/postnatal-depression-and-perinatal-mental-health/ptsd-and-birth-trauma/

PTSD UK is a national charity supporting those with PTSD and offers support and guidance to mothers and fathers https://www.ptsduk.org/?s=birth

Prevention and Treatment of Traumatic Birth (PATTCh) is an American organisation with a similar remit to the Birth Trauma Association - http://pattch.org

PTSD COACH is a developed downloadable resource for smart phones that contains self-help tips for those struggling with PTSD symptoms. It isn't specifically designed for women (it was created by the US Veteran Affairs for ex service personnel) https://www.ptsd.va.gov/apps/ptsdcoachonline/default.htm

Make Birth Better support service for parents and professionals (@birthbetter) https://www.makebirthbetter.org

Birth trauma support family peer support for those affected by birth trauma (@birthtraumasupportfamily)

https://www.instagram.com/birthtraumasupportfamily/?hl=en

Mumsnet – peer support for mothers https://www.mumsnet.com

6.1 Women's experiences

A qualitative UK study (290) based in Hull explored 9 women's experiences of a traumatic birth and its effect on their subsequent pregnancies. They found that their previous experiences had a profound impact on their early pregnancy as they dwelt on what might be to come. They felt a need to be in greater control of their delivery and were lacking in trust of the health professionals. There was a need for the midwife to work to establish a good relationship with the women and to be extra supportive of her during the pregnancy to help reduce the risk of further problems in the future. The impact of a previous traumatic birth and negative experiences of pregnancy were also found in a survey study (266) conducted in the North West of England with 106 women. In this study two-thirds of the women continued to experience, or re-experience, negative affects in their current pregnancy.

In a Dutch qualitative study (295) with 34 women who self-identified as having a psychologically distressing event during their previous birth found that a key aspect was the perception of exclusion from key decisions made during the delivery and the objectification of their body. This included the unilateral decisions made by the midwife without informed consent. There were also negative connotations when the birth was not as expected (called by others as an 'incongruent birth experience' (296)).

The impact of feeling separated from decision making during the birth was also found in a UK based study (297) based on four in-depth interviews with women. The women found the mis-match between what they were expecting and what happened to be traumatic, this included pain management, feeling invisible within the process of birth, especially if they felt that their feelings were dismissed and that they were part of a routine process for the staff. The women felt that better management of them as a person with fears and expectations would have helped. This was also a finding of a Scottish interview based study (298) of 6 women who greatly valued the practitioner who had a positive relationship, recognising their vulnerability and supported them through including them in decision making.

The use of a birth plan, using epidural analgesia, and performing skin-to-skin contact with the baby at birth have been advocated as protective factors in a Spanish study of 2,990 puerperal women (247,248). Similar findings were found in an interview study of 32 Spanish women who had experienced a traumatic birth (299). The main themes in this study related to compliance with their birth plan, the early establishment of the mother-baby bond through skin-to-skin contact, as was support with breastfeeding. A further theme related to feeling well supported in the post-partum period and the final theme related to the overall experience. A worrying finding was that "many parturients in this study felt they have been crassly objectified and deprived of their human dignity as individuals."

'On my terms' was the main theme in an Icelandic study (300) of 131 women relating to their birth, with the sub-themes 'being recognised', listening is paramount' and 'mapping the unknown' as associated with the experience. Under the theme 'moving on' there was the feeling that they could progress when they had been able to regain some control of their lives through being listened to and having their wishes respected.

A Cochrane Review (226) of continuous support during childbirth found that women who felt more supported through labour were more likely to have a spontaneous birth, require less analgesia, be more likely to be satisfied and have a shorter labour. They were also less likely to go on to develop postpartum depression and the babies were likely to have a low five-minute Apgar score. This support could be from the midwife, her family, or an experienced doula.

6.2 Fathers / co-mothers and other birthing partners

For those who are present at a traumatic birth (including, but not limited to, eclampsia, post-partum haemorrhage, maternal admission to ICU, NICU, stillbirth) there is also the risk of them going on to develop PTSD (235,301–304). For many this will be there first experience of significant trauma and this is compounded by it being a loved one and them not having any control over the situation. There is also an expectation that they will be the support for the mother and child, such that they will not receive attention in the same way as if they were in other traumatic events – such as observing a shooting or work related accident on a colleague. Being at a traumatic birth can lead to significant adverse effects both during the event and subsequently, which impact on the health of the birthing partner, their relationship with their partner and their baby.

6.3 Impact on midwives of a traumatic birth

A scoping review that explored how a traumatic delivery affected the midwife was undertaken in Australia, identified the event as both an opportunity for personal growth and also a risk of increased defensiveness(305). A Scottish study of 6 midwives experiences of traumatic childbirth found that the midwives were working under stressful conditions and that it was difficult to provide the level of care they wanted to give (298). There was a need to ensure that they were supported and enabled to make positive relationships with the women, especially in the immediate postnatal period. This required recognition of the stressful and 'toxic culture' that can exist whereby the midwives felt that they were not in a supportive environment with negative behaviour by both colleagues and management. They reported that this led to negative interpersonal behaviour by midwives towards the women, colleagues and other maternity care staff. [A harrowing read of cruelty in maternity settings is provided by Goer (178)].

6.4 Summary

 Having a traumatic birth can increase the risk of postnatal depression, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and have implications for parent-infant relationships.

- It has been estimated that about 4% of women will develop PTSD, which amounts to 1,121 across West Yorkshire & Harrogate, rising to between 18 and 19% in high risk mothers (for example, having had a previous traumatic birth).
- Much of the PTSD women experience is iatrogenic, in-so-much that it has
 occurred as a result of negatively received medical interventions or poor
 communication, such that by changes in the way the woman and her partner
 are supported through the pregnancy and birth could prevent the onset of
 PTSD in many.
- Prevention should be a key goal over the pregnancy with pelvic floor exercises and a more proactive approach to protecting the pelvic floor during the birth.
- Women often prefer to see their own midwife when they are experiencing difficulties, so it is important that all the staff in the maternity services should have at least minimum training in supporting women with birth trauma with a referral system onto more specialist services – the continuity of carer approach would be of benefit here.
- Women who are pregnant again following a previous traumatic birth or had adverse childhood events / other trauma should be picked up at initial screening and assessed for existing PTSD and offered a care pathway to help manage emerging issues through their current pregnancy.
- Partners who are present at a traumatic birth (including, but not limited to, eclampsia, post-partum haemorrhage, maternal admission to ICU, NICU, stillbirth) should be offered support.
- Services should be advertised sensitively to ensure stigma and fear of consequences of usage are minimised. This should include information relating to the Birth Trauma Association.
- All women should be allowed to re-visit their experience of birth, with the opportunity to make an appointment with midwife or obstetrician.
- Formal psychological debriefing should not happen whilst an in-patient but if required be offered in the 4-6 weeks post birth and again at 6 months to allow for normal adjustment to occur.
- Women identified as having signs of PTSD (sub-clinical or clinical) should be referred through to specialist services for a clinical interview to assess the best way forward in terms of support and / or treatment.

7. Assisted conception

7.1 Introduction

For women struggling to conceive spontaneously there is an increased use of ovarian stimulators (OS) and assisted reproductive technologies (ART), such as invitro fertilisation (IVF) to promote conception. These have developed greatly over the years and are now more commonly used.

There are also now an increasing number of women who are in a lesbian relationship that are turning to ART to enable childbirth and also solo women who are seeking ART as a means of getting pregnant without a male partner. For all treatment cycles in 2017, heterosexual partnerships made up the majority at 90.7%, while female same-sex partnerships made up 5.9%. Single patients or those acting as surrogates made up 3% and 0.4%, respectively (306). Treatment cycles for patients in same-sex partnerships have increased by 12% from 2016 to 2017 and 4% and 22% for patients with no partner or surrogates, respectively.

For most heterosexual couples the main issue is infertility, which is 'a disease of the reproductive system defined by the failure to achieve a clinical pregnancy after 12 months or more of regular unprotected sexual intercourse' (307). Using data from the third National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal-3) Datta et al. (308) estimate that across Britain one in eight women and one in ten men have experienced infertility with prevalence higher in women aged 35-44 years (17.1%) and lower in younger women. Less than one-third (32%) of young women (16-24 years) seek help, but this rises to 58% in women aged 35-74 years. Those who were most likely to have experienced infertility were women and men who settled later with a partner, had higher educational attainment and occupational status and, among those who did have a child, became parents at older ages (308). It is also important to note that those women aged 50 or younger who sought help were more likely to report recent symptoms of depression and had dissatisfaction with their sex life (which would impact on their relationships).

The causes of infertility can be found either within the mother, within the father or a combination of issues in both parents. Infertility in women can be caused by a number of different factors, including smoking (309), obesity (310), diabetes (311), pelvic floor problems and other reproductive disorders (such as endometriosis or pelvic inflammatory disease) (312). Increasing age can also be a limiting factor. In men total male sperm count has decreased by nearly 60% between 1973 and 2011 (313), older men may also have issues with the quality of their sperm which also affects their fertility (314).

There is a growing trend for women to postpone pregnancy until later in life due to following a career or through other personal reasons. An increasing age at which couples are attempting to have a child means that the woman's biological clock is ticking, resulting in a greater pressure to conceive. The average age for donor insemination is now 34.5 years and for IVF 35.5 years.

There is an increasing cohort of solo mothers that have conceived through ART. This is still an under-researched area with regard to their experiences. A Swedish study of

solo mothers found little difference in relation to the woman's experience post birth, but noted over 50% had a previous history of anxiety or depression and suggested that staff should monitor their mental health through their pregnancy in case the need for support arose (315). A Norwegian qualitative study (316) of solo mothers views on postnatal care found that their drive to succeed could leave them vulnerable and fearful that they would be negatively perceived by the midwives. It can be an issue if they do not feel they can ask for help. Having a supportive environment in the early days of delivery was seen as very important, with relaxation of the rules regarding visitors important in ensuring they had support.

There are also more lesbian women who have undergone ART to start a family. Whereas for heterosexual couples there is most likely a long history of infertility, this might not be present for the lesbian couple. In a study by Rubio et al. (317) of heterosexual and gay couples conceiving through ART few differences were seen in the needs of the different couples in terms of their experiences of transitioning to be a parent.

7.2 Prevalence

In 2017 there were 75,000 IVF treatment cycles carried out across the UK (306). According to the Department of Health costing tool for fertility treatment there are 98 attendances at a fertility clinic for every 10,000 population across Yorkshire and the Humber (approx. 4,000 to 5,000 attendances), with 1,450 couples likely to assessed as eligible for IVF treatment. Across West Yorkshire there are 398,330 women aged 18-42 years, which means that there may be ~3,903 attendances and 1,257 women eligible for treatment.

The Leeds Fertility Clinic is one of three fertility clinics in West Yorkshire, the others are Orbit Fertility in Bingley, West Yorkshire and Yorkshire Fertility, based in Calderdale Hospital. The Leeds Fertility Clinic is a large centre and their data will also include women who have travelled from other parts of the country, however, using their data gives an indicative number within the West Yorkshire area (Table 16). The data on births over a three years period [2015-2017] (318) shows that there were on average 710 women per year pregnant through fertility treatment, with 623 live births, of which 41 were multiple births. There were on average 87 pregnancies that did not go on to a live birth.

Table 16 Births over 3 years 2015-2017, Leeds Fertility Clinic

	Pregnancies per cycle	Live births	Singleton	Multiple births
donor insemination	104/555	97	95	2
ICSI - Fresh embryo, patient's eggs	796/1970	707	657	50
IVF - fresh embryo, patient's eggs	760/2198	659	622	37

IVF & ICSI -fresh embryo, donated eggs	34/94	28	26	2
IVF & ICSI - frozen embyos, donated eggs	25/73	22	22	0
IVF & ICSI - frozen embyos, patient's eggs	412/1188	355	323	32
Total over 3 years	2131/6078	1868	1745	123
Average per year	710/2026	623	582	41

Source of data HFEA https://www.hfea.gov.uk/choose-a-clinic/clinic-search/results/314/statistics/ accessed 13th July 2020

Of those 710 pregnant there were 1,316 unsuccessful cycles, with differences seen depending on many variables, such as age, weight, and technique used. As there may be more than one attempted cycle within each year it is not possible from the available data to determine the number of women who had previously unsuccessful attempts which had failed. For those women who have been unsuccessful through their fertility treatment it has been estimated that one-in-six go on to spontaneously conceive (319).

7.3 Mental health and Assisted Reproductive Conception

ART is a complex process, which requires considerable investment, both personal and financial, which can be very stressful on both parents. The current success rate for a healthy baby are improving, and currently stands at 22% for IVF treatment (but decreasing with age), but this still means that many will have experienced various treatments (such as intrauterine insemination) before what could be many cycles required before success. There are also fewer multiple births nowadays through ART, but this still stands at 10%, which is higher than seen in spontaneous conception (306). In England there has been a decrease in publicly funded treatments, which currently stands at 35% in England, with variation seen within localities and the criteria adopted.

Women who conceived with ART are more likely have greater obstetric risks, such as miscarriage, stillbirth, assisted delivery, preterm births and have infants of lower birth weight than those who conceived spontaneously. A Canadian case-controlled analysis of data from the Quebec Pregnancy cohort identified a 46% higher risk of pre-term birth than seen in pregnancies through spontaneous conceptions (320). In terms of actual proportions this equates into an absolute preterm birth risk of 6.71% among spontaneous conceptions and 9.72% among those conceived through ART or ovarian stimulators or both (nearly 1 in 10 women). This includes those having late preterm (34-37) weeks through to extremely pre-term (< 28 weeks), which has implications for the child's health and parental stress.

There has been a reported difference in the quality of life in women who have conceived through ART due to the more severe social and physical restrictions placed on them due to the greater risk of obstetrical complications (321). In a Swedish study of 468 sub-fertile non-pregnant women, 2,972 naturally pregnant women and 143 women pregnant through ART anxiety and depressive symptoms among sub-fertile, non-pregnant women (57.6% and 15.7%, respectively) were significantly higher compared to women pregnant after ART (21.1% and 8.5%, respectively) and spontaneously pregnant women (18.8% and 10.3%, respectively) (322). The authors suggest that women who have conceived through ART are not in

need of any specific preventative intervention with regard to depression or anxiety as compared to spontaneously pregnant women.

Prenatal maternal stress has been associated with difficulties for women during their pregnancies, both for the mother and for the child. It has also been associated with increased stress in the partner of the mother, which can have implications for the level of support needed for them and is impact on support for the mother and child (323). A study on the impact of twin parenthood between ART and spontaneous conception found a decline in marital relationships in the ART couples (324).

How much of this translates into perinatal depression once conception has occurred has been the subject of many studies both nationally and internationally, with contradictory findings (321). For the majority of studies there has not been a relationship found for perinatal depression between women who conceive naturally and those that use ART (322,325–330). A Canadian prospective cohort study (330) of 1176 women comprising women who had conceived through ART and a control of spontaneous conception and assessed during pregnancy and 6-10 weeks postpartum. Using the GAD, EPDS and State Trait Anxiety Inventory six item scale found women conceived through ART had lower levels of anxiety and depression throughout their perinatal period.

A meta-analysis of studies exploring twins and multiple births did find that ART mothers had higher rates of depression and stress than spontaneously conceived mothers (331).

A Swedish study (322) compared anxiety and depression in 496 sub-fertile non-pregnant women with 143 women who have conceived through ART and 2972 women naturally pregnant. They found that high levels of both depression (57.5%) and anxiety (15.7%) in the non-pregnant sample, but after pregnancy there was little difference between the ART women and those who had spontaneously conceived. They did note that women with a lack of regular physical exercise, tobacco smoking, high alcohol consumption, and overweight were each independently associated both with depression and anxiety symptoms.

There may be complex adjustment issues to being pregnant in women who have undergone ART as a result of self-protective delays in believing in the pregnancy, forming an emotional attachment to the fetus and preparing for life with a baby (332). There is an issue with regard to depression in women who have used ART who then go on to miscarriage (333), especially if there are repeated miscarriages experienced.

With the improvements in ART there are an increasing number of women conceiving in their later years. With the hormonal fluctuations that occur through the menopause women who conceive through ART over the perimenopause may be more vulnerable to postpartum depression (334).

There are other complex issues faced by South Asian couples relating to the cultural position regarding donor insemination, which is seen as taboo by some in the Bangladeshi and Pakistani communities. This can create a burden of secrecy for the parents. This issue of donor eggs or sperm can also become an issue later in the

child's life as parents come to disclose their origins. The Leeds Fertility Counselling service offer a 'Talking and Telling' guidance session for parents facing this challenge.

There can be complex grieving emotional issues for those women (and their children) who have used posthumous sperm retrieval or sperm frozen prior to death. Although this is a rare occurrence it is feasible that this will become a more common practice.

There is an issue of substance abuse in parents coming through fertility treatment. This is not routinely assessed for through the fertility treatment, but estimates based on population use suggest that around 1 in 11 people will have used an illicit drug in the previous year and that there may be a case for more regular screening to determine risk (335).

7.4 ART and transition to parenthood

Fisher suggests there may be an issue of women who have had a difficult time conceiving find it hard to complain or to express doubts, uncertainties or anxieties about motherhood and this leaves them lacking social or professional support (329). This was also the conclusion of a systematic review from 2008, which suggested that there was so much emotional investment in the birth that it could lead to idealization and un-realistic expectations, coupled with a lack of confidence and reluctance to seek help if problems emerge (332).

A systematic review (321) of psychological stress and adjustment following ART found a significantly more intense and protective emotional attachment to their unborn baby. There may be a risk of idealising the pregnancy and struggle with its realities and the challenge of multiple births (329).

In the Canadian study the women undergoing ART were wealthier than the spontaneously conceived group, so they may have had more support and better access to health care (330), however they found similar levels of depression, anxiety and stress when they controlled for maternal age and SES.

There is a greater likelihood of twins or multiple births with ART. Tendais and colleagues (324) found in their study of 41 couples expecting twins (25 spontaneous conception, 16 ART) that those who required ART found the transition to twin parenthood more difficult, with mothers struggling more than the fathers. They were also more likely to report relationship difficulties, with a decline in the relationship over the pregnancy and into early postpartum. This study also found that the ART mothers had lower psychological wellbeing from pregnancy through to the postpartum. However, a Canadian cohort study found no difference in measures of depression or stress between singleton and twin pregnancy (330).

An Australian cohort study of women being referred through to their residential early parenting services (REPS) found that of the 166 women recruited into the study that had been through ART at 3 months post birth 40% had already used one or more of the early parenting services, with 8% admitted to the residential service as compared to 5% of the general spontaneously conceived population (336). There were lower

levels of clinical depression seen in the ART women, but higher levels of distress, with the women more worried, and sensitive and less assertive. They were more likely to find difficulty in managing infant crying, sleeping and feeding. There mood had deteriorated from the birth and they were less likely to have initiated breastfeeding and were less confident in their ability to care for their child. The authors suggest that the women have had a cumulative effect of pressure to conceive through the more intensive support and surveillance through the pregnancy, a more idealised expectation coupled with reduced confidence in their ability to be a good parent. They also consider that the older age of the mothers, and a lower sense of entitlement to support may also be factors.

7.1 Interventions and assessment

A review of the implications for baseline depression and anxiety and that which occurs during ART suggests that there is a more negative effect on the outcome of the ART if the depression occurs during the treatment. Suggesting more support for women during ART may have a more beneficial impact (337). Such preparation during the ART in managing anxiety and depression has been found to be successful. An Iranian study of 90 infertile women undergoing ART were spilt into a control group and a group receiving eight 120 minute mindfulness based group counselling sessions along with home based activities, such as yoga and other exercises (338). They found the intervention group had a significant decrease in their levels of depression from a score of 20.77 to 10.82 on the 2nd Beck depression inventory (BDI-II) and the control group depression increased from 17.95 to 21.33.

Once the woman is pregnant if they have experienced a long process of treatment or have had repeated miscarriages there is a higher likelihood that they will have already be experiencing anxiety and depression. Infertile women are also more likely to have a history of psychiatric diagnosis (322). It has been suggested that a brief screening measure such as the EPDS in early pregnancy is wise to help identify early problems and to assess progress through the pregnancy (329). In a similar way to women who have conceived spontaneously with previous mental health difficulties early psychological counselling and intervention might be advisable.

Stress reduction methods such as yoga, meditation, mindfulness, acupuncture, and cognitive behavioural therapy might be helpful for reducing stress in women have been suggested (322,338). Support concerning risky lifestyle behaviours could also be helpful, considering their higher prevalence in women who are sub-fertile.

What stands out from the review is the need for women having conceived through ART to be given greater preparation for parenthood and to support them postpartum. The emotional toll of ART coupled with the higher incidence of pre-term babies and operative delivery may add to the parenting stress the parents are under, especially if there are twins or multiple births (329).

Couple-based interventions may be helpful for those whose relationships are strained or are facing twins or multiple births (324).

7.2 Mothers experiences

In the study by Rubio et al. (317) of heterosexual and gay couples experiences of IVF found that the heterosexual couples conceiving children through IVF was an 'exhausting' and 'stressful process'. They also reported being anxious throughout the pregnancy, resulting in 'waiting to tell relatives and friends about the pregnancy', 'fear of having a miscarriage in the first trimester' and 'being afraid that pregnancy would be terminated prematurely'.

7.3 Fathers / co-mothers experiences

The majority of studies that have explored fathers experiences of pregnancy following ART suggest there are few differences to those seen in spontaneous pregnancy (339–342). There were no studies found that explored specifically the experiences of co-mothers.

7.4 Midwives experiences

There have been no studies found that have looked at midwives' experience of caring for families where pregnancy follows ART.

7.5 Summary

- The road to pregnancy may be stressful and very challenging for women and their partners seeking conception through assisted reproductive technology.
- Once pregnant, according to the literature, there are contradictory findings related to perinatal mental health problems, with the majority suggesting there is not a greater risk of perinatal mental health problems as compared to spontaneous conception.
- There may be other mothers and partners experiencing complex emotional and mental health challenges.
- There is the possibility that the woman and her partner need greater preparation for parenthood.
- Support for both partners is needed if there are relationship issues, to help keep the family unit together and able to function as a supportive unit.
- Links could be made with Assisted Reproductive Technology counselling service providers such that there is a more seamless move into pregnancy care.

8. References

- 1. Davies S. Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer, 2014: The Health of the 51%: Women. London: Department of Health; 2015.
- 2. National Maternity Review. Better births. Improving outcomes of maternity services in England. A five year forward view for maternity care. London: NHS England; 2016.
- 3. NHS England. The NHS Long Term Plan. London: NHS England; 2019.
- 4. Everett BG, Kominiarek MA, Mollborn S, Adkins DE, Hughes TL. Sexual Orientation Disparities in Pregnancy and Infant Outcomes. Matern Child Health J. 2019;23(1):72–81.
- 5. Bushe S, Romero IL. Lesbian Pregnancy: Care and Considerations. Semin Reprod Med. 2017;35(5):420–5.
- 6. Januwalla AA, Goldberg AE, Flanders CE, Yudin MH, Ross LE. Reproductive and Pregnancy Experiences of Diverse Sexual Minority Women: A Descriptive Exploratory Study. Matern Child Health J. 2019;23(8):1071–8.
- 7. Maccio EM, Pangburn JA. The Case for Investigating Postpartum Depression in Lesbians and Bisexual Women. Women's Heal Issues. 2011;21(3):187–90.
- 8. Spencer O. Postnatal Depression Gay Dads Can Get It Too. Huffington Post. 2014 [cited 2020 Jun 9]. Available from: https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/olivia-spencer/postnatal-depression-gay-_b_5857968.html?guccounter=1&guce_referrer=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuZ29vZ2 xlLmNvbS8&guce_referrer_sig=AQAAAHtKZQNmldA2M_w2o5RO1BY3GUIN BwidgxX0LUzTRYH6gcTChkSLUdRaLz-HzbBExGodbGqu9VAIESYBwFbaH
- 9. Golombok S, Blake L, Slutsky J, Raffanello E, Roman GD, Ehrhardt A. Parenting and the Adjustment of Children Born to Gay Fathers Through Surrogacy. Child Dev. 2018;89(4):1223–33.
- 10. Green RJ, Rubio RJ, Rothblum ED, Bergman K, Katuzny KE. Gay fathers by surrogacy: Prejudice, parenting, and well-being of female and male children. Psychol Sex Orientat Gend Divers. 2019;6(3):269–83.
- 11. Shenkman G, Siboni O, Tasker F, Costa PA. Pathways to Fatherhood: Psychological Well-Being Among Israeli Gay Fathers Through Surrogacy, Gay Fathers Through Previous Heterosexual Relationships, and Heterosexual Fathers. Front Psychol. 2020;11:1–13.
- 12. Gelderen LVR Van, Bos HWM, Jorgensen TD, Ellis-Davies K, Winstanley A, Golombok S, et al. Wellbeing of gay fathers with children born through surrogacy: A comparison with lesbian-mother families and heterosexual IVF parent families. Hum Reprod. 2018;33(1):101–8.
- 13. Obedin-Maliver J, Makadon HJ. Transgender men and pregnancy. Obstet Med. 2016;9(1):4–8.
- 14. Hoffkling A, Obedin-Maliver J, Sevelius J. From erasure to opportunity: A qualitative study of the experiences of transgender men around pregnancy and recommendations for providers. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017;17(Suppl 2).
- 15. Brandt JS, Patel AJ, Marshall I, Bachmann GA. Transgender men, pregnancy, and the "new" advanced paternal age: A review of the literature. Maturitas. 2019;128(June):17–21.
- 16. Charter R, Ussher JM, Perz J, Robinson K. The transgender parent: Experiences and constructions of pregnancy and parenthood for transgender men in Australia. Int J Transgenderism. 2018;19(1):64–77.

- 17. Bauer A, Parsonage M, Knapp M, Iemmi V, Adelaja B, Hogg S. The costs of perinatal mental health problems. London: Centre for Mental Health & London School of Economics: 2014.
- 18. WHO. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 11]. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- 19. ONS. Lower layer Super Output Area population estimates (supporting information). 2019 [cited 2020 Jun 9]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigratio n/populationestimates/datasets/lowersuperoutputareamidyearpopulationestimates
- 20. PHE. Public Health Profiles. [cited 2020 Jun 20]. Available from: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/perinatal#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E1200000 3/ati/102/are/E08000035/iid/92257/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0 cin-ci-4 ovw-do-0
- 21. O'Connell M, Leahy-Warren P, Khashan AS, Kenny LC. Tocophobia the new hysteria? Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Med. 2015;25(6):175–7.
- 22. ONS. Conception statistics, England & Wales, 2018. 2020 [cited 2020 Jun 11]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarria ges/conceptionandfertilityrates/datasets/conceptionstatisticsenglandandwalesr eferencetables
- 23. ONS. Birth characteristics in England and Wales: 2018. 2019. [cited 2020 Jun 3]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarria ges/livebirths/bulletins/birthcharacteristicsinenglandandwales/2018
- 24. Cullen S, Coughlan B, McMahon A, Casey B, Power S, Brosnan M. Parents' experiences of clinical care during second trimester miscarriage. Br J Midwifery. 2018 May:26(5):309–15.
- 25. Wonch Hill P, Cacciatore J, Shreffler KM, Pritchard KM. The loss of self: The effect of miscarriage, stillbirth, and child death on maternal self-esteem. Death Stud. 2017;41(4):226–35.
- 26. Heazell AEP, Siassakos D, Blencowe H, Burden C, Bhutta ZA, Cacciatore J, et al. Stillbirths: Economic and psychosocial consequences. Lancet. 2016;387(10018):604–16.
- 27. Murphy S, Jones KS. By the way knowledge: Grandparents, stillbirth and neonatal death. Hum Fertil. 2014;17(3):210–3.
- 28. Bakhbakhi D, Burden C, Storey C, Siassakos D. Care following stillbirth in high-resource settings: Latest evidence, guidelines, and best practice points. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017;22(3):161–6.
- 29. Glinianaia S V., Rankin J, Khalil A, Binder J, Waring G, Sturgiss SN, et al. Prevalence, antenatal management and perinatal outcome of monochorionic monoamniotic twin pregnancy: a collaborative multicenter study in England, 2000–2013. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2019;53(2):184–92.
- 30. Santana DS, Silveira C, Costa ML, Souza RT, Surita FG, Souza JP, et al. Perinatal outcomes in twin pregnancies complicated by maternal morbidity: Evidence from the WHO Multicountry Survey on Maternal and Newborn Health. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2018;18(1):1–12.
- 31. Kersting A, Wagner B. Complicated grief after perinatal loss. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2012;14(2):187–94.

- 32. Maker C, Ogden J. The miscarriage experience: More than just a trigger to psychological morbidity? Psychol Heal. 2003;18(3):403–15.
- 33. Rocca CH, Samari G, Foster DG, Gould H, Kimport K. Emotions and decision rightness over five years following an abortion: An examination of decision difficulty and abortion stigma. Soc Sci Med. 2020;248:112704.
- 34. Zhu CS, Tan TC, Chen HY, Malhotra R, Allen JC, Østbye T. Threatened miscarriage and depressive and anxiety symptoms among women and partners in early pregnancy. J Affect Disord. 2018;237(February):1–9.
- 35. Lee L, McKenzie-McHarg K, Horsch A. The impact of miscarriage and stillbirth on maternal–fetal relationships: an integrative review. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2017;35(1):32–52.
- 36. Stephenson J, Heslehurst N, Hall J, J M Schoenaker DA, Hutchinson J, Cade JE, et al. Preconception health: 1 Before the beginning: nutrition and lifestyle in the preconception period and its importance for future health. Lancet. 2018;391(10132):1830–41.
- 37. Frøen FJ, Friberg IK, Lawn JE, Bhutta ZA, Pattinson RC, Allanson ER, et al. Stillbirths: Progress and unfinished business. Lancet. 2016;387(10018):574–86.
- 38. Smith J. Management of Stillbirth. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;222(3):B2–20.
- 39. NICE. Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health: Clinical Management and Service Guidance. London: National Institute for Health & Clinical Excellence (upda; 2014 [cited 2011 Aug 20]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192
- 40. Campbell HE, Kurinczuk JJ, Heazell AEP, Leal J, Rivero-Arias O. Healthcare and wider societal implications of stillbirth: a population-based cost-of-illness study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;125(2):108–17.
- 41. Cohain JS, Buxbaum RE, Mankuta D. Spontaneous first trimester miscarriage rates per woman among parous women with 1 or more pregnancies of 24 weeks or more. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017;17(1):1–7.
- 42. Rossen LM, Ahrens KA, Branum AM. Trends in Risk of Pregnancy Loss Among US Women, 1990-2011. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2018 Jan;32(1):19–29.
- 43. Magnus MC, Wilcox AJ, Morken NH, Weinberg CR, Håberg SE. Role of maternal age and pregnancy history in risk of miscarriage: Prospective register based study. BMJ. 2019;364:1–8.
- 44. Tong S, Kaur A, Walker SP, Bryant V, Onwude JL, Permezel M. Miscarriage risk for asymptomatic women after a normal first-trimester prenatal visit. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;111(3):710–4.
- 45. Cullen S, Power S, Coughlan B, Chaney J, Butler M, Brosnan M. An exploration of the prevalence and patterns of care for women presenting with mid-trimester loss. Irish J Med Sci (1971 -). 2017;186(2):381.
- 46. Pykett R, Smith SC. Update on termination of pregnancy. Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Med. 2020;30(4):119–25.
- 47. ONS. Abortion Statistics, England and Wales: 2018. London: Office for National Statistics; 2019. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a ttachment_data/file/808556/Abortion_Statistics__England_and_Wales_2018__ 1_ndf
- 48. ONS 2020. Abortion Statistics 2018, Data tables. [cited 2020 Jun 10]. Available from:

- https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a ttachment_data/file/808560/2018_Abortion_Statistics_-_Data_tables___1_.ods
- 49. Sullivan N, De Faoite E. Psychological impact of abortion due to fetal anomaly: A review of published research. Issues Law Med. 2017;32(1):19–30.
- 50. Say L, Donner A, Gülmezoglu AM, Taljaard M, Piaggio G. The prevalence of stillbirths: a systematic review. Reprod Health. 2006 Jan;3:1.
- 51. Office for National Statistics. Child and Infant Mortality in England and Wales: 2018 (Statistical Bulletin). 2020;(Feb):1–19. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarria ges/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfantandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2 018
- 52. Draper E, Gallimore I, Kurinczuk J, Smith P, Boby T, Smith L, et al. MBRRACE-UK Perinatal Mortality Surveillance Report, UK Perinatal Deaths for Births from January to December 2017. 2019. Available from: https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK Perinatal Surveillance Full Report for 2016 June 2018.pdf
- 53. Sokal R, Tata LJ, Fleming KM. Sex prevalence of major congenital anomalies in the United Kingdom: A national population-based study and international comparison meta-analysis. Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol. 2014;100(2):79–91.
- 54. Mondal D, Galloway TS, Bailey TC, Mathews F. Elevated risk of stillbirth in males: Systematic review and meta-analysis of more than 30 million births. BMC Med. 2014;12(1).
- 55. Lamont K, Scott NW, Jones GT, Bhattacharya S. Risk of recurrent stillbirth: Systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2015;350.
- 56. Hesselman S, Wikström AK, Skalkidou A, Sundström-Poromaa I, Wikman A. Neighborhood deprivation and adverse perinatal outcomes in Sweden: A population-based register study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2019;98(8):1004–13.
- 57. Sharma PP, Salihu HM, Oyelese Y, Ananth C V., Kirby RS. Is race a determinant of stillbirth recurrence? Obstet Gynecol. 2006;107(2):391–7.
- 58. Rogers C, Greenfields M. Hidden losses and 'forgotten' suffering: The bereavement experiences of british romany gypsies and travellers. Bereave Care. 2017;36(3):94–102.
- 59. Mozooni M, Pennell CE, Preen DB. Healthcare factors associated with the risk of antepartum and intrapartum stillbirth in migrants in Western Australia (2005-2013): A retrospective cohort study. PLoS Med. 2020;17(3):e1003061.
- 60. Naz Memon DK, Atta Ur Rahman PA. Consanguinity; a Risk Factor for Intrauterine Death? Prof Med J. 2017;24(05):680–4.
- 61. Kapurubandara S, Melov S, Shalou E, Alahakoon I. Consanguinity and associated perinatal outcomes, including stillbirth. Aust New Zeal J Obstet Gynaecol. 2016;56(6):599–604.
- 62. Bhat A, Byatt N. Infertility and Perinatal Loss: When the Bough Breaks. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2016;18(3):31.
- 63. Matjila M. Recurrent stillbirth A clinical challenge. Obstet Gynaecol Forum. 2016;26(4):17–21.
- 64. Stacey T, Thompson JMD, Mitchell EA, Ekeroma AJ, Zuccollo JM, McCowan LME. Relationship between obesity, ethnicity and risk of late stillbirth: A case control study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2011;11.
- 65. Elizondo-Montemayor L, Hernández-Escobar C, Lara-Torre E, Nieblas B,

- Gómez-Carmona M. Gynecologic and Obstetric Consequences of Obesity in Adolescent Girls. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2017;30(2):156–68.
- 66. Åmark H, Westgren M, Persson M. Prediction of stillbirth in women with overweight or obesity—A register-based cohort study. PLoS One. 2018;13(11):1–12.
- 67. Jacob L, Kostev K, Kalder M. Risk of stillbirth in pregnant women with obesity in the United Kingdom. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2016;10(5):574–9.
- 68. Bjørnholt SM, Leite M, Albieri V, Kjaer SK, Jensen A. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and risk of stillbirth: results from a nationwide Danish register-based cohort study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2016 Nov 1 [cited 2020 May 5];95(11):1305–12.
- 69. Triandafilidis Z, Ussher JM, Perz J, Huppatz K. An Intersectional Analysis of Women's Experiences of Smoking-Related Stigma. Qual Health Res. 2017;27(10):1445–60.
- 70. Faulkner P, Petersen N, Ghahremani DG, Cox CM, Tyndale RF, Hellemann GS, et al. Sex differences in tobacco withdrawal and responses to smoking reduced-nicotine cigarettes in young smokers. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2018;235(1):193–202.
- 71. Hutcheon JA, Moskosky S, Ananth C V., Basso O, Briss PA, Ferré CD, et al. Good practices for the design, analysis, and interpretation of observational studies on birth spacing and perinatal health outcomes. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2019;33(1):O15–24.
- 72. RCOG. Best practice in postpartum family planning. Vol. 1, International Journal of Scientific Study. London: The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2015. 2–4 p.
- 73. Broadhurst K, Mason C, Bedston S, Alrouh B, Morriss L, Mcquarrie T, et al. Vulnerable Birth Mothers and Recurrent Care Proceedings Final Main Report. Lancaster: Centre for Child and Family Justice, Lancaster University; 2017. Available from: www.nuffieldfoundation.org
- 74. Morland LA, Leskin GA, Rebecca Block C, Campbell JC, Friedman MJ. Intimate Partner Violence and Miscarriage. J Interpers Violence. 2008;23(5):652–69.
- 75. Department of Health & Social Care. Guide to Abortion Statistics, England and Wales: 2018. 2019 [cited 2020 Aug 3]. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a ttachment_data/file/808578/Guide_to_2018_abortion_statistics__1_.pdf
- 76. Biggs MA, Rowland B, McCulloch CE, Foster DG. Does abortion increase women's risk for post-traumatic stress? Findings from a prospective longitudinal cohort study. BMJ Open. 2016;6(2):1–13.
- 77. Wallin Lundell I, Sundström Poromaa I, Ekselius L, Georgsson S, Frans Ö, Helström L, et al. Neuroticism-related personality traits are associated with posttraumatic stress after abortion: Findings from a Swedish multi-center cohort study. BMC Womens Health. 2017;17(1):1–12.
- 78. Toffol E, Pohjoranta E, Suhonen S, Hurskainen R, Partonen T, Mentula M, et al. Anxiety and quality of life after first-trimester termination of pregnancy: a prospective study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2016;95(10):1171–80.
- 79. Maguire M, Light A, Kuppermann M, Dalton VK, Steinauer JE, Kerns JL. Grief after second-trimester termination for fetal anomaly: A qualitative study. Contraception. 2015;91(3):234–9.
- 80. Hanschmidt F, Linde K, Hilbert A, Riedel- Heller SG, Kersting A. Abortion

- Stigma: A Systematic Review. Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2016;48(4):169–77.
- 81. Hanschmidt F, Treml J, Klingner J, Stepan H, Kersting A. Stigma in the context of pregnancy termination after diagnosis of fetal anomaly: associations with grief, trauma, and depression. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2018;21(4):391–9.
- 82. Cope H, Garrett ME, Gregory S, Ashley-koch A. Pregnancy continuation and organizational religious activity following prenatal diagnosis of a lethal fetal defect are associated with improved psychological outcome. Prenat Diagn. 2016;35(8):761–8.
- 83. Gold KJ, Boggs ME, Muzik M, Sen A. Anxiety disorders and obsessive compulsive disorder 9 months after perinatal loss. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2014;36(6):650–4.
- 84. Gold KJ, Sen A, Leon I. Whose fault is it anyway? Guilt, blame, and death attribution by mothers after stillbirth or infant death. Illn Cris Loss. 2018;26(1):40–57.
- 85. Gravensteen IK, Jacobsen EM, Sandset PM, Helgadottir LB, Rådestad I, Sandvik L, et al. Anxiety, depression and relationship satisfaction in the pregnancy following stillbirth and after the birth of a live-born baby: A prospective study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2018;18(1):1–10.
- 86. Hunter A, Tussis L, MacBeth A. The presence of anxiety, depression and stress in women and their partners during pregnancies following perinatal loss: A meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2017;223:153–64.
- 87. Hutti MH, Myers JA, Hall LA, Polivka BJ, White S, Hill J, et al. Predicting Need for Follow-Up Due to Severe Anxiety and Depression Symptoms After Perinatal Loss. JOGNN J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2018;47(2):125–36.
- 88. Rowlands I, Lee C. Adjustment after miscarriage: Predicting positive mental health trajectories among young Australian women. Psychol Heal Med. 2010;15(1):34–49.
- 89. Toffol E, Koponen P, Partonen T. Miscarriage and mental health: Results of two population-based studies. Psychiatry Res. 2013;205(1–2):151–8.
- 90. Volgsten H, Jansson C, Svanberg AS, Darj E, Stavreus-Evers A. Longitudinal study of emotional experiences, grief and depressive symptoms in women and men after miscarriage. Midwifery. 2018;64:23–8.
- 91. Broen AN, Moum T, Bødtker AS, Ekeberg Ø. The course of mental health after miscarriage and induced abortion: A longitudinal, five-year follow-up study. BMC Med. 2005;3.
- 92. Burden C, Bradley S, Storey C, Ellis A, Heazell AEP, Downe S, et al. From grief, guilt pain and stigma to hope and pride a systematic review and meta-analysis of mixed-method research of the psychosocial impact of stillbirth. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2016;16(1):1–12.
- 93. Chojenta C, Harris S, Reilly N, Forder P, Austin MP, Loxton D. History of pregnancy loss increases the risk of mental health problems in subsequent pregnancies but not in the postpartum. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):1–7.
- 94. Côté-Arsenault D, Leerkes EM, Zhou N. Individual Differences in Maternal, Marital, Parenting and Child Outcomes Following Perinatal Loss: A Longitudinal Study. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2020;38(1):3–15.
- 95. deMontigny F, Verdon C, Meunier S, Dubeau D. Women's persistent depressive and perinatal grief symptoms following a miscarriage: the role of childlessness and satisfaction with healthcare services. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2017;20(5):655–62.

- 96. Farren J, Mitchell-Jones N, Verbakel JY, Timmerman D, Jalmbrant M, Bourne T. The psychological impact of early pregnancy loss. Hum Reprod Update. 2018;24(6):731–49.
- 97. Farren J, Jalmbrant M, Falconieri N, Mitchell-Jones N, Bobdiwala S, Al-Memar M, et al. Posttraumatic stress, anxiety and depression following miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy: a multicenter, prospective, cohort study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019.
- 98. Farren J, Jalmbrant M, Ameye L, Joash K, Mitchell-Jones N, Tapp S, et al. Post-traumatic stress anxiety and depression following miscarriage or ectopic pregnancy: A prospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2016;6(11).
- 99. Wonch Hill P, Cacciatore J, Shreffler KM, Pritchard KM. The loss of self: The effect of miscarriage, stillbirth, and child death on maternal self-esteem. Death Stud. 2017;41(4):226–35.
- 100. Pollock D, Pearson E, Cooper M, Ziaian T, Foord C, Warland J. Voices of the unheard: A qualitative survey exploring bereaved parents experiences of stillbirth stigma. Women and Birth. 2019; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2019.03.002
- 101. Gold KJ, Sen A, Hayward RA. Marriage and cohabitation outcomes after pregnancy loss. Pediatrics. 2010 May;125(5):e1202-7.
- 102. Chung MC, Reed J. Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Following Stillbirth: Trauma Characteristics, Locus of Control, Posttraumatic Cognitions. Psychiatr Q. 2017;88(2):307–21.
- 103. Daugirdaite V, Van Den Akker O, Purewal S. Posttraumatic stress and posttraumatic stress disorder after termination of pregnancy and reproductive loss: A systematic review. J Pregnancy. 2015;2015.
- 104. Engelhard IM, van den Hout MA, Schouten EGW. Neuroticism and low educational level predict the risk of posttraumatic stress disorder in women after miscarriage or stillbirth. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2006;28(5):414–7.
- 105. Horesh D, Nukrian M, Bialik Y. To lose an unborn child: Post-traumatic stress disorder and major depressive disorder following pregnancy loss among Israeli women. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2018;53(February):95–100.
- 106. Gold KJ, Leon I, Boggs ME, Sen A. Depression and posttraumatic stress symptoms after perinatal loss in a population-based sample. J Women's Heal. 2016;25(3):263–9.
- 107. Smorti M, Ponti L, Simoncini T, Mannella P, Bottone P, Pancetti F, et al. Pregnancy after miscarriage in primiparae and multiparae: implications for women's psychological well-being. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2020;00(00):1–11.
- 108. Wojcieszek AM, Boyle FM, Belizán JM, Cassidy J, Cassidy P, Erwich JJHM, et al. Care in subsequent pregnancies following stillbirth: an international survey of parents. J Obstet Gynaecol (Lahore). 2018;125(2):193–201.
- 109. O'Kane E, Cassidy T. Losing an Unborn Baby: Support after Miscarriage. J Fam Med Forecast. 2019;2(3):1024.
- 110. Swanson KM. Effects of Caring, Measurement, and Time on Miscarriage Impact and Women's Well-Being. Nurs Res. 1999;48(6):288–98.
- 111. Lafarge C, Mitchell K, Fox P. Posttraumatic growth following pregnancy termination for fetal abnormality: the predictive role of coping strategies and perinatal grief. Anxiety, Stress Coping. 2017;30(5):536–50.
- 112. Huberty JL, Matthews J, Leiferman J, Hermer J, Cacciatore J. When a Baby Dies: A Systematic Review of Experimental Interventions for Women after Stillbirth. Reprod Sci. 2017;24(7):967–75.

- 113. NBCP. The five Bereavement Care Pathways. National Bereavement Care Pathway. 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 18]. Available from: http://www.nbcpathway.org.uk/pathways/
- 114. Shakespeare C, Merriel A, Bakhbakhi D, Blencowe H, Boyle FM, Flenady V, et al. The RESPECT Study for consensus on global bereavement care after stillbirth. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2020;
- 115. O'Connell O, Meaney S, O'Donoghue K. Caring for parents at the time of stillbirth: How can we do better? Women and Birth. 2016;29(4):345–9.
- 116. Tovey R, Turner S. Stillbirth memento photography. J Vis Commun Med. 2020;43(1):2–16.
- 117. Hennegan JM, Henderson J, Redshaw M. Is partners' mental health and well-being affected by holding the baby after stillbirth? Mothers' accounts from a national survey. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2018;36(2):120–31.
- 118. Redshaw M, Hennegan JM, Henderson J. Impact of holding the baby following stillbirth on maternal mental health and well-being: Findings from a national survey. BMJ Open. 2016;6(8):15–7.
- 119. Arocha PR, Range LM. Events surrounding stillbirth and their effect on symptoms of depression among mothers. Death Stud. 2019;0(0):1–5.
- 120. Smith P, Vasileiou K, Jordan A. Healthcare professionals 'perceptions and experiences of using a cold cot following the loss of a baby: a qualitative study in maternity and neonatal units in the UK. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2020;20(175):1–9.
- 121. Nikčević A V., Kuczmierczyk AR, Nicolaides KH. The influence of medical and psychological interventions on women's distress after miscarriage. J Psychosom Res. 2007;63(3):283–90.
- 122. Thieleman K, Cacciatore J, Hill PW. Traumatic bereavement and mindfulness: A preliminary study of mental health outcomes using the ATTEND model. Clin Soc Work J. 2014;42(3):260–8.
- 123. Huberty J, Green J, Cacciatore J, Buman MP, Leiferman J. Relationship Between Mindfulness and Posttraumatic Stress in Women Who Experienced Stillbirth. JOGNN J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2018;47(6):760–70.
- 124. Huberty J, Matthews J, Leiferman J, Cacciatore J, Gold KJ. A study protocol of a three-group randomized feasibility trial of an online yoga intervention for mothers after stillbirth (The Mindful Health Study). Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2018;4(1):1–16.
- 125. Johnson JE, Price AB, Kao JC, Fernandes K, Stout R, Gobin RL, et al. Interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT) for major depression following perinatal loss: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2016;19(5):845–59.
- 126. Mercier RJ, Senter K, Webster R, Henderson Riley A. Instagram Users' Experiences of Miscarriage. Obstet Gynecol. 2020;135(1):166–73.
- 127. Ellis A, Chebsey C, Storey C, Bradley S, Jackson S, Flenady V, et al. Systematic review to understand and improve care after stillbirth: A review of parents' and healthcare professionals' experiences. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2016;16(1):1–19.
- 128. Jones K, Robb M, Murphy S, Davies A. New understandings of fathers' experiences of grief and loss following stillbirth and neonatal death: A scoping review. Midwifery. 2019;79.
- 129. Badenhorst W, Riches S, Turton P, Hughes P. The psychological effects of stillbirth and neonatal death on fathers: Systematic review. J Psychosom

- Obstet Gynecol. 2006;27(4):245-56.
- 130. Creighton G, Oliffe JL, Butterwick S, Saewyc E. After the death of a friend: young men's grief and masculine identities. Soc Sci Med. 2013 May [cited 2013 Aug 7];84:35–43.
- 131. Puddifoot JE, Johnson MP. The legitimacy of grieving: The partner's experience at miscarriage. Soc Sci Med. 1997;45(6):837–45.
- 132. Murphy S, Cacciatore J. The psychological, social, and economic impact of stillbirth on families. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2017;22(3):129–34.
- 133. Jensen KLB, Temple-Smith MJ, Bilardi JE. Health professionals' roles and practices in supporting women experiencing miscarriage: A qualitative study. Aust New Zeal J Obstet Gynaecol. 2019;59(4):508–13.
- 134. Wilson S, Mckenzie K, Quayle E, Murray G. A systematic review of interventions to promote social support and parenting skills in parents with an intellectual disability. Child Care Health Dev. 2014;40(1):7–19.
- 135. Masson J, Dickens J. Protecting Unborn and Newborn Babies. Child Abus Rev. 2015;24:107–19.
- 136. Tantawi-Basra T, Pezaro S. Supporting childbearing women who are at risk of having their baby removed at birth. Br J Midwifery. 2020 Jun;28(6):378–87.
- 137. Taplin S, Mattick RP. The nature and extent of child protection involvement among heroin-using mothers in treatment: High rates of reports, removals at birth and children in care. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2015;34(1):31–7.
- 138. Honey A, Miceli M, Mayes R. Living with mental illness and child removal. Adv Ment Heal. 2019;0(0):1–12.
- 139. Nixon KL, Radtke HL, Tutty LM. "Every Day It Takes a Piece of You Away": Experiences of Grief and Loss Among Abused Mothers Involved With Child Protective Services. J Public Child Welf. 2013;7(2):172–93.
- 140. Morriss L. Haunted futures: The stigma of being a mother living apart from her child(ren) as a result of state-ordered court removal. Sociol Rev. 2018;66(4):816–31.
- 141. Broadhurst K, Alrouh B, Mason C, Ward H, Holmes L, Ryan M, et al. Born into Care: newborn babies subject to care proceedings in England. London.: The Nuffield Family Justice Observatory: Nuffield Foundation; 2018.
- 142. Bennett S. An evaluation of the Leeds integrated maternity care pathway for pregnant women with learning disability/learning difficulty/autism. Leeds: Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust; 2018.
- 143. Bennett S. Engagement Report: Women with learning difficulties who have experienced pregnancy in Leeds. Leeds: Leeds Maternity Care, NHS; 2016.
- 144. Malouf R, McLeish J, Ryan S, Gray R, Redshaw M. "We both just wanted to be normal parents": A qualitative study of the experience of maternity care for women with learning disability. BMJ Open. 2017;7(3).
- 145. Erskine S. Leeds Maternity Health Needs Assessment 2014. Leeds: Leeds City Council; 2014.
- 146. Broadhurst K, Mason C. Birth parents & the collateral consequences of court-ordered child removal: Towards a comprehensive framework. Int J Law, Policy Fam. 2017;31(1):41–59.
- 147. McCracken K, Priest S, Fitzsimons A, Bracewell K, Torchia K, Parry W, et al. Evaluation of Pause. London: Department for Education; 2017.
- 148. Cox P, Barratt C, Blumenfeld F, Rahemtulla Z, Taggart D, Turton J. Reducing recurrent care proceedings: initial evidence from new interventions. J Soc Welf Fam Law. 2017;39(3):332–49.

- 149. Broadhurst K, Mason C. Child removal as the gateway to further adversity: Birth mother accounts of the immediate and enduring collateral consequences of child removal. Qual Soc Work. 2020;19(1):15–37.
- 150. Marsh W, Leamon J. Babies Removed at Birth: What Professionals Can Learn From 'Women Like Me.' Child Abus Rev. 2019;28(1):82–6.
- 151. Anderson CA, Gill M. Childbirth related fears and psychological birth trauma in younger and older age adolescents. Appl Nurs Res. 2014;27(4):242–8.
- 152. Everitt L, Fenwick J, Homer CSE. Midwives experiences of removal of a newborn baby in New South Wales, Australia: Being in the "head" and "heart" space. Women and Birth. 2015;28(2):95–100. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2015.01.004
- 153. Marsh W, Robinson A, Shawe J, Gallagher A. Removal of babies at birth and the moral distress of midwives. Nurs Ethics. 2019;1–12.
- 154. Marsh W. Babies removed at birth: narratives of Mothers and Midwives. University of Surrey; 2015.
- 155. Stoll K, Swift EM, Fairbrother N, Nethery E, Janssen P. A systematic review of nonpharmacological prenatal interventions for pregnancy-specific anxiety and fear of childbirth. Birth. 2018;45(1):7–18.
- 156. Richens Y, Hindley C, Lavender T. A national online survey of UK maternity unit service provision for women with fear of birth. Br J Midwifery. 2015;23(8):576–9.
- 157. Nath S, Busuulwa P, Ryan EG, Challacombe FL, Howard LM. The characteristics and prevalence of phobias in pregnancy. Midwifery. 2020;82:102590. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2019.102590
- 158. Hofberg K, Brockington I. Tokophobia: An unreasoning dread of childbirth. Br J Psychiatry. 2000;176(1):83–5.
- 159. O'Connell MA, Leahy-Warren P, Khashan AS, Kenny LC, O'Neill SM. Worldwide prevalence of tocophobia in pregnant women: systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2017;96(8):907–20.
- 160. Räisänen S, Lehto SM, Nielsen HS, Gissler M, Kramer MR, Heinonen S. Fear of childbirth in nulliparous and multiparous women: A population-based analysis of all singleton births in Finland in 1997-2010. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2014;121(8):965–70.
- 161. O'Connell MA, O'Neill SM, Dempsey E, Khashan AS, Leahy-Warren P, Smyth RMD, et al. Interventions for fear of childbirth (Tocophobia). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;2019(5).
- 162. Calderani E, Giardinelli L, Scannerini S, Arcabasso S, Compagno E, Petraglia F, et al. Tocophobia in the DSM-5 era: Outcomes of a new cut-off analysis of the Wijma delivery expectancy/experience questionnaire based on clinical presentation. J Psychosom Res. 2019;116:37–43.
- 163. Gutteridge K. Who's afraid of the big bad birth. AIMS J. 2013;25(3):20-1.
- 164. Sluijs AM, Wijma K, Cleiren MPHD, van Lith JMM, Wijma B. Preferred and actual mode of delivery in relation to fear of childbirth. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2020;0(0):1–9.
- 165. Bewley S, Cockburn J. The unfacts of "request" caesarean section. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2002;109:597–605.
- 166. Poggi L, Goutaudier N, Séjourné N, Chabrol H. When Fear of Childbirth is Pathological: The Fear Continuum. Matern Child Health J. 2018;22(5):772–8.
- 167. Laursen M, Johansen C, Hedegaard M. Fear of childbirth and risk for birth complications in nulliparous women in the Danish National Birth Cohort. BJOG

- An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2009;116(10):1350-5.
- 168. Howard LM, Ryan EG, Trevillion K, Anderson F, Bick D, Bye A, et al. Accuracy of the Whooley questions and the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale in identifying depression and other mental disorders in early pregnancy. Br J Psychiatry. 2018;212(1):50–6.
- 169. Nath S, Ryan EG, Trevillion K, Bick D, Demilew J, Milgrom J, et al. Prevalence and identification of anxiety disorders in pregnancy: The diagnostic accuracy of the two-item Generalised Anxiety Disorder scale (GAD-2). BMJ Open. 2018;8(9):1–10.
- 170. Rouhe H, Salmela-Aro K, Gissler M, Halmesmäki E, Saisto T. Mental health problems common in women with fear of childbirth. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;118(9):1104–11.
- 171. Dencker A, Nilsson C, Begley C, Jangsten E, Mollberg M, Patel H, et al. Causes and outcomes in studies of fear of childbirth: A systematic review. Women and Birth. 2019;32(2):99–111.
- 172. Hossieni Moghaddam V, Toohill J, Akaberi A, HashemiAsl BM. Influence of intimate partner violence during pregnancy on fear of childbirth. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2017;14:17–23.
- 173. Klabbers GA, van den Heuvel MMA, van Bakel HJA, Vingerhoets AJJM. Severe fear of childbirth: Its features, assesment, prevalence, determinants, consequences and possible treatments. Psihol Teme. 2016;25(1):107–27.
- 174. Sioma-Markowska U, Zur A, Skrzypulec-Plinta V, Machura M, Czajkowska M. Causes and frequency of tocophobia Own experiences. Ginekol Pol. 2017;88(5):239–43.
- 175. Rondung E, Ekdahl J, Sundin Ö. Potential mechanisms in fear of birth: The role of pain catastrophizing and intolerance of uncertainty. Birth. 2019;46(1):61–8.
- 176. Demšar K, Svetina M, Verdenik I, Tul N, Blickstein I, Velikonja VG. Tokophobia (fear of childbirth): Prevalence and risk factors. J Perinat Med. 2018;46(2):151–4.
- 177. Lukasse M, Schei B, Lena E, Study B. Prevalence and associated factors of fear of childbirth in six European countries. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2014;5(3):99–106.
- 178. Goer H. Cruelty in Maternity Wards: Fifty Years Later. J Perinat Educ. 2010;19(3):33–42.
- 179. Khosla R, Zampas C, Vogel JP, Bohren MA, Roseman M, Erdman JN. International human rights and the mistreatment of women during childbirth. Health Hum Rights. 2016;18(2):131–43.
- 180. Bohren MA, Vogel JP, Hunter EC, Lutsiv O, Makh SK, Souza JP, et al. The Mistreatment of Women during Childbirth in Health Facilities Globally: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review. PLoS Med. 2015;12(6):1–33.
- 181. Freedman LP, Kruk ME. Disrespect and abuse of women in childbirth: Challenging the global quality and accountability agendas. Lancet. 2014;384(9948):e42–4.
- 182. Jewkes R, Penn-Kekana L. Mistreatment of Women in Childbirth: Time for Action on This Important Dimension of Violence against Women. PLoS Med. 2015;12(6):1–5.
- 183. Jungari S, Sharma B, Wagh D. Beyond Maternal Mortality: A Systematic Review of Evidences on Mistreatment and Disrespect During Childbirth in Health Facilities in India. Trauma, Violence, Abus. 2019;

- 184. Savage V, Castro A. Measuring mistreatment of women during childbirth: A review of terminology and methodological approaches Prof. Suellen Miller. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1):1–28.
- 185. Vedam S, Stoll K, Taiwo TK, Rubashkin N, Cheyney M, Strauss N, et al. The Giving Voice to Mothers study: Inequity and mistreatment during pregnancy and childbirth in the United States. Reprod Health. 2019;16(1):1–19.
- 186. Lundberg PC, Gerezgiher A. Experiences from pregnancy and childbirth related to female genital mutilation among Eritrean immigrant women in Sweden. Midwifery. 2008;24(2):214–25.
- 187. Goutaudier N, Bertoli C, Séjourné N, Chabrol H. Childbirth as a forthcoming traumatic event: pretraumatic stress disorder during pregnancy and its psychological correlates. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2019;37(1):44–55.
- 188. Dikmen-Yildiz P, Ayers S, Phillips L. Longitudinal trajectories of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) after birth and associated risk factors. J Affect Disord. 2018;229:377–85.
- 189. Sluijs AM, Cleiren MPHD, van Lith JMM, Wijma B, Wijma K. Is fear of childbirth related to the woman's preferred location for giving birth? A Dutch low-risk cohort study. Birth. 2019:144–52.
- 190. Möller L, Josefsson A, Lilliecreutz C, Gunnervik C, Bladh M, Sydsjö G. Reproduction, fear of childbirth and obstetric outcomes in women treated for fear of childbirth in their first pregnancy: A historical cohort. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2019;98(3):374–81.
- 191. Alder J, Breitinger G, Granado C, Fornaro I, Bitzer J, Hösli I, et al. Antenatal psychobiological predictors of psychological response to childbirth. J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc. 2011;17(6):417–25.
- 192. Beijers R, Buitelaar JK, de Weerth C. Mechanisms underlying the effects of prenatal psychosocial stress on child outcomes: beyond the HPA axis. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2014;23(10):943–56.
- 193. Whooley MA, Avins AL, Miranda J, Browner WS. Case-finding instruments for depression: Two questions are as good as many. J Gen Intern Med. 1997;12(7):439–45.
- 194. Littlewood E, Ali S, Ansell P, Dyson L, Gascoyne S, Hewitt C, et al. Identification of depression in women during pregnancy and the early postnatal period using the Whooley questions and the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale: Protocol for the Born and Bred in Yorkshire: PeriNatal Depression Diagnostic Accuracy (BaBY PaN. BMJ Open. 2016;6(6):1–9.
- 195. Darwin Z, McGowan L, Edozien LC. Identification of women at risk of depression in pregnancy: using women's accounts to understand the poor specificity of the Whooley and Arroll case finding questions in clinical practice. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2016;19(1):41–9.
- 196. Smith V, Gallagher L, Carroll M, Hannon K, Begley C. Antenatal and intrapartum interventions for reducing caesarean section, promoting vaginal birth, and reducing fear of childbirth: An overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One. 2019;14(10):1–17.
- 197. NICE. Antenatal and postnatal mental health Clinical management and service guidance updated edition (CG 192). London: The British Psychological Society and The Royal College of Psychiatrists; 2014.
- 198. Wijma K, Wijma B, Zar M. Psychometric aspects of the W-DEQ; A new questionnaire for the measurement of fear of childbirth. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol. 1998;19(2):84–97.

- 199. Toohill J, Fenwick J, Gamble J, Creedy DK, Buist A, Turkstra E, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Psycho-Education Intervention by Midwives in Reducing Childbirth Fear in Pregnant Women. Birth. 2014;41(4):384–94.
- 200. Badaoui A, Kassm SA, Naja W. Fear and Anxiety Disorders Related to Childbirth: Epidemiological and Therapeutic Issues. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2019;21(4).
- 201. Richens Y, Campbell M, Lavender T. Fear of birth–A prospective cohort study of primigravida in the UK. Midwifery. 2019;77:101–9.
- 202. Haines HM, Pallant JF, Fenwick J, Gamble J, Creedy DK, Toohill J, et al. Identifying women who are afraid of giving birth: A comparison of the fear of birth scale with the WDEQ-A in a large Australian cohort. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2015;6(4):204–10.
- 203. Nilsson C, Hessman E, Sjöblom H, Dencker A, Jangsten E, Mollberg M, et al. Definitions, measurements and prevalence of fear of childbirth: A systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2018;18(1):1–16.
- 204. Ternström E, Hildingsson I, Haines H, Rubertsson C. Higher prevalence of childbirth related fear in foreign born pregnant women Findings from a community sample in Sweden. Midwifery. 2015;31(4):445–50.
- 205. Ternström E, Hildingsson I, Haines H, Rubertsson C. Pregnant women's thoughts when assessing fear of birth on the Fear of Birth Scale. Women and Birth. 2016;29(3):e44–9.
- 206. Mycroft R, Webb R, Ayers S, Ward A. Fear of Childbirth (Tokophobia) and Traumatic Experience of Childbirth: Best Practice Toolkit. London: NHS London, Pan-London Perinatal Mental Health Networks; 2018. Available from: https://www.healthylondon.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Tokophobia-best-practice-toolkit-Jan-2018.pdf
- 207. Weiss D, Marmar C. The Impact of Event Scale Revised. In: Wilson J, Keane T, editors. Assessing psychological trauma and PTSD. New York: Guilford; 1998.
- 208. Somerville S, Byrne SL, Dedman K, Hagan R, Coo S, Oxnam E, et al. Detecting the severity of perinatal anxiety with the Perinatal Anxiety Screening Scale (PASS). J Affect Disord. 2015;186:18–25.
- 209. Rouhe H, Salmela-Aro K, Toivanen R, Tokola M, Halmesmäki E, Saisto T. Obstetric outcome after intervention for severe fear of childbirth in nulliparous women Randomised trial. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2013;120(1):75–84.
- 210. Hildingsson I, Rubertsson C, Karlström A, Haines H. Caseload midwifery for women with fear of birth is a feasible option. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2018;16:50– 5.
- 211. Larsson B, Rubertsson C, Hildingsson I. A modified caseload midwifery model for women with fear of birth, women's and midwives' experiences: A qualitative study. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2020;24(February):100504. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2020.100504
- 212. Narita Y, Shinohara H, Kodama H. Resting Heart Rate Variability and the Effects of Biofeedback Intervention in Women with Low-Risk Pregnancy and Prenatal Childbirth Fear. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback. 2018;43(2):113–21.
- 213. Klabbers GA, Wijma K, Paarlberg KM, Emons WHM, Vingerhoets AJJM. Haptotherapy as a new intervention for treating fear of childbirth: a randomized controlled trial. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2019;40(1):38–47.
- 214. Airo Toivanen R, Korja R, Saisto T, Rouhe H, Muotka J, Salmela-Aro K.

- Changes in emotions and personal goals in primiparous pregnant women during group intervention for fear of childbirth. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2018;36(4):363–80.
- 215. Larsson B, Karlström A, Rubertsson C, Ternström E, Ekdahl J, Segebladh B, et al. Birth preference in women undergoing treatment for childbirth fear: A randomised controlled trial. Women and Birth. 2017;30(6):460–7.
- 216. Nieminen K, Andersson G, Wijma B, Ryding EL, Wijma K. Treatment of nulliparous women with severe fear of childbirth via the Internet: A feasibility study. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2016;37(2):37–43.
- 217. Nieminen K, Malmquist A, Wijma B, Ryding EL, Andersson G, Wijma K. Nulliparous pregnant women's narratives of imminent childbirth before and after internet-based cognitive behavioural therapy for severe fear of childbirth: A qualitative study. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;122(9):1259–65.
- 218. Rondung E, Ternström E, Hildingsson I, Haines HM, Sundin Ö, Ekdahl J, et al. Comparing internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy with standard care for women with fear of birth: Randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res. 2018;20(8).
- 219. Larsson B, Hildingsson I, Ternström E, Rubertsson C, Karlström A. Women's experience of midwife-led counselling and its influence on childbirth fear: A qualitative study. Women and Birth. 2019;32(1):e88–94.
- 220. Saisto T, Salmela-Aro K, Nurmi JE. A randomized controlled trial of intervention in fear of childbirth. Obstet Gynecol. 2001;98(5):820–6.
- 221. Heaman M. Maternal request for cesarean section due to fear of birth: Can it be changed through crisis-oriented counseling? MCN Am J Matern Nurs. 2007;32(2):129.
- 222. Hosseini Moghaddam V, Nazarzadeh M, Jahanfar S. Interventions for reducing fear of childbirth: A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Women and Birth. 2018;31(4):254–62.
- 223. Haapio S, Kaunonen M, Arffman M, Åstedt-Kurki P. Effects of extended childbirth education by midwives on the childbirth fear of first-time mothers: an RCT. Scand J Caring Sci. 2017;31(2):293–301.
- 224. Newham JJ, Wittkowski A, Hurley J, Aplin JD, Westwood M. Effects of antenatal yoga on maternal anxiety and depression: A randomized controlled trial. Depress Anxiety. 2014;31(8):631–40.
- 225. Wahlbeck H, Kvist LJ, Landgren K. Art Therapy and Counseling for Fear of Childbirth: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Art Ther. 2020;0(0):1–8.
- 226. Bohren MA, Hofmeyr GJ, Sakala C, Fukuzawa RK CA. Continuous support for women during childbirth (Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;(7):1–173.
- 227. Spiby H, Green JM, Darwin Z, Willmot H, Knox D, McLeish J, et al. Multisite implementation of trained volunteer doula support for disadvantaged childbearing women: a mixed-methods evaluation. Heal Serv Deliv Res. 2015;3(8):1–332.
- 228. Darwin Z, Green J, McLeish J, Willmot H, Spiby H. Evaluation of trained volunteer doula services for disadvantaged women in five areas in England: women's experiences. Heal Soc Care Community. 2017;25(2):466–77.
- 229. Wigert H, Nilsson C, Dencker A, Begley C, Jangsten E, Sparud-Lundin C, et al. Women's experiences of fear of childbirth: a metasynthesis of qualitative studies. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2020;15(1).
- 230. Slade P, Balling K, Sheen K, Houghton G. Establishing a valid construct of fear

- of childbirth: Findings from in-depth interviews with women and midwives. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):1–13.
- 231. Greer J, Lazenbatt A, Dunne L. "Fear of childbirth" and ways of coping for pregnant women and their partners during the birthing process: a salutogenic analysis. Evid Based Midwifery. 2014;12(3):95–100.
- 232. Lyberg A, Severinsson E. Midwives' supervisory styles and leadership role as experienced by Norwegian mothers in the context of a fear of childbirth. J Nurs Manag. 2010;18(4):391–9.
- 233. Vallin E, Nestander H, Wells MB. A literature review and meta-ethnography of fathers' psychological health and received social support during unpredictable complicated childbirths. Midwifery. 2019;68:48–55.
- 234. Madsen Sa. Paternal depression in the postnatal period assessed with traditional and male depression scales. J Men's Heal Gend. 2007;4(1):26–31.
- 235. Hughes C, Foley S, Devine RT, Ribner A, Kyriakou L, Boddington L, et al. Worrying in the wings? Negative emotional birth memories in mothers and fathers show similar associations with perinatal mood disturbance and delivery mode. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2019;
- 236. Smith HR, Eryigit-Madzwamuse S, Barnes J. Paternal Postnatal and Subsequent Mental Health Symptoms and Child Socio-Emotional and Behavioural Problems at School Entry. Infant Child Dev. 2013;22:335–48.
- 237. Da Costa D, Zelkowitz P, Dasgupta K, Sewitch M, Lowensteyn I, Cruz R, et al. Dads Get Sad Too: Depressive Symptoms and Associated Factors in Expectant First-Time Fathers. Am J Mens Health. 2015; Available from: http://jmh.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/1557988315606963
- 238. Eriksson C, Salander P, Hamberg K. Men's experiences of intense fear related to childbirth investigated in a Swedish qualitative study. J Men's Heal Gend. 2007;4(4):409–18.
- 239. Hildingsson I, Haines H, Johansson M, Rubertsson C, Fenwick J. Childbirth fear in Swedish fathers is associated with parental stress as well as poor physical and mental health. Midwifery. 2014;30(2):248–54.
- 240. Malmquist A, Nieminen K. Negotiating who gives birth and the influence of fear of childbirth: Lesbians, bisexual women and transgender people in parenting relationships. Women and Birth. 2020;(2019). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2020.04.005
- 241. Malmquist A, Jonsson L, Wikström J, Nieminen K. Minority stress adds an additional layer to fear of childbirth in lesbian and bisexual women, and transgender people. Midwifery. 2019;79.
- 242. de Vries NE, Stramrood CAI, Sligter LM, Sluijs AM, van Pampus MG. Midwives' practices and knowledge about fear of childbirth and postpartum posttraumatic stress disorder. Women and Birth. 2020;33(1):e95–104.
- 243. Salomonsson B, Alehagen S, Wijma K. Swedish midwives' views on severe fear of childbirth. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2011;2(4):153–9.
- 244. Wulcan AC, Nilsson C. Midwives' counselling of women at specialised fear of childbirth clinics: A qualitative study. Sex Reprod Healthc. 2019;19(November 2018):24–30.
- 245. Priddis HS, Keedle H, Dahlen H. The Perfect Storm of Trauma: The experiences of women who have experienced birth trauma and subsequently accessed residential parenting services in Australia. Women and Birth. 2018;31(1):17–24.
- 246. Greenfield M, Jomeen J, Glover L. What is traumatic birth? A concept analysis

- and literature review. Br J Midwifery. 2016;24(4):254-67.
- 247. Hernández-Martínez A, Rodríguez-Almagro J, Molina-Alarcón M, Infante-Torres N, Rubio-Álvarez A, Martínez-Galiano JM. Perinatal factors related to post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms 1–5 years following birth. Women and Birth. 2020;33(2):e129–35.
- 248. Hernández-Martínez A, Rodríguez-Almagro J, Molina-Alarcón M, Infante-Torres N, Donate Manzanares M, Martínez-Galiano JM. Postpartum post-traumatic stress disorder: Associated perinatal factors and quality of life. J Affect Disord. 2019;249:143–50.
- 249. Abajobir AA, Kisely S, Williams G, Strathearn L, Najman JM. Risky Sexual Behaviors and Pregnancy Outcomes in Young Adulthood Following Substantiated Childhood Maltreatment: Findings From a Prospective Birth Cohort Study. J Sex Res. 2018;55(1):106–19.
- 250. Racine N, Zumwalt K, McDonald S, Tough S, Madigan S. Perinatal depression: The role of maternal adverse childhood experiences and social support. J Affect Disord. 2020;263:576–81.
- 251. Killian-Farrell C, Rizo CF, Lombardi BM, Meltzer-Brody S, Bledsoe SE. Traumatic Experience, Polytraumatization, and Perinatal Depression in a Diverse Sample of Adolescent Mothers. J Interpers Violence. 2017;1–24.
- 252. Meltzer-Brody S, Bledsoe-Mansori SE, Johnson N, Killian C, Hamer RM, Jackson C, et al. A prospective study of perinatal depression and trauma history in pregnant minority adolescents. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;208(3):211.e1-211.e7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2012.12.020
- 253. Garthus-Niegel S, Horsch A, Ayers S, Junge-Hoffmeister J, Weidner K, Eberhard-Gran M. The influence of postpartum PTSD on breastfeeding: A longitudinal population-based study. Birth. 2018;45(2):193–201.
- 254. Smorti M, Ponti L, Ghinassi S, Rapisardi G. The mother-child attachment bond before and after birth: The role of maternal perception of traumatic childbirth. Early Hum Dev. 2020;142:104956. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2020.104956
- 255. Oyetunji A, Chandra P. Postpartum stress and infant outcome: A review of current literature. Psychiatry Res. 2020;284(September 2019):112769. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112769
- 256. Dekel S, Thiel F, Dishy G, Ashenfarb AL. Is childbirth-induced PTSD associated with low maternal attachment? Arch Womens Ment Health. 2019;22(1):119–22.
- 257. Cook N, Ayers S, Horsch A. Maternal posttraumatic stress disorder during the perinatal period and child outcomes: A systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2018;225(June 2017):18–31.
- 258. Radoš SN, Matijaš M, Anđelinović M, Čartolovni A, Ayers S. The role of posttraumatic stress and depression symptoms in mother-infant bonding. J Affect Disord. 2020;268:134–40.
- 259. Beck CT, Gable RK, Sakala C, Declercq ER. Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in New Mothers: Results from a Two-Stage U.S. National Survey. Birth. 2011;38(3):216–27.
- 260. Halperin O, Sarid O, Cwikel J. The influence of childbirth experiences on women's postpartum traumatic stress symptoms: A comparison between Israeli Jewish and Arab women. Midwifery. 2015;31(6):625–32.
- 261. NICE. Post-traumatic Stress Disorder. London: National Institute for Health &

- Clinical Excellence,; 2018.
- 262. Beck CT, Casavant S. Synthesis of Mixed Research on Posttraumatic Stress Related to Traumatic Birth. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2019;48(4):385–97.
- 263. Chen Y, Yang X, Guo C, Liao Y, Guo L, Chen W, et al. Prevalence of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder following Caesarean Section: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Women's Heal. 2020;29(2):200–9.
- 264. Dekel S, Ein-Dor T, Berman Z, Barsoumian IS, Agarwal S, Pitman RK. Delivery mode is associated with maternal mental health following childbirth. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2019;22(6):817–24.
- 265. Dekel S, Ein-Dor T, Dishy GA, Mayopoulos PA. Beyond postpartum depression: posttraumatic stress-depressive response following childbirth. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2019;(Sher 2005).
- 266. Thomson G, Downe S. Emotions and support needs following a distressing birth: Scoping study with pregnant multigravida women in North-West England. Midwifery. 2016;40:32–9.
- 267. Dikmen-Yildiz P, Ayers S, Phillips L. The prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in pregnancy and after birth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2017;208(April 2016):634–45.
- 268. Ayers S, Wright DB, Thornton A. Development of a measure of postpartum PTSD: The city birth trauma scale. Front Psychiatry. 2018;9(SEP):1–8.
- 269. Association AP. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 270. Nakić Radoš S, Matijaš M, Kuhar L, Anđelinović M, Ayers S. Measuring and conceptualizing PTSD following childbirth: Validation of the City Birth Trauma Scale. Psychol Trauma Theory, Res Pract Policy. 2020;12(2):147–55.
- 271. Handelzalts JE, Hairston IS, Matatyahu A. Construct validity and psychometric properties of the hebrew version of the City Birth Trauma scale. Front Psychol. 2018;9(SEP):1–10.
- 272. Grasso DJ, Ford JD, Greene CA. Preliminary psychometrics of the Structured Trauma-Related Experiences and Symptoms Screener for Adults (STRESS-A) in an urban prenatal healthcare clinic. Psychol Trauma. 2019;11(8):927–35.
- 273. Stramrood CAI, Huis In 'T Veld EMJ, Van Pampus MG, Berger LWAR, Vingerhoets AJJM, Schultz WCMW, et al. Measuring posttraumatic stress following childbirth: A critical evaluation of instruments. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2010;31(1):40–9.
- 274. Ayers S, Bond R, Bertullies S, Wijma K. The aetiology of post-traumatic stress following childbirth: A meta-analysis and theoretical framework. Psychol Med. 2016;46(6):1121–34.
- 275. Thiel F, Dekel S. Peritraumatic dissociation in childbirth-evoked posttraumatic stress and postpartum mental health. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2019;
- 276. Bayrampour H, McNeil DA, Benzies K, Salmon C, Gelb K, Tough S. A qualitative inquiry on pregnant women's preferences for mental health screening. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017;17(1):1–11.
- 277. Dikmen-Yildiz P, Ayers S, Phillips L. Factors associated with post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) 4–6 weeks and 6 months after birth: A longitudinal population-based study. J Affect Disord. 2017;221(June):238–45.
- 278. Fenech G, Thomson G. Defence against trauma: women's use of defence mechanisms following childbirth-related trauma. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2015;33(3):268–81.

- 279. de Graaff LF, Honig A, van Pampus MG, Stramrood CAI. Preventing post-traumatic stress disorder following childbirth and traumatic birth experiences: a systematic review. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2018;97(6):648–56.
- 280. Thomson G, Garrett C. Afterbirth support provision for women following a traumatic/distressing birth: Survey of NHS hospital trusts in England. Midwifery. 2019;71:63–70.
- 281. Schlesinger Y, Hamiel D, Rousseau S, Perlman S, Gilboa Y, Achiron R, et al. Preventing Risk for Posttraumatic Stress Following Childbirth: Visual Biofeedback During Childbirth Increases Maternal Connectedness to Her Newborn Thereby Preventing Risk for Posttraumatic Stress Following Childbirth. Psychol Trauma Theory, Res Pract Policy. 2020;
- 282. Small R, Lumley J, Donohue L, Potter A, Waldenström U. Randomised controlled trial of midwife led debriefing to reduce maternal depression after operative childbirth. BMJ. 2000;321:1043–7.
- 283. Kenardy J. The current status of psychological debriefing. Bmj. 2000;321(7268):1032–3.
- 284. Ayers BS, Claypool J, Eagle A. What happens after a difficult birth? Postnatal debriefing services. Br J Midwifery. 2006;14(3):157–61.
- 285. NICE. Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Clinical Guideline. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence; 2005.
- 286. Bastos M, Furuta M, Small R, Bick D. Debriefing interventions for the prevention of psychological trauma in women following childbirth (Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015; Issue 4.
- 287. Gamble J, Creedy D, Moyle W, Webster J, McAllister M, Dickson P. Effectiveness of a counseling intervention after a traumatic childbirth: A randomized controlled trial. Birth. 2005;32(1):11–9.
- 288. Baxter JD, McCourt C, Jarrett PM. What is current practice in offering debriefing services to post partum women and what are the perceptions of women in accessing these services: A critical review of the literature. Midwifery. 2014;30(2):194–219.
- 289. Charles J, Curtis L. Birth Afterthoughts: a listening and information service. Br J Midwifery. 1994;2(7):331–4.
- 290. Greenfield M, Jomeen J, Glover L. "It can't be like last time" Choices made in early pregnancy by women who have previously experienced a traumatic birth. Front Psychol. 2019;10(JAN):1–13.
- 291. Cirino NH, Knapp JM. Perinatal Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: A Review of Risk Factors, Diagnosis, and Treatment. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2019;74(6):369–76.
- 292. Ayers S. Birth trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder: the importance of risk and resilience. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2017;35(5):427–30.
- 293. Üstündağ-Budak AM, Harris G, Blissett J. Perinatal trauma with and without loss experiences. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2016;34(4):413–25.
- 294. Horsch A, Vial Y, Favrod C, Harari MM, Blackwell SE, Watson P, et al. Reducing intrusive traumatic memories after emergency caesarean section: A proof-of-principle randomized controlled study. Behav Res Ther. 2017;94:36–47.
- 295. Koster D, Romijn C, Sakko E, Stam C, Steenhuis N, de Vries D, et al. Traumatic childbirth experiences: practice-based implications for maternity care professionals from the woman's perspective. Scand J Caring Sci. 2019;
- 296. Quinlivan J, Rowe H, Wischmann T, Thomson G, Stuijfzand S, Horsch A, et al.

- Setting the global research agenda in psychosocial aspects of women's health–outcomes from ISPOG world conference at The Hague. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2020;41(1):1–4.
- 297. Murphy H, Strong J. Just another ordinary bad birth? A narrative analysis of first time mothers' traumatic birth experiences. Health Care Women Int. 2018;39(6):619–43.
- 298. Patterson J, Hollins Martin CJ, Karatzias T. Disempowered midwives and traumatised women: Exploring the parallel processes of care provider interaction that contribute to women developing Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) post childbirth. Midwifery. 2019;76:21–35.
- 299. Rodríguez-Almagro J, Hernández-Martínez A, Rodríguez-Almagro D, Quirós-García JM, Martínez-Galiano JM, Gómez-Salgado J. Women's perceptions of living a traumatic childbirth experience and factors related to a birth experience. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(9).
- 300. Sigurðardóttir VL, Gamble J, Guðmundsdóttir B, Sveinsdóttir H, Gottfreðsdóttir H. Processing birth experiences: A content analysis of women's preferences. Midwifery. 2019;69:29–38.
- 301. Elmir R, Schmied V. A meta-ethnographic synthesis of fathers' experiences of complicated births that are potentially traumatic. Midwifery. 2016;32:66–74.
- 302. Etheridge J, Slade P. "Nothing's actually happened to me.": The experiences of fathers who found childbirth traumatic. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017;17(1):1–16.
- 303. Inglis C, Sharman R, Reed R. Paternal mental health following perceived traumatic childbirth. Midwifery. 2016;41:125–31.
- 304. Nicholls K, Ayers S. Childbirth-related post-traumatic stress disorder in couples: A qualitative study. Br J Health Psychol. 2007;12(4):491–509.
- 305. Minooee S, Cummins A, Sims DJ, Foureur M, Travaglia J. Scoping review of the impact of birth trauma on clinical decisions of midwives. J Eval Clin Pract. 2019:(November):1–10.
- 306. HFEA. HFEA Fertility treatment 2017: trends and figures. London: Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority; 2019. Available from: www.hfea.gov.uk
- 307. Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, De Mouzon J, Ishihara O, Mansour R, Nygren K, et al. The International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive. Hum Reprod. 2009;24(11):2683–7.
- 308. Datta J, Palmer MJ, Tanton C, Gibson LJ, Jones KG, Macdowall W, et al. Prevalence of infertility and help seeking among 15 000 women and men. Hum Reprod. 2016;31(9):2108–18.
- 309. Hyland A, Piazza K, Hovey KM, Tindle HA, Manson JE, Messina C, et al. Associations between lifetime tobacco exposure with infertility and age at natural menopause: the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Tob Control. 2016 Nov 1;25(6):706 LP 714.
- 310. Broughton DE, Moley KH. Obesity and female infertility: potential mediators of obesity's impact. Fertil Steril. 2017;107(4):840–7.
- 311. Basmatzou T. Diabetes Mellitus and Influences on Human Fertility. Int J Caring Sci. 2016;9(1):371–9.
- 312. NHS Choices. Infertility. 2017. Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/infertility/causes/
- 313. Levine H, Jørgensen N, Martino-Andrade A, Mendiola J, Weksler-Derri D, Mindlis I, et al. Temporal trends in sperm count: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2017 Nov 1;23(6):646–59.

- 314. Yatsenko AN, Turek PJ. Reproductive genetics and the aging male. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2018;1–9.
- 315. Volgsten H, Schmidt L. Motherhood through medically assisted reproduction—characteristics and motivations of Swedish single mothers by choice. Hum Fertil. 2019;0(0):1–7.
- 316. Jacobsen KS, Vik ES, Dahl B. Solo mothers after assisted conception and their experiences with postnatal care. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2020;13:53–61.
- 317. Rubio B, Vecho O, Gross M, van Rijn-van Gelderen L, Bos H, Ellis-Davies K, et al. Transition to parenthood and quality of parenting among gay, lesbian and heterosexual couples who conceived through assisted reproduction. J Fam Stud. 2017;9400(December):1–19.
- 318. HFEA. Leeds Fertility. 2020 [cited 2018 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.hfea.gov.uk/choose-a-clinic/clinic-search/results/314/
- 319. ElMokhallalati Y, van Eekelen R, Bhattacharya S, McLernon DJ. Treatment-independent live birth after in-vitro fertilisation: a retrospective cohort study of 2,133 women. Hum Reprod. 2019;34(8):1470–8.
- 320. Gorgui J, Sheehy O, Trasler J, Fraser W, Bérard A. Medically assisted reproduction and the risk of preterm birth: a case–control study using data from the Quebec Pregnancy Cohort. C Open. 2020;8(1):E206–13.
- 321. Gourounti K. Psychological stress and adjustment in pregnancy following assisted reproductive technology and spontaneous conception: A systematic review. Women Heal. 2016;56(1):98–118.
- 322. Salih Joelsson L, Tydén T, Wanggren K, Georgakis MK, Stern J, Berglund A, et al. Anxiety and depression symptoms among sub-fertile women, women pregnant after infertility treatment, and naturally pregnant women. Eur Psychiatry. 2017;45:212–9.
- 323. Patel A, Sharma P, Kumar P, Binu V. Illness Cognitions, Anxiety, and Depression in Men and Women Undergoing Fertility Treatments: A Dyadic Approach. J Hum Reprod Sci. 2018;11:180–9.
- 324. Tendais I, Figueiredo B, Canário C, Kenny DA. Couples' psychological adjustment to twin parenthood: mode of conception (spontaneous versus assisted reproduction) and gender differences. Prim Heal Care Res Dev. 2018;(May):1–7.
- 325. Amirchaghmaghi E, Malekzadeh F, Chehrazi M, Ezabadi Z, Sabeti S. A comparison of postpartum depression in mothers conceived by assisted reproductive technology and those naturally conceived. Int J Fertil Steril. 2020;13(4):277–81.
- 326. Gambadauro P, Iliadis S, Bränn E, Skalkidou A. Conception by means of in vitro fertilization is not associated with maternal depressive symptoms during pregnancy or postpartum. Fertil Steril. 2017;108(2):325–32.
- 327. Listijono DR, Mooney S, Chapman M. A comparative analysis of postpartum maternal mental health in women following spontaneous or ART conception. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. 2014;35(2):51–4.
- 328. Mori E, Iwata H, Maehara K, Sakajo A, Tamakoshi K. Relationship between the mode of conception and depressive symptoms during the first 6 months post-partum in Japan. Reprod Med Biol. 2018;17(3):275–82.
- 329. Fisher JRW, Hammarberg K, Baker GHW. Antenatal mood and fetal attachment after assisted conception. Fertil Steril. 2008;89(5):1103–12.
- 330. Furmli H, Seeto RA, Hewko SL, Dalfen A, Jones CA, Murphy KE, et al. Maternal Mental Health in Assisted and Natural Conception: A Prospective

- Cohort Study. J Obstet Gynaecol Canada. 2019;41(11):1608–15. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogc.2019.03.002
- 331. van den Akker O, Postavaru GI, Purewal S. Maternal psychosocial consequences of twins and multiple births following assisted and natural conception: a meta-analysis. Reprod Biomed Online. 2016;33(1):1–14.
- 332. Hammarberg K, Fisher JRW, Wynter KH. Psychological and social aspects of pregnancy, childbirth and early parenting after assisted conception: A systematic review. Hum Reprod Update. 2008;14(5):395–414.
- 333. Mutiso SK, Murage A, Mwaniki AM. Factors associated with a positive depression screen after a miscarriage 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1103 Clinical Sciences. BMC Psychiatry. 2019;19(1):1–7.
- 334. McIntosh MD, Ferrando S. Perimenopausal Postpartum Depression After Conception by Assisted Reproductive Technology. Psychosomatics. 2010;51(4):345–8.
- 335. Bulmer C, Balen A. Illicit drug use and fertility treatment: should we be developing a standard operating procedure? Hum Fertil. 2020;0(0):1–9.
- 336. Hammarberg K, Rowe HJR, Fisher JRW. Early post-partum adjustment and admission to parenting services in Victoria, Australia after assisted conception. Hum Reprod. 2009;24(11):2801–9.
- 337. Purewal S, Chapman SCE, van den Akker OBA. Depression and state anxiety scores during assisted reproductive treatment are associated with outcome: a meta-analysis. Reprod Biomed Online. 2018;36(6):646–57.
- 338. Kalhori F, Masoumi SZ, Shamsaei F, Mohammadi Y, Yavangi M. Effect of mindfulness-based group counseling on depression in infertile women: Randomized clinical trial study. Int J Fertil Steril. 2020;14(1):10–6.
- 339. Taubman–Ben-Ari O, Skvirsky V, Shua EB, Horowitz E. Personal Growth of New Fathers following Assisted Reproductive Technology or Spontaneous Pregnancy. Parenting. 2018;18(3):190–9.
- 340. Hjelmstedt A, Widström AM, Collins A. Prenatal attachment in Swedish IVF fathers and controls. J Reprod Infant Psychol. 2007;25(4):296–307.
- 341. Sälevaara M, Punamäki RL, Unkila-Kallio L, Vänskä M, Tulppala M, Tiitinen A. The mental health of mothers and fathers during pregnancy and early parenthood after successful oocyte donation treatment: A nested case-control study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2018;97(12):1478–85.
- 342. Vilska S, Unkila-Kallio L, Punamäki RL, Poikkeus P, Repokari L, Sinkkonen J, et al. Mental health of mothers and fathers of twins conceived via assisted reproduction treatment: A 1-year prospective study. Hum Reprod. 2009;24(2):367–77.
- 343. NHS. Pre-eclampsia. 2018. Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pre-eclampsia/